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ABOUT LEE & MAN PAPER

Jiangsu Lee & Man
STRRIE X
(Changshu, & %)

Chongging Lee & Man
BEEEX
(Yongchuan, 7 JI|)

N/ <

Jiangxi Lee & Man
L P 3 X
(Jiujiang, 71.5T)
Guangdong Lee & Man w
BRE X
(Hongmei, 3t #§) .

Dongguan Lee & Man
8 REEX

(Huangyong, % 5%)

B3 A 3 3 AR

PRODUCTS =

Kraft Linerboard AT AR
Test Linerboard A AR

Vietham Lee & Man .
IR 4

R Coated Duplex Board 2B R

(Hau Giang, /5 5T) White Top Linerboard B T 41 4R

'r High Strength Corrugating Medium = 58 FLA%S 5 4%
Pulp AN
Tissue Paper B
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Guangdong Lee & Man
BREX

Annual production  2.30 million tons of

capacity: paper and 110,000 tons
of tissue paper
2308 MEAR N2 11 & WA
R

Dongguan Lee & Man
REEX

Annual production 590,000 tons of
capacity: paper
FER 598 WA AR

Chongqing Lee & Man
BEEEX

Annual production 900,000 tons of paper,

capacity: 180,000 tons of pulp and
575,000 tons of tissue paper

FER QE WAL - 18 B WAAIE
K2 57.5 & WA {81 £ 4%

Jiangsu Lee & Man
L ERE X
Annual production  1.12 million tons of
capacity: paper
- 1128 WA

lr,/,.———”:"‘_"‘

@ =%k & A P2 8

Jiangxi Lee & Man
SIFE X

Annual production 720,000 tons of
capacity: paper and 110,000 tons
of tissue paper
BE : 72 B WAL N1 1 & MR
B
Planned capacity: 100,000 tons of tissue paper
st EIERE : 108 AR A 4R

Vietnam Lee & Man

MR E X

Annual production 550,000 tons of
capgacity: paper/products
FERE SSE WAL, E M

BGERER AR 2018 F£3R 3



CORPORATE INFORMATION

AR EH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss Jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH sp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp
Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE

5th Floor, Liven House
61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong

Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

In Hong Kong and Macau:

Hang Seng Bank

Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

DBS

Bank of China (Hong Kong)

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
3rd Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22 Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://www.leemanpaper.com

TR ER
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited
3rd Floor, Royal Bank House

24 Shedden Road, P.O. Box 1586
Grand Cayman KY1-1110
Cayman Islands
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue

WA

HK$ million
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Year ended
31 December
HE
12A31BLLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FET FET TET TR
RESULTS |
Revenue A 17,099,134 17,615,641 18,341,677 25,836,384 32,208,082
Profit before tax BIAIRF 2,208,930 2,750,162 3,354,017 6,323,175 6,127,332
Income tax expense BRI (304,536) (418,487) (491,274) (1,282,883) (1,247,112)
Profit for the year FERA 1,904,394 2,331,675 2,862,743 5,040,292 4,380,220
At 31 December
W12A318
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET FET THT THT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ~ EER&fE
Total assets BEE 34,736,820 35,599,063 34,995,978 43,289,793 42,776,828
Total liabilities FEl=N (17,259,836)  (18,362,876)  (18,173,013)  (21,373,675) b LGERE[RrA))
Net assets EEHE 17,476,984 17,236,187 16,822,965 21,916,118 23,145,851

BGERER AR 2018 F3R 7



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

The year 2018 saw sustained improvement in the internal
environment of China’s paper manufacturing industry. Driven by the
supply-side reform, the paper making industry made significant
progress in eliminating obsolete production capacity, which resulted
in a more balanced supply and demand situation. In the meantime,
with the increasingly stringent requirement on all environmental
protection and energy conservation and emissions reduction
indicators as well as the tougher enforcement actions, paper
manufacturing enterprises which discharged a large amount of
pollutants were shut down one-by-one, leading to a more
concentrated market, with leading enterprises occupying greater
market shares and gaining stronger bargaining power. The overall
environment proved beneficial to the development of Lee & Man
Paper.

In the latter half of 2018, the slackened demand for downstream end
paper products dragged down the profit margin of the entire
industry. To ensure the supply of raw materials, the Group has been
committed to developing a vertical business model covering pulp
manufacture and recycling of waste paper through active
consolidation of its upstream resources. In the meantime, by
expanding scale, controlling costs and strengthening production
capacity, the Group's principal business achieved a healthy and stable
growth. Expanding scale of development and seizing opportunities
remain the key objectives of Lee & Man Paper for the coming years.
The Group will make a proactive effort to optimise the industrial
chain and diversify the pulp business, while at the same time giving
active support to the “Belt & Road” strategic initiative and targeting
Southeast Asia for international development riding on the existing

production scale.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

Lee & Man Paper has endeavoured to improve the quality of
consumer tissue and boost its scale of production. To accommodate
the needs of markets and customers, the new tissue production lines
at the Jiangxi plant of Lee & Man Paper will commence operation this
year. As such, the production volume of tissue in 2019 can be
enhanced. The tissue business has become the new growth driver of
the Group.

The packaging paper business of the Group is also maintaining
steady development, with the annual production volume reaching
6.18 million tons in aggregate. Still, changes in China’s waste paper
policy and the global waste paper market have had some bearing on
the waste paper recycling of the Group. Therefore, the Group will
actively seek alternative methods for the import of waste paper.

From the general economic development pattern, there is further
room for growth in paper consumption of the Chinese market and
the Group remains confident in the future of the paper manufacturing
industry. Moving forward, Lee & Man Paper will seize opportunities
to expand its market coverage, reinforce the competitiveness of its

products and cement the Group's leading position in the industry.

In the future, while enhancing overall economies of scale, the Group
will stay focused on developing paper manufacturing techniques that
are more environmentally-friendly and energy efficient, with a view
to identifying a win-win path of sustainable development as it aims
to strike a balance between corporate growth and environmental
protection.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2018 was HK$32.21 billion and
HK$4.88 billion respectively, while its net profit per tonne was
HK$797.

The earnings per share for the year was HK109.92 cents when
compared with HK111.47 cents for the year ended 31 December
2017.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$581 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to HK$435 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. It represented about 1.8% of
the revenue for the year ended 31 December 2018 and was

comparable to about 1.7% for the year ended 31 December 2017.

GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s general and administrative expenses was HK$1,518
million for the year ended 31 December 2018 as compared to
HK$1,292 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. It
represented about 4.7% of the revenue for the year ended 31
December 2018 and was decreased as compared to that of 5.0% for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

TR LK e g
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s total finance costs (including the amounts capitalised)
was HK$389 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 as
compared to HK$298 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.
The increase was mainly due to the increase in average interest rate
on bank borrowings during the year.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 61 days and 16 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 December 2018 as compared to 78 days and 18 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 35 days for the year ended
31 December 2018 as compared to 44 days for the year ended 31
December 2017. This is in line with the credit terms granted by the
Group to its customers.

The Group's creditors’ turnover days were 33 days for the year ended
31 December 2018 as compared to 68 days for the year ended 31
December 2017. The Group settled much of the creditors’ balances
and less purchase near year end, and also more local suppliers with
shorter tenor were used during the year.

1 7 A AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 December 2018
was HK$23,146 million (2017: HK$21,916 million). As at 31
December 2018, the Group had current assets of HK$13,280 million
(2017: HK$14,063 million) and current liabilities of HK$10,222
million (2017: HK$11,040 million). The current ratio was 1.30 as at
31 December 2018 as compared to 1.27 at 31 December 2017.

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 December 2018, the
Group had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$13,790 million
(2017: HK$15,078 million). These bank loans were secured by
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the
Company. As at 31 December 2018, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$2,012 million (2017: HK$2,249 million).
The Group's net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash
and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) decreased from 0.59
as at 31 December 2017 to 0.52 as at 31 December 2018 as less

capital expenditure was incurred during the year.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, United States dollars
or Euro. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 December 2018.
The Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign
currency borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency

exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE DT (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a workforce of more than
7,800 people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive
level and are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant
labour market and economic situation. The Group also provides
internal training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff

performance and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhRE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
"Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-
to-day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2018, the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed
auditing, internal controls and financial reporting matters.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018. The
Model Code also applies to other specified senior management of
the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond s8s jp (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp

Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director:

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas sp

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of three executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management

expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business

operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly

identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

(%)

SEERRE

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment
within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

FREALEES EE2ABEHRLE
Tttux% ERRZEE FeBRARD

R
REBEZTHRABETEES 0%
RN RS EREIE ©

T EFABRER
BEEHERN  —ExERRERABY
XU RERRA 2 ARERMANEETEE
% BENSREBTERA BN
REESEW - FTHER -

ExelhEFZ Rz eRLEmEEE
BIRECWERE  MAEERVERED
B E =& XXM MR E F SoE s 1R
RWER  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BRERHE -

FR CHARZREZSSE  SEEY
FIERFHIIMT -

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEpE HEER SREKH
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss EXERELwenes cFHt 717
Mr. Lee Man Bun mH Jp FXWE L pmns «Fmt 7117
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PR E 77
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas J ERHABBE 22 HEE ATt 77
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRUELE 7/7
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviesst 4 77
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David IEE e 717
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BUZEEFOR BRI ZERERSE
A 2ERBMARER ZABEIN - K
BRZEFHARA 2 EBNEFTEE
B2 WD MBRN LA KA
MEERE NZBEERER -

Each appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure proper
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and
full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

EEMREREERLETHAANS MB L
AR/ ARBELER - TRHRIIEE
ER018FRBEVEELTARAESRTZ
AR BERBECHEEXEREZ
S BT o

The directors acknowledge the need to continue to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions to the
Company. The participation by individual directors in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
2018 is recorded in the table below.

Attending external

seminars/
Reading regulatory programmes
updates 88
MEEERTE ShRBBEY
Name of director EEpg BHER mHE B
Executive directors HITES
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sgs s EBiE T agnes cFet
Mr. Lee Man Bun wmHJp TR L2882 AFHL
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FERE
Non-executive director kBTES
Professor Poon Chung Kwong 685 Jp BRIBR 24028 AFM1 v v
Independent non-executive directors BIUFHITESE
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRELE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies5t 4
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BERK &
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. To conform to the
provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, the written terms of
reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012, and
revised in (i) January 2016 to reflect the additional responsibilities of
the Audit Committee arising from the Stock Exchange’s proposal on
risk management and internal control under the Code applicable to
accounting periods beginning on or after 1st January 2016; and (ii)
January 2019 to reflect the amendments of the Code with effect
from 1st January 2019. A copy of the terms of reference is posted on
the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group's financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018.

B
N
B
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mE}

HR2003F Ky  MEKER

BERFE(EE)
TRIRSEE
Peter A. Daviesst 4

% ERRBERZEEREHAREEZ
BREER %ﬁ?%@%ﬁhﬁﬁéﬂz/f
B -BEREFEXR - BERZBGZIRARE

FEKEBMAEEMBAEI2NEZHET -
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BEERMBEZBESESN20125F3
A28 RMER A& R - WE()H20165F1
R&ga] - ARBREEZZ FTIZ 2016451 A
1Bz ERBn e EREEA NS5
EREERANDEEREERMELETZ
ZEGHIMNEE ¢ R(DR2019F1 AEE
A URBLE2019F 1 A1 HREKRAST
ANEET - BEEE 2 B RN AR A
BRA -

EzZEeEHFe RS ANEE 2T
EHRMGETRRZEMBER - AEBEE
A BREEREZBRE B MIERK
- BERZEGUREFE LA ZBED
ZEzEER/R  EEREGENFER
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ZEERARIES - WEHAEBEEE K
BKERSEELETH  EPREERME
£2018F12A31HIEFEMEEERE -
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the

individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FAR- - ABRZRERZESSE @ @5
RE®HFEBERFINNAT :

Number of attendance

Name of member BE%SR R
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David ISyt 3/3
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUREAE 3/3
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest 4 3/3
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FNEES

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the HMMZE @M 2005F K WK E R
current members include: &

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman) FERK A (EE)

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR £

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the

Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.

Peter A. Daviesst &

FHWEB S RMNTRIMEKZB.1.2(0
(i) MEFERAEEBEERSRER
B2 BB RRBELER -
MEESHRRUEESHHAMNBEALR
HEFTERNGZHM - BFETREX -
FMEZEeMBEHECSR2012F3 A28
HEMERER  WEFIHERARGHE
A e

EETRNTESZHEN  FHEZES
DEBEERE  BRAXHIKF &
EEMZBEREERE  SERNEHE
RIENMERBBB M

YWz EeTHFNeNETET 2 HER
RRFERTESRETRAEEEZR
H-FRNAREHE X FMAKEHAH

F&#& e
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and
the current members include:

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond sss jp (Chairman)
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr. Peter A. Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the
independent non-executive directors. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March
2012 to conform to the provisions of the Code, a copy of which is
posted on the Company’s website.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company. One Nomination Committee meeting was held
during the year and all members have attended in the meeting.

Nomination Policy

Objectives
The key objectives of the Nomination Policy (the “Nomination

Policy”) shall inter-alia include the following:

o to set out the criteria and process for the nomination and
appointment of directors of the Company;

o to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the
Company'’s business; and

o to ensure the Board's continuity and appropriate leadership at
the Board level.

REEES

IRZEEEMN2012F3 A28 @ HEF
K8 BIE

EXEEtuengscrat(EE)
BER S E

TRAUREE

Peter A. Davies%t 4

REZESTIZABRZENREABAE
KAEEENE  VTEETHRIESS
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F RESZZEEREfHINESSIR
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B - AFAESTAGR  REZEEN
B EDN201293 A28 B EH & KR
mo WETHHRARRBEER -

REZBECRIEZSHMZIEE A
BRER  UREBZEFEFEAALRT
EB BRI ENE - RERER - FR
BRgF X MEAKBHALEEE -

REBE

SRES
REBRR(EABR])NEIZEFREE
(HPERIUTARR :

s HMRBRZEARTDEFEH -
ERERERF

s WMREZFCAREANRRAEBLS
BZHERE  &ERRZITCEM
B &

s WMREFEWNEBEUNEZSER
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Appointment and Re-appointment of Director

Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the integrity,
qualification, expertise and experience of the candidate who is
considered for being appointed/re-elected as director and apply due
diligence in compliance with all applicable provisions of the laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules including any amendments
thereto from time to time. Also, the Nomination Committee shall
consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from

shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee shall obtain all applicable declarations
and undertakings as provided under the laws of the Cayman Islands
and the Listing Rules. In the case of independent non-executive
directors, the Nomination Committee shall ensure that the
independent non-executive directors meet the criteria of

independence as laid down in the Listing Rules.

While recommending any potential new member(s)/re-appointment
of existing member(s) to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall

consider the following:

o candidate’s character, integrity, qualifications including
professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity criteria under the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company which are relevant to the Company’s business and

corporate strategy, other commitments and the like;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

o requirement for the Board to have independent Directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o the potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,

independence, gender diversity and diversity of perspectives;

ZERERES

REZBSGRERPABLIBERZTIXNEES
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AR R E RS A B R M B RAMARE © 5L
BIUFNTESME REZEQREER
BUFRTEETA LMRBMAENIEL
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o willingness and ability to devote sufficient time to discharge

duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s);

o such other criteria which are appropriate to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy and the Board’s succession
plan and, where applicable, which may be adopted and/or
amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from
time to time for nomination of Directors and succession

planning; and

o any other factors as the Nomination Committee may deem fit
to consider in the best interests of the Company and

shareholders of the Company.

Once the Nomination Committee determines that an additional or
replacement director is required, the Nomination Committee may
take such measures that it considers appropriate in connection with
its evaluation of a candidate, including inquiry of the person or
persons making the recommendation or nomination, engagement of
an outside search firm to gather additional information, or reliance
on the knowledge of the members of the Nomination Committee,

the Board or the management.

The Nomination Committee may retain the services of other
professional third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating

potential candidates.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure that the
composition of the Board is in conformity with the laws of the
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all other applicable laws and

regulations.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and applicable laws
and regulations, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Peter A. Davies, shall
retire by rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election

at the next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity (the “Policy”)
to ensure adequate diversity in its Board, with effect from 1 January
2019.

Vision

The Company believes diversity is important to enhance the Board’s
effectiveness by encouraging a diversity of perspectives and to
maintain high standards of corporate governance. The Company will
continue to monitor and develop new objectives for implementing
and achieving improved diversity on the Board as and when it

considers appropriate with regard to the specific needs of the

Company and the market from time to time.

Policy Statement

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive

advantage.

Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, which will include but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and the like. The ultimate decision will be based on
overall contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board and the Company.

Review of the Policy

The Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the
Policy and will from time to time review the Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any

such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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During the year, the Company continued to monitor the board
composition with regard to its diversity policy which requires board
appointments to be made based on merit and candidates to be
considered against an objective criteria, including diversity. In order
to maintain an appropriate mix and balance of talent, skills,
experience and background on the Board, the Nomination
Committee developed measurable objectives to implement this policy
and monitored progress towards achieving these objectives during
the year ended 31 December 2018.

The current board composition was also evaluated by reference to,
among other things, the age, gender, cultural and educational
background and professional experience of each director, against the
Company’s business model and specific needs.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fee payable to the
Company’s external auditor in respect of audit and non-audit services
provided to the Company and its subsidiaries is set out below:

FR - ARBBBEEREESHKRNZ T
LR ZBREREETSLEUAARE
TRRA - WAZTEETHRIGEGHERE
FANE - REZESRSCESERIFEE
WA e e BREkESHEA KT
BRI A2 B IR E M Ll ECR - R
HZE2018F12A31H I FEERERE
HEEREE -

ARBNMSRELEFTNFR - Eh - X
ERBEESULEELRETE - FAE
ARAMEBRARABRRLFAZRCLE
SEHMARK e

SIS A% BB

AEE2018F12A31HIEEE » AR
AILEHMEARTERENERNIFEER
BRARNRINEZ AN ENNE R
T

HK$'000

FET

Audit services EZRTE 7,866
Non-audit services (included tax matters, EEERE(BEREEE -

review and other reporting services) FEH N EMEBRRE) 1,082

8,948

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group's risk management and internal control systems provide a
clear governance structure, policies and procedures, as well as
reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage it risks across
business operations effectively.
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The Group has established a risk management framework, which
consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the Risk
Management Taskforce (i.e. Senior Management). The Board
determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be taken in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, and has the overall
responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation and the
overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control

systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management
Taskforce identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement
of the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and
risk owners are then established and assigned for those risks

considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to provide internal audit services, which assist the Board and
the Audit Committee in ongoing monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group. Deficiencies in the design
and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the
Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation actions are
taken.

Risk management report and internal control report are submitted to
the Audit Committee and the Board at least once a year. The Board
had performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems, including but not limited
to the Group’s ability to cope with its business transformation and
changing external environment; the scope and quality of
management’s review on risk management and internal control
systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified
and their related implications; and status of compliance with the
Listing Rules. The Board considers the Group'’s risk management and

internal control systems are effective.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
THE HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“"SFO”) and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the Safe Harbours as provided in the
SFO. Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group
ensures the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group
believes that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be
maintained or that confidentiality may have been breached, the
Group would immediately disclose the information to the public. The
Group is committed to ensure that information contained in
announcements are not false or misleading as to a material fact, or
false or misleading through the omission of a material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires

equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and prepared the
accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website
of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

Dividend Policy

The Board considers sustainable returns to shareholders to be one of
the main objectives of the Company. Stable dividend payment to

shareholders is the primary objective of the Company.

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of
Association of the Company, all of the shareholders have equal rights
to dividends and distributions. The Board determines the interim
dividend and recommends the final dividend which requires the
approval of shareholders. In addition to cash, dividends may be
distributed in the form of shares. Any distribution of shares also

requires the approval of shareholders.
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Retained profits can be used to achieve growth in corporate value.
The Board has been making effective use of retained profits to
strengthen the operating base and the development of businesses.
According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company on 1
January 2019, the Board takes into account the following factors

when considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

o financial results;

. cash flow situation;

o availability of distributable profits;

. business conditions and strategies;

o future operations and earnings;

o development plans;

o cash requirements;

o capital requirements and expenditure plans;

o interests of shareholders as a whole;

o any restrictions on declaration and/or payment of dividends;
and

o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In practice, the Company will not declare any dividend(s) where:

o there are reasonable grounds for believing that the Company is
or would be, after a dividend payment, unable to pay its
liabilities or discharge its obligations as and when they become
due;

o pursuant to dividend decision date, the Company is insolvent
or bankrupt or where, as a result of paying dividends, the
Company would be rendered insolvent or bankrupt; or

o there is any other case set forth by any law.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
shareholder meeting.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company can make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary to convene an extraordinary general meeting
pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s Articles of Association. The
written requisition must state the objects of the meeting, and must
be signed by the relevant shareholder(s) and deposited at the
principal office of the Company, which is presently situated at 5/F.,
Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

There are no provisions under the Company'’s Articles of Association
or the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for Shareholders
to put forward proposals at general meetings other than a proposal
of a person for election as director. Shareholders may follow the
procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary general
meeting for any business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general

meetings of the Company.
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BRI -HERE

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

With growing concerns from the various walks of life on how
enterprises have shouldered their social responsibilities, Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Paper”, the “Group” or
“We") has prepared this Environmental, Social and Governance
Report (this “Report” or “ESG Report”) for the period between 1
January 2018 and 31 December 2018 (the “Year”) in accordance
with the requirements under Appendix 27 Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide of the Main Board Listing Rules of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in
order that stakeholders can better understand our performance in
respect of environmental protection, social responsibilities and

governance (“ESG”) and related information.

REPORTING STANDARDS AND SCOPE

This Report focuses on the Group’s core paper manufacturing
business in Guangdong, Jiangsu and Chongging and reports on the
policies, performance and key performance indicators with significant
impacts on ESG issues based on principles of materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency. Information contained in this Report has
been identified by the personnel in charge of the Group’s ESG
together with our substantial stakeholders, and material ESG issues
have been prioritised in accordance with the materiality assessment.
Preparation of the Report involved participation of the management
and employees from all departments and has been approval by the
board of directors (the “Board”) to ensure the truthfulness and
accuracy of the Report and create values for all stakeholders.
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ESG CULTURE AND VISION

Striving for improvements Embracing people-oriented principle
Protecting environment and saving energy Contributing back to

society

Since our establishment, we have always adhered to a principle that
places equal emphasis on production and operation as well as
environmental protection. By developing in a scientific manner, the
Group strengthened our environmental management to reduce
emission and achieved a win-win situation where environmental
protection and efficiency enhancement are both emphasised to
secure sustainable development. The Group believes that talents are
the cornerstone of our success; the market drives our development;
and the future gives hope for our development. Through people-
oriented management, the Group provides our employees with a
relaxed, lively, speedy and highly efficient working atmosphere and
environment to promote a clean and green Lee & Man Paper in
China and to go global.

ESG MANAGEMENT AND POLICIES

The Board attaches great importance to the Group’s sustainable
development and monitors the Group’s ESG performance on an
ongoing basis. The Board is responsible for laying out the governance
direction for the Group's sustainable development, and delegates the
senior management of all related departments, including the
production department, procurement centre, sales centre, human
resources department and administrative department, to formulate
ESG policies and to implement relevant measures. All departments
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may, based on the actual needs, set up dedicated working teams,
such as the environmental protection team, safety steering team and
incidents response team, to take charge of the ESG matters. Such
teams comprising officers with relevant environmental and safety
management qualifications are responsible for the implementation of
ESG policies and reporting to the management on a regular basis, in
order to achieve thorough ESG from top to bottom. The Board is
responsible for the effectiveness of the risk management and
corresponding internal control system in respect of ESG, with a view
to minimising the ESG risks exposed by the Group and capturing
opportunities, while promoting the Group’s sustainable development.
The Group's ESG structure is as follows:

The Board
-

Senior management
(including the heads and
persons-in-charge of all departments)
BREEE

(BREMFIETERAEA)

Business units
and related
personnel
EKE N
REBAE

Dedicated

working teams
EE5THEE

Employees
BT

RRNE  Z2EENERERAERE
NNEE - HABBERRRLEZEEBEERD
HEMEK  HEESGREREEHIT T E
HRZEEEEE LM N EBZE/N
ESGER - EFFHMRAEELIRE « #
e RERFENRRE ISR & ER NS E
BREGHZ AR - UK A S EFTE SR
ESGRB RIBRIESE  REAEEMNIF
BERE - AEBEMESGERARBNT :

Formulate the overall
ESG development direction
HIEREEESGHE /A

Coordinate ESG matters
FEESGE

Materialise the implementation of
ESG policies and measures

SEENITESGHUR M fhite
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PARTICIPATION OF STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully understands that participation of stakeholders is

essential for sustainable development. The Group strives to establish

communication channels to deepen and improve the relationship

with our stakeholders and to listen to the expectations and needs

from all stakeholders. This will also help the Group to understand the

impacts brought to them by our operation, and identify the Group's

ESG risks and opportunities. The table below explains the Group’s

material internal and external stakeholder groups and how they can

participate.

Stakeholder groups

How they can participate

FhE2H
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SEYPE o

FHERR BHESERE
Employees e Internal communication channels e Work and regular meetings
e Intranet and employee newsletters e Employee training and activities
e Performance appraisals
BT o REAEARE o IEREHEH
s ANEEKEIT®Y e EEFIKESD
o I{ERRFH
Investors and e Annual general meeting e (Circulars and announcements
shareholders e Annual and interim reports
REERBRR s RREAFKE o BHERE
o FHEFHRE
Customers e The Group's official website e Service hotline and email
e Customer satisfaction survey e Interviews and meetings with customers
e Advertisements and communication o After-sales feedbacks
®F o AKEEEAHMM o MRBERENEEH
e XTFERMAE s BFHE#LEH
o EFENAHM s ERIKEE
Suppliers and e Business meetings e Site visits
business partners e Audit and performance evaluations e Industry forums
HEBREBERF e XBEg# o BMIER
o FFF LKA o XRWEB
Government and e Public consultation e Seminars and meetings

regulatory authorities
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Stakeholder groups How they can participate

&R BHESERE
Community groups e Social services e Public consultation

e Charity activities e Service hotline and email
HEER o HER® o RTFKHM

o EERY o JRESEAE KB
Media e The Group's website e Press releases
=g o AREBEMUL o WER

ESG MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In order to determine the ESG matters that are significant to the
Group, the Group has conducted an ESG materiality assessment with
the representatives of the aforesaid stakeholder groups by way of
interview and questionnaire to identify and analyse the most
significant ESG issues of the Group. Such ESG issues are determined
in accordance with the ESG subject areas as stated in the Appendix
27 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the
Main Board Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange and based on other
factors which have an impact on the Group’s operation and
management system, objectives and core value, and risks and
opportunities. These issues may include climate change and
biodiversity, and the priority of which is determined by internal and

external assessments, details of which are as follows:

o Internal assessment is conducted by the Group’s senior
management based on the influence and materiality of that

ESG issues to the Group’s continuing operation;

o External assessment is conducted by the representatives of all
stakeholder groups based on the influence and materiality of

ESG issues to such stakeholders.

The result is presented in the following materiality matrix graph upon
which this report is based and by which the contents and key pointed

to be disclosed in this Report are determined.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The chart below shows the 24 most significant ESG issues to the
Group's stakeholders and their own development in order of the
materiality. In the future, the Group will continue to pay close
attention to the following matters and use our best endeavour to

meet the expectations of all parties.

>

Recycling of resources

Prohibition of child and forced labour ° BTIRERRE
PritETRBELT
Wastes from office work

WREEY PY

Use of packaging materials @
BEEHER

HREAENBE

ER IR RIR AR AOBEIE

Materiality to the Group’s stakeholders
HEEEFHENEEN

Reasonable marketing and promotion
BENEHNER

. : BREY @
Noise pollution
BRE R Protection of privacy
Environment-friendly products g FLRRRE
RIREM

Continuing development of staff members

EERMHERE

TRERTE24EAHAEEROELE H
HERMERREZNESGHE @ WiIKHSE
ZREH - RRAKEKGRESEH
FAUNTEREBBNTASTHHE -

Air emissions and sewage discharges

JBER N5 /K BER
Occupational health and safety ® ) )
BERFRTE @ Compliant operations
AN E 4@ A4
Use of energy @ ARIEE
ok
BER A Management of water usage
Anti-corruption g FKER )
RE)5RIBER

Equality, diversity and anti-discrimination )
T . ZELRREE @ Greenhouse gas emissions

REREEHER

Wastes from production
AEERED
Procurement and supplier management

RES MR ERE

Compensation and benefits of staff members

@ =557 ET

Green supply chain
mefEE

Community investment and donation

Product quality and safety
EmEERTE

After-sale services and handling of complaints

Materiality to the Group'’s business

HAEBEBWESH >
¥ Environmental protection B Staff development Product quality
RIBRE BIT¥%RE EmBEE
B Community investment B Compliance management
HEREE BREE
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND ENERGY
CONSERVATION

Emissions

The Group is a world-leading manufacturer of containerboard, pulp
and tissue paper and is in possession of established plants for paper-
making, pulp-making and tissue paper. Therefore, operation of the
Group is principally governed by the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on Environmental Protection”, the “Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution”, the
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Air Pollution”, and the”Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution Due to Solid
Wastes”and other regional laws and regulations and emission
standards in Mainland China. In accordance with the requirements,
environmental protection strategies adopted by enterprises shall
follow a principle of “priority to protection, emphasis on prevention,
integrated governance, public participation and liability assumption
of damages”, in order to prevent and control pollution and harms
with compliance measures, to establish an accountability system for
environmental protection and to clarify responsibilities of enterprises
and related responsible officers. The use of advanced and latest
pollutant treatment technologies are also encouraged by China for

facilitation of environmentally-responsible development.
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Being well aware that environmental protection is the most important
basis for its development, the Group has adopted a number of
improvement and monitoring measures to ensure performance of
our environmental responsibilities. To provide targets and clear
responsibilities and division of labour for environmental protection
measures adopted by the Group, the Group has established various
environmental protection policies, including regulation for emissions
treatment and guidelines for energy-saving. As part of the various
efforts to make us one of the companies which best comply with
environmental protection principles in the world, our different plants
have employed the most efficient technologies to enable us to satisfy
the newest emission standards laid down by the government as well
as internationally applicable environmental management standards.
To ensure effective implementation of the measures, our
management has set up an environmental team led by the Chief
Executive Officer with members having the relevant expertise,
including senior flue gas treatment experts, sewage treatment
technicians, environmental monitoring professionals, environmental
protection technicians etc. The team has held internal control
meetings regularly to review environmental issues in the plants, to
update themselves with applicable environmental laws and
regulations and to give advice on any necessary improvements. On
an ongoing basis, the team engages themselves in environmental
protection measures to be taken in production processes, including
those employed to lower water consumption, treat sewage water
and air emissions more efficiently, save energy and monitoring
emissions to ensure continued compliance with high environmental

protection standards.

The Group is committed to satisfying all applicable laws and
regulations on environmental protection, including the
aforementioned laws and regulations and other regional law
requirements and emission standards. During the reporting period,
the Group did not find anything which constituted a breach of

relevant environmental protection laws and regulations.
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Air Emissions

To ensure enough power supply for operating paper-making
machines in our production, the plants of the Group have had their
own thermal power stations operating coal-fired generators and
therefore, there have been gas emissions including nitrogen oxides
and sulphur oxides. Different plants of the Group have established
energy-saving policies to regulate energy consumption for production
activities and offices. Relevant measures also include formulation of
energy consumption targets, establishment of an inspection system
for energy usage, training programs of and promotion for energy
conservation etc.. The Group has made efforts to reduce emissions at
the source by always being energy-saving and lowering air emissions
by cutting coal consumption. Environmental-friendly circulating
fluidised bed boilers used in our thermal power stations can achieve
efficient combustion of all kinds of coal. As the combustion
temperature in this kind of boilers is lower than that in pulverised
coal boilers, less nitrogen oxides would be generated. Moreover, in
each coal-fired power station of the Group, the most advanced air
emissions treatment facilities have been installed, including the
employment of highly efficient bag filters to reduce ashes, SCR/SNCR
de-nitration systems to eliminate nitrogen oxides, and limestone-
gypsum flue gas desulfurisation system to curb sulphur dioxide gas,
to successfully reduce smoke and sulphur by more than 99.9% and
90% respectively. In addition, the plants of the Group have also
employed an even more effective wet desulfurisation facility to
further reduce sulphur dioxide emissions to less than 400 mg/m’ as
required by the “Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Thermal
Power Plants” (GB13223-2011) in China. The Group has monitored
the quality of air emissions emitted on a real-time basis by using
online detection equipment to ensure outperforming the relevant
national standard.
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Sewage Discharges

As water was consumed in the Group's paper production operations,
there was sewage discharge. In order to reduce sewage discharge
generated from its production, the Group has introduced the most
effective sewage treatment techniques employed by the paper-
making industry worldwide, specifically the combined use of
physiochemical coagulation-sedimentation pre-treatment, anaerobic
digestion and aerobic digestion technologies to achieve deep
treatment. The Group has also established a sound “Guidelines for
Sewage Treatment”, setting out a list of key points for operating and
inspecting sewage treatment facilities, procedures for repair and
maintenance and duties of the relevant responsible teams, to further
improve the performance of facilities and ensure sewage output.
With the use of internationally advanced sewage treatment
techniques and facilities, we have successfully maintained stability in
the volume and quality of sewage discharge, with the CODcr level of
major pollutants as well as the levels of NH3-N and SS in full
compliance with the maximum limits on discharges by pulp and
paper-making operations under National Standard “GB3344-2008"
(Standard on Discharge of Water Pollutants by the Pulp and Paper-
Making Industry). After multiple treatments, sewage discharged by
the Group's operations has achieved more than 99.5% of pollutants
reduction. The Group also strictly follows the monitoring
requirements of the standards for water pollutants to ensure that
monitoring data is accurate. Also, the Group has achieved water re-
use by the rate of more than 80% in its production and water
discharge has been less than 10 m’ per metric ton of paper
produced. Our sewage treatment stations have been equipped with
water re-use systems to raise sewage re-use and reduce water
consumption. In addition, there have been automatic programmable
logic controllers and online surveillance systems in our sewage
treatment stations to monitor the discharge of sewage, thus
facilitating the integrated management of sewage discharge. Also,
we have enabled reasonable re-use of sludge and methane generated
in the sewage treatment process. Water content of the sludge was
lowered to around 50% with fully automatic recessed plate filters
and then the dried sludge was burnt at thermal power stations in
order to reduce solid wastes. The methane generated in the
anaerobic treatment systems in the sewage stations was also
collected and used as part of the fuel for the boilers in the power
stations, thus greatly saving the coal required.
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Major emissions resulted from the Group’s production activities for

the year within the reporting scope are as follows:

AEERAFERSHBENEELTDME
EMERERMT

Types of Emissions Unit Quantity in 2018
BHmESR By 2018 EE
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx)' tonnes 1,785.90
AE/LYINOX)' i
Sulphur Dioxides (SOz2)' tonnes 718.10
—&E b SOZ) 7
Particulate matter (PM)' tonnes 210.10
AR (PM)' 7
Water used for production tonnes 50,858,912.00
HEERK 7

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse Gas from the Group is mainly due to coal-fired power

generation. Direct and indirect greenhouse gas resulting from

production activities for the year within the reporting scope are as

follows:

BERBIK

AEELREREBEZRAMREE - KF
EREBENEELSAEENEZNE

ZRERBOT ¢

Intensity

(production

Scope of Greenhouse per tonne)

Gas Emissions Unit Quantity in 2018 BE (RS

BERBHMEE B 2018 HE EREN)

Direct and indirect greenhouse gas tonnes 5,279,785.98 1.31
BEEKEEAERLE 5

1 Emissions resulted from the Group’s power generation activities that use fossil fuels.

1 BB AEBRER AR ERERMEL -
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Wastes

No significant hazardous wastes were produced in the Group's
production operations. The wastes generated in our operations were
mainly non-hazardous ones produced in the course of paper-making,
together with a small quantity of wastes due to routine office work.

In order to reduce and dispose of waste produced in the paper-
making process, the Group has established the “Guidelines for Waste
Management” to classify wastes and clarify the workflow of
processing. Policies also provide for guidelines for the storage,
transport and disposal of wastes and require them to be recorded to
ensure that treatment process is in compliance with rules and is safe.
The Group has principally reduced or disposed of wastes generated
from its paper-making operations in three ways. First, as the Group
used lots of waste paper as a raw material in its paper-making
operations, paper-making residue was left behind after extraction of
useful fibres for the paper-making process. As the residue contained
different impurities, the residue was carried to a washing line where
reusable metal wires, aluminium cans and plastics in the residue were
collected and sold to recyclers. Also, the plants of the Group have
had sewage treatment facilities to filter sewage generated from the
paper-making process. The sludge generated in several hundred
metric tons per day in the sewage treatment station was then burnt
in boilers after treatment and deep drying. The energy generated by
burning the waste in a circulating fluidised bed boilers could be re-
used in the papermaking process and therefore, not only secondary
pollution would be avoided but energy consumption would be saved.
Finally, the residue remaining after recovery of reusable materials and
other wastes unsuitable for burning were disposed of legally by

qualified contractors as landfill.

BEEY
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Major wastes resulting from the Group’s production activities for the  ARNEBRARNFEE R EHE N A EZBATE

year within the reporting scope are as follows: EMEEEEDNOT

Types of wastes Unit Quantity in 2018
BERYMER By 2018 HE
Non-hazardous wastes

EERBEEY

Paper-making residue tonnes 360,246.44
EHRES I

Coal ash, cinder tonnes 921,275.13
BIR - BE A

Impurities contained in waste paper as raw material tonnes 14,104.31
(Including plastics, aluminium cans, metal wires) 7

AR EME (B2 - 0k - #4F)

Sludge tonnes 249,429.85
yaE 7

Hazardous wastes’

BEBEEW

Waste batteries tonnes 8.76
REEM U

Used oil, waste paint, waste liquid etc tonnes 122.92
FEMEH « BERR - BERE i

2 Types of Hazardous wastes are identified with reference to the” Directory of 2 2EhZEARALNMBEBREREDREMY (HERBE
National Hazardous Wastes” issued by the Ministry of Environmental Protection of MREEYZEE) MR B EEEMELE -
the People’s Republic of China.
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USE OF RESOURCES

As a paper-making enterprise, the Group inevitably required a large
amount of water and energy in its daily operations. In order to
protect the environment, make rational and scientific use of energy
and resources and reduce production costs, the Group has
formulated the “Guide for Energy-saving and Control and
Management of Resources” to regulate the use of energy and
resources in various activities. The policy specifies the responsibilities
of and division of labour among departments, whereby departments
related to production including the procurement department, the
production department and departments using maintenance
workshops and facilities are required to control the consumption of
energy and resources such as raw materials, equipment, water,
electricity, paper, packaging materials and so on. Administrative
departments including the human resources department, the
administration department, the logistics department and so on
should be responsible for carrying out resources-saving education for
all employees of the Group, monitoring, recording and comparing
the monthly usage of energy and resources. Generally speaking, the
Group takes "giving priority to ideological education and
supplementing with management and control” as the guideline for
resources-saving, and lead employees to implement green
production. The Group has also set targets for both coal and water
usage for the year and conducted year-end review of the amount of
resources usage for the year in order to pursue better environmental

performance on an ongoing basis.
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The Group has actively adopted measures for energy conservation,
striving to curb energy consumption in each of its production
processes. For example, the Group has reduced energy consumption
by substituting high-performance equipment for older ones and
making relevant changes to its electricity facilities, and has also
adopted efficiency-enhancing and energy-saving technologies such
as the full use of frequency conversion and high voltage
compensation devices. Meanwhile, the Group has closely monitored
energy input and output as well as energy consumption by
production and non-production operations with an effective
mechanism for measuring, monitoring, analysing and appraising
energy consumption, and the corresponding posts to manage the
use of energy. The Group has installed water and electricity meters in
various regions of the plants and implemented a system of rewards
and punishments. Departments are required to conduct data analysis
and comparisons on a monthly basis to effectively promote energy
conservation and environmental protection to the whole Group.
Apart from 1SO50001 energy management certification, the Group
has indeed received commendations of the Government Examination
Team for Energy-Saving and Emissions Reduction for our promotion
and implementation of various measures to save energy, reduce
emissions and achieve environmental protection alongside economic
growth.

Energy Consumption

The transportation and production processes in our daily operations
have involved the use of great amounts of energy for running the
relevant machines. Diesel and coal have been the major energy
sources we used. As the various plants of the Group have had their
own coal-fired generators to ensure availability of sufficient power
necessary for the high power consuming paper-making machines, we
have not purchased electricity power from the national power grid.
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The Group has used coal as the fuel for our thermal power stations
for its highest energy content compared with other kinds of fuel. To
ensure coal quality has met standards, the Group adopts strictly
measures on management of coal storage and transportation. The
Group also conducts regular repair and maintenance on generators
to achieve an optimal operation of generators and efficient
combustion of coal and in turn improve energy efficiency. In addition,
we have also employed co-generation technology to turn residual
heat from the power generation process into heat source for use in
paper-making, thus considerably raising the efficiency of energy use

and reducing the consumption of coal.

In order to achieve energy-saving and reduce emissions, the Group
has made it a requirement that new technologies which could help
lower energy consumption should be used for every component of
the production line as far as possible. Moreover, the Group has
introduced a number of projects which aimed at lowering energy
consumption, such as the gradual substitution of highly energy-
consuming electricity-powered machines for variable-frequency ones
for better energy-saving performance and thus lower production
cost. Moreover, methane and certain of the solid wastes which were
side products in the sewage treatment process referred in the
“Sewage Discharges” and “Wastes” sections above could be burnt
in boilers in the thermal power stations, therefore saving fuel for the
coal boilers.

The Group has also continued to optimise energy management. We
have raised the efficiency of energy use both in the power generation
process and in the paper-making process and have therefore
successfully lowered the energy consumption per unit year by year.
The Group regularly tracks and records energy consumption. In the
reporting period, the overall energy consumption per metric ton of
paper produced by the Group was less than 0.34 metric ton of
standard coal equivalent (reduce more than 18% compared to 5
years ago) and substantially lower than the national average of 0.60

metric ton of standard coal equivalent.
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Water Consumption

As water has been a necessity for our paper-making operations,
water used in our production has accounted for a major part of the
Group’s water consumption. In order to save municipal water supply
(which was considered more valuable because of its potable water
standard), the Group has upon governmental approval obtained its
water supply by directly taking water from rivers and then carrying
out purification process to satisfy the industrial water standard. In
doing so, we have helped protect the valuable potable water
resources. As far as water saving was concerned, the Group has
principally adopted the strategy of using water-saving production
skills and equipment. The amount of natural water required by the
Group has been considerably lowered as a result of our employment
of advanced and very efficient sewage treatment techniques for re-
using water in its production, the formation of a closed circular
system for industrial water and in turn the use of a higher percentage
of re-used water in our production process. To prevent leakage from
water pipelines and to preserve water resources, the Group also
checks water pipes and repairs water tanks, water taps and other

water supply facilities regularly.

Use of Packaging Materials

Some of our paper products required the use of plastic materials for
packaging so as to prevent products from contamination or damages.
The production department of the Group has drawn up “Guidelines
for Packaging Materials Management” governing the classification,
labelling, storage and use of packaging materials to reduce wastage.
Also, the Group will continue to adopt the principle of simplified
packaging to alleviate the impact on the environment.
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Through the above measures, the Group and our employees together
achieved the objective of resources conservation. This year, energy
and resource consumption in respect of production activities within
the reporting scope of the Group were as follows:

BB LERE  AREEETELHIE
REBHNERNBER - AFEERNAKE RS
HENEETHNERLERAEMNT :

Intensity
(production
per tonne)
Energy and resource consumption Unit Quantity in 2018 BE (e
BERRERAZ By 2018 HE 2EB)
Types of fuel
Coal tonnes 3,022,876.46 0.7478
B U]
Diesel litres 5,369,729.24 1.3284
s 27t
Petrol litres 185,169.19 0.0458
o At
Water resources
KEIR
Water tonnes 64,939,718.67 16.0655
7K 7
Packaging materials
aEYR
Plastic materials tonnes 238.12 0.0001
b RS 1A
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The impact of commercial activities on the environment and natural
resources has always been a great concern to the Group. As a
commitment to reduce the logging of natural timber, we have been
using recycled paper as the materials for paper-making, the primary
business of the Group. In addition to complying with environmental
regulations and international rules on protection for the natural
environment, the Group has also incorporated concepts of
environmental friendliness into our internal management and daily
activities. In our striving to attain environmental sustainability, we
have successfully received I1SO 14001 Certification for Environmental

Management.

With the aim of actively promoting environmental protection and
efficient use of resources, we have monitored the potential effect of
our business operations on the environment on an ongoing basis and
promoted the green office and the green production environment in
adherence to four principles, namely, “Reduce”, “Re-use”, “Recycle”
and “Replace”, in order to minimise the impact of our operations on

the environment.

Timber Logging

As tree fibre is a necessary raw material for paper-making, the use of
pulp as a raw material for paper-making indirectly leads to demand
for timber logging. With the use of advanced production machinery,
we have been able to use waste paper as a raw material in paper-
making in big amounts. It has been a long-term objective of the
Group to use more waste paper and less virgin pulp. The Group has
been committed to raising the percentage of use of waste paper as
raw material and becoming one of the containerboard manufacturers

with the highest recycling rate in the world.

Among the packaging paper produced by the Group, 98% were
made from recovered paper and only 2% from timber virgin pulp.
This was exactly an example of our utmost efforts to protect forests

and minimise the impact of our operations on the environment.
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Noises

As our plants have been equipped with large paper-making
machinery and coal-fired generators, their operation would cause
rather big noises. In view of this, the Group has chosen to use low
noise equipment and products as far as possible in the course of
building the pulp and paper production lines and the thermal power
stations in order that noises could be lowered at the sources.
Moreover, as an effort to lower sound pollution to the environment,
the Group has installed various sound isolation facilities to contain
noises due to running of machines and has added silencers on noisy
equipment such as blowers and exhaust fans. For the sake of our
employees’ health, the Group has built soundproof control rooms at
the pulp and paper-making workshops where workers can work in a
healthy environment without being influenced by the big noises.
Meanwhile, the Group has added more plantation in the factory area

to help dampen propagation of noises apart from cleaning of the air.

Environment-Friendly Products

The Group invested in the research and development of environment-
friendly products maximising the utilisation efficiency of wastes and
minimising the addition of chemicals such as brightener and
fluorescer. The Group currently produces products including
unbleached bamboo pulp, recycle corrugated board, recycled grey
back coated duplex white board and unbleached tissue paper and
pursued to become a leader of green products in the industry with
an aim to alleviate the environmental impact caused in the process
from producing to using its products and thus offering more

environment-friendly choices to its customers.

Environmental Awards and Certifications

As described in the sections on environmental protection above, the
Group has been making great endeavours to keep possible pollutions
and negative impacts of our operations on the environment to a
minimum. The Group has received recognitions from government
authorities, professional bodies and many others in the community
including certifications and awards for the investments and efforts

we have made in respect of environmental protection. Over the
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years, certifications and accolades won by the Group have included — R[F] o 7K £ [& fF 4F pT 15 B ) 2 25 % 32 0] 10

the following:

The Group/Specific Plants
rEEHE

T

Certifications/Accolades Obtained
REHRE

All of our plants in China

TEBEAMBRE

All of our plants in China

BB RMERE

All of our plants in China and Vietnam plant

BN TA RS MRS

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and

Jiangxi plants

HiE ER - IENIERE

Hongmei, Huangyong, Jiangsu and Jiangxi

plants

HiE - ER - IENIERE

Hongmei, Huangyong and Jiangsu plants

HiE BRI TR

Lee & Man Paper

EIER

Lee & Man Paper
S

Lee & Man Paper
EIER

Hongmei and Huangyong plants

g SR RRE

Hongmei plant

IR

Chongging plant

ISO9001 Certification for Quality Management
ISO9001E EEIE

ISO14001 Certification for Environmental Management
ISO14001 3R E 1 B R

Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-COC) Certification
AMRE RAEIHEL B R FE (FSC-COC)

IECQ QC 080000 Certification for Hazardous Substance Process
Management System
IECQ QC 080000F EMHE RIZE L RARE

ISO45001 Certificate for Occupational Health and Safety Management
System
ISO45001 X R FEL 2 ER RRE

ISO50001 Certificate for Energy Management System
ISO50001 BE/REIE R A2 8

Named a “National Outstanding Enterprise Proactively Fulfilling Social
Responsibility”
EBHETHEREAREMEE

Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing)

BRBRLEERH (BUEX)

Named an “Environment-Friendly Enterprise”
RIFREREE

Named a “Cleaner Production Enterprise in Guangdong” and
an”Outstanding Labour Law Compliant Enterprise in Guangdong”

BEREFRLEELEMNERESIM T TEEFLE

Named an “Advanced Energy Conversation Unit”
Eipe e BB AR

Named an “Ecological Improvement and Environmental Protection”
RIBREFEE R
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PEOPLE-ORIENTED
Employment

Lee & Man Paper regards our employees as foundation of
development and recognises that the success of the Group at present
is founded on full devotion and contribution of all of our employees.
To this end, the Group aims to care our employees with an effort to
assist them towards their balanced development, which is consistent
with its people-oriented core value. Given that staff in Mainland
China represents a majority of the personnel of the Group, the Group
fully complied with the requirements of the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Labour Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and other relevant regional employment
laws and regulations. In accordance with the requirements,
employees are entitled to compensation, holidays and leaves,
occupational safety, trainings, insurance and benefits, the right to
proposal for the handling of labour disputes and other labour rights.
The Group has established a sound regulatory system ensuring the
implementation of statutory requirements and hence providing its
employees with a work and living environment of higher level of

quality, fairness and respect.

Recruitment, Promotion, Compensation and Benefits

Talents are always in demand and the Group has been eager to
recruit those who share the same values and ideas with us so that we
can build a diversified and professional team full of passion. By
external recruitment and internal promotion channels to recruit and
promote staff, as well as the establishment of our internal
“Recruitment Management System”, “Termination Management
System” and other relevant guidelines to govern administrative works
including staff recruitment, appraisal and termination, the Group
ensured high efficiency, compliance and transparency throughout the
process. The Group also distributed worker’s manuals to staff
introducing its culture and core values, admission and appraisal,
benefits and holidays, training arrangements etc., ensuring that staff
had full understanding of the human resources policy of the Group
and the right to protect their own interests.
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To facilitate attraction of high quality people, the Group has been
closely monitoring the trends of the labour market and economic
conditions and has made annual assessments and necessary revisions
in order to maintain competitiveness of our salary levels. We have
determined the salary of each employee in accordance with their
performance, experience, expertise, job duties, and provided them
with internal trainings and career ladder to achieve their success.
Besides, our staff also enjoyed benefits including insurance, medical
benefits, stock options as well as discretionary bonuses depending on

the employees’ performance and our business results.

Employees’ Welfare

To facilitate harmonious development of employer-employee
relationship, enhance the labour productivity and ultimately achieve
the objective of “a win-win situation for both employer and
employee as one”, the Group satisfied real needs of our employees
in various aspects. We have valued two-way communication with our
employees. We have kept an open mind to listen to and see the
merits of the employees’ opinions. The Group have assessed and
improved the meals, accommodation, amenities and other services
provided to employees from time to time to ensure availability of a
comfortable environment to them. The Group has also tried to raise
the sense of belonging of the employees and enrich their spare-time
life by organising recreational activities for them and their families.
We have set up an employees’ welfare fund to help them meet
emergency needs. If an employee or his family had a need for
financial assistance due to an emergency, the Group would allocate a
benefit to the employee directly from the fund to help them address
the difficulties.
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Equal Opportunities and Anti-Discrimination

The Group encourages mutual respect, trust and care among our
employees, which strives to build a harmonious team. Being an equal
opportunities employer, the Group is committed to creating a
working environment with fairness, openness and mutual trust for its
employees since its establishment. The Group has drawn up its
“Management Rules against Discrimination, Harassment and
Torture”, ensuring that our employees received equal treatments in
our daily operations and in every aspect of our human resources
arrangements and would not be subject to discrimination on ground
of ethnicity, nationality, religion, political affiliation, sex, marital
status and physical disability. The Rules also prohibits all forms of
harassment, coercion and misconduct so as to safeguard the well-
being of our employees. In the face of unfair treatment or
harassment, they can report such events in written form and put it
into our “feedback box”. In case of such events, the department of
human resources will conduct investigations and follow-up.

The human resources policies of the Group have been in compliance
with all local labour requirements including those on recruitment,
dismissal, salary and benefits, working hours and holiday entitlements
to protect the lawful rights of our employees. During the reporting
period, we did not find anything which constituted a breach of the
“Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China” and other relevant
regional laws and regulations on employment and human resources.

Health and Safety

Attaching great importance to occupational safety of our employees,
the Group has been committed to providing a safe and satisfactory
workplace for them and has taken necessary measures to protect
their health and safety. The safety work of the Group is primarily
governed under the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s
Republic of China”, the “Law of the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases of the People’s Republic of China” and other
relevant safety regulations, standards and systems. The legal
framework states that “Safety First, with Emphasis on Prevention and
Integrated Governance” (X2 % — - AL - 4245 81E) shall be
the core ideas to be enshrined under safety management for an
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entity engaged in production, that a sound system of accountability

for production safety and the prevention and control of occupational

diseases shall be established, and that regulatory systems in respect

of safety management shall be formed, with a view to be effectively

engaged in production safety. The Group complies with the

requirements under laws and regulations in five ways as follows:

54

Formulation of a sound “Regulatory System in respect of
Production Safety Management” to provide for stringent
standards for occupational safety. Employees shall comply
with safety requirements specified in such system including
those on hazardous goods handling, fire safety management,
warehouse safety management, safety requirements for special
operators and so forth. The Group has also issued its worker’s
manuals setting forth policies and practices on occupational
safety for reference by all of our employees, to facilitate the
implementation of its safety policies;

Appointment of safety managers to take responsibility for the
supervision and monitoring of the safety affairs of the Group
and to ensure its efficacy. Safety managers shall, based on
national laws and regulations and its objectives of safety
management, determine the safety work deployment and
investment for a year, and regularly convene safety meetings in
all hierarchical levels of staff, to know the progress and efficacy
of its safety work and advocate the concepts of production

safety to its employees;

Establishment of a mechanism of education and training on
safety, thereby systematically planning for training programs
and providing trainings on policies and regulations,
occupational safety and health, case study for accidents and
emergency management, in response to employees’ needs for
safety trainings; pre-set training hours for a year must be
fulfilled by employees to ensure adequate acquisition of safety
knowledge by the employees. The Group also regularly
organises first aid, fire-fighting, evacuation and fire escape drills
to raise the safety awareness of our employees. Different
posters and notices are posted in production workshops to

remind employees of the importance of occupational safety;
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o A comprehensive management system for safety roster and
inspection is in place, pursuant to which the departmental
persons-in-charge shall regularly inspect equipment and
facilities, warehouses, electricity, meters, repair and
maintenance, hygiene, fire safety equipment and fire safety
systems and so forth, and immediate rectifications shall be
adopted against hidden threats to safety. On a daily basis,
production staff members shall inspect specified areas to
further ensure production safety; and

o Establishment of a system for the prevention and control of
occupational diseases and a mechanism for the management
and inspection of accidents, to more effectively safeguard
against the occurrence of occupational diseases, and to identify
accidents and unsafe factors. The Group has set out guidelines
to be applied in case of emergency to ensure that employees
respond in a correct and timely manner to minimise the loss

arising from and impact of accidents.

The Group has continued to invest on improving the employees’
workplace and has received recognitions for doing so. Our plants in
Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Jiangxi were granted with
ISO45001 certification for occupational health and safety. During the
reporting period, the Group did not find anything which constituted
material breach of the “Law of Production Safety of the People’s
Republic of China” and other regional laws and regulations related
to occupational health and safety.
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Training and Development

The Group strives to pave way for the development of each and
every one of its staff members, aiming at developing talents and
building a reserve team of high-calibre people from a multitude of
perspectives. The Group has devised its “System for the Management
of Training” to manage the training of staff members, under which
the human resources department has to formulate its yearly training
plan based on the objectives and goals of the Company and in
response to the training needs of departments. Employees of
different divisions are required to attend regular internal and external
trainings to enhance their overall quality, with a view to creating
favorable environment and conditions for personal advancement and
corporate development. In addition to enhancing the working
knowledge, skills and experience of its employees, the Group also
looks forward to providing exposure to different positions and job
duties, to widen their horizons, bring their potentials to full play and
let them grow together with the Group in line with our overall
strategy.

Internal Training

The internal training programs offered by the Group could principally
be categorised into admission training, production safety training and
fire safety training. Admission training, which mainly covered
introduction to the firm, rules and procedures, and attendance and
salary matters, was aimed at familiarising new joiners with the
Group's background and expectations of the Group on employees.
Our production safety training has borrowed the concepts of 7S
management practices which were first adopted in Japan and
relevant ISO requirements and aimed at improving the quality of the
production and working environment. Fire safety training emphasised
the raising of employees’ awareness of fire safety and improving their
ability to address emergencies.
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External Training

Apart from training provided by the Group internally, we also
sponsored employees to receive training offered by third party
institutions. The external training programs were generally expertise
training which focused on provision of most updated industry
information and techniques desirable for raising productivity and
competitiveness. We have also arranged external training for selected
employees to ensure they attained the relevant knowledge and skills
to be competent for the special job duties which they were
responsible for. For employees who had the potential and ability to
join the management, the Group would arrange comprehensive

management training for them to prepare them for promotion.

In addition, for the sake of continuous development of the Group,
we have put in place a management trainee program to develop
potential successors to different positions. We have also selected
trainees to attend a two-year diploma course on paper-making
technique offered by the South China University of Technology in
Guangzhou every year with the Group's sponsorship. After
graduation, those trainees would be assigned job duties at different
positions in the Group.

Labour Standards

Prohibition of Child and Forced Labour

The Group has only recruited people who have attained the legal
working age in strict compliance with the “Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China” and other applicable local labour laws
and regulations. The Group’s “Management Rules for the Use of
Minors as Labourers and Prohibition against the Use of Child Labour”
CRECETERARZEILFERAZETEIERMRT) is in place to prevent the
use of child or illegal labour. The Group’s recruitment procedures
involve checking of personal information of applicants and
background investigation. If such investigation of an applicant’s
background reveals any irregularities, the Group will retain the record
and cease the respective application process. The worker’s manuals
are also in place to encourage whistleblowing against the use of false
identity documents, thereby achieving the goal of control from a

number of perspectives.
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We have recruited our workers in adherence to the principles of
fairness, openness and free will. In accordance with the “Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”, our subsidiaries in
China have entered into legal employment contracts with employees
without using any forced labour service. In view of the aforesaid
internal control measures, during the reporting period, the Group did
not find anything which constituted a material breach of any of the
abovementioned labour standards or other relevant laws and

regulations.

Anti-corruption

Anti-bribery and Anti-money Laundering

In adherence to our principles of acting with integrity and fairness,
Lee & Man Paper has always observed laws and regulations on
prevention of commercial crimes in our daily operations, including
but not limited to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China”
China”, the "“Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic

, the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of

of China” and so forth. Enterprises are required under laws and
regulations to abide by the principles of fairness, equality and
integrity, to act in a lawful manner, to adhere to commercial ethics,
and not to operate business by means of theft, bribery, deception,
compulsion or other improper means. The Group has compiled its
“Standards for Commercial Ethics” to eliminate any behaviours of
bribery or corruption, in strict adherence to the value of integrity,
honesty and truthfulness, to ensure compliance with all policies and
standards against corruption in all of its business operations and
activities.

We have been in good cooperation with business partners including
customers, suppliers and sub-contractors, in joint efforts to maintain
corruption-free business relations. The Group cooperates in all
supervisory actions against corruption, and also requires each of its
business counterparties to sign an “Undertaking to Eliminate Bribery”
(MLABTTREAGE

the Group, and that it will bear any legal liabilities and consequences

42), to the effect that no bribery will be conducted to

in case of violation as such.
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We have published our code of personal and professional conduct in
the worker’s manuals for their compliance, pursuant to which they
are not allowed to actively provide or accept any commercial bribery,
and are prohibited from the use of personal influence to enable the
grant of special privilege to any specific objects or subjects. The
Group has also put in place a whistleblowing mechanism to
encourage reporting by employees and stakeholders of any improper
acts. Meanwhile, the Group has regularly assessed and reviewed the
effectiveness of our internal control system to ensure that potential
corruption risks can be effectively prevented and identified.

During the reporting period, the Group did not find anything which
constituted a breach of the aforesaid and other regional laws and
regulations related to anti-corruption or anti-money laundering.

STRIVING FOR IMPROVEMENTS
Supply Chain Management

As we are a production enterprise, supply chain management has
always been a critical aspect in our quality control system. We have
maintained a stringent supplier assessment mechanism and have
established a “System on Procurement and Suppliers Management”
(RIEEREERHEIRF|E) and also a safety management system that
targets suppliers and sub-contractors, to carry out selection and
assessment of suppliers according to ISO guidelines in order to ensure
the suppliers’ compliance with the Group’s quality and service
requirements and their possession of similar environmental, social
and governance concepts as the Group, in addition to their
compliance with environmental, safety and other relevant laws and

regulations.
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Procurement of Raw Materials

To preserve natural resources, the Group has primarily used waste
paper instead of virgin pulp as a raw material in papermaking. In
order to obtain a stable supply of waste paper, the Group has
engaged designated agents to source high quality waste paper
materials worldwide including in the Netherlands, the United
Kingdom and the United States, also as a way to benefit from
flexibility of choice. Our sourcing agents collected waste paper
materials through various channels including recyclers, supermarkets,
local authorities and retailers and then shipped the materials to us
through our transport teams. In fact, this has been the most effective
and the fastest way to collect and carry the waste paper materials in
accordance with relevant regulations.

Besides, the Group has been operating more than 50 waste paper
collecting and packing sites in Mainland China and has also been
sponsoring a number of other business partners in China to source
high quality waste paper locally as a way to develop paper sources as

well as to support paper recycling.

Product Responsibility

Product Safety

With customers as our first priority, the Group has always stressed
the importance of fulfilling their requirements with high-quality
products and services. The Group ensures that product information is
made available to customers in a transparent, true and accurate
manner during its sales process. The paper products of the Group are
subject to the “Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other laws, regulations and standards related to product
safety and quality. Enterprises are required under laws and
regulations to shoulder responsibility for product quality and ensure
that products comply with quality and safety standards. As such, the
Group has established the “Procedures for the Surveillance,
Measuring and Control of Products” (Z T E5R MBI £ HIF2FF) to
supervise and inspect incoming raw materials, semi-finished products

and finished products.
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For quality assurance at source end, the Group requires suppliers to
provide inspection reports on materials, warranty against the use of
hazardous substances, MSDS and so forth. The quality department
also conducts sample checking and batch inspection in respect of
incoming materials to ensure the compliance with quality

requirements.

During production process, the Group adopts automated and
computer-monitored production processes, while the quality
department conducts inspection on semi-finished products and
records results on the logbook of inspection during production
process, before moving on to the next stage. In case of any shortfall,
the relevant production staff members will be notified immediately

for rectification.

During the stage of inspection of finished products, the Group
conducts inspection of finished products for physical designations
and against the inclusion of hazardous substances, in accordance
with the “Operation Guidelines on the Inspection of Finished
Products” (BXmRER1ESIEEE). Regular sample inspection will also
be conducted on the finished paper products after sale, while scrap
paper and pulp samples are sent to testing agencies for the
inspection against hazardous substances.

As we highly value product safety, we have obtained IECQ QC
080000 certification for the hazardous substance process
management of our four plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong
and Jiangxi. A proof that our paper products are free of banned
hazardous substances, the certification can boost customers’
confidence in the products of the Group. Meanwhile, the various
plants of the Group have also successfully obtained 1SO9001
certification for their quality management system. We have also
obtained the Forest Stewardship Council’s Chain of Custody (FSC-
COCQ) certification, a proof that the Group values its product quality
and the sustainability of forest operations. Moreover, the Group has
established a risk assessment team to assess product quality and
safety risks regularly in order to address issues promptly for

protection of the Group’s and customers’ interests.
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After-sale Services

The Group has drawn up its “Operation Guidelines on Customer
Services” (B IRIGVES5EE) and maintained an after-sale service
department to follow up concerns and opinions of customers so as
to provide customers with fully satisfactory services. In all sales
territories in China, the Group has engaged designated after-sale
service personnel to provide technical support to customers, follow
up their complaints or opinions and address their difficulties and
questions. The Group has also set a time limit within which customers
should receive follow-ups and responses from our after-sale service
personnel as a guarantee that their concerns can be addressed fast
and their requirements can be satisfied to the greatest extent
possible.

Data Privacy

The Group is well aware that personal information is governed under
the “General Code on Civil Law of the People’s Republic of China”
and other relevant laws and regulations, and requires that enterprises
shall maintain the right of use of personal information. In this
connection, the Group has taken data protection measures necessary
for protecting the interests of all stakeholders. We have ensured that
our employees have access to operating data required for performing
their duties only. We would not allow disclosure of information
unauthorised by the information owner except otherwise required by

law.

During the reporting period, the Group did not find anything which
constituted a material breach of the aforesaid and other regional

laws and regulations related to product and service quality.
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CONTRIBUTING BACK TO SOCIETY
Community Investment

Lee & Man Paper has always endeavoured to shoulder social
responsibilities. We have made contributions in three major respects,
namely, community development, environmental protection and
support for the under-privileged, with a commitment to help
members of the community in need and facilitate social advancement
by participating in charitable causes with resources we have won in

our commercial operations.

Community Development

The founders of the Group have spared no effort to support
education causes and have sponsored the building of a number of
education facilities. The Patrick Lee Wan Keung Science and
Engineering Laboratory Building in Hainan University in Hainan
Province donated by Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Patrick Lee Wan
Keung Academic Building in Lingnan University, Hong Kong donated
by Mr. Lee Man Bun, and the Lee Keung Study Hall in Jiaji Secondary
School, Qionghai City, Hainan Province are among the results of the
zeal of our founders for the facilitation of community development.
Raymond Lee Charitable Foundation is also in full support of “Hong
Kong Youth New Runway Programme” to help young people to step

out of Hong Kong and find new opportunities in a new environment.

ClEEt S
HERE

BEXER-EBNTHBBEAHEREE 2
AEHRER  RERE  [BEE=K
THEFERER - AREREEBHE
HEMESNEROEMLE  EHEFEN
HE RHEWIED -

HEER

AEEWNAIMALHEDHE TERS K
BREZMHERE BREAFERBL
BENEEASFERETERKE - A
FXRELERYENELEEARFE
BEUBARE UREHEBEEREETENT
SRS - R BUR AR EE A AR
Do FXEBREESNE2NEYBET
FHEE ] BHBEFELETE R
MRIBP SIS -

BYGERARAT 2018 F3 63



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

RE #HERERRSE (&)

Environmental Protection

Attaching great importance to environmental protection, the Group
actively engages in regional environmental activities in preservation
of the nature. The Group took part in the activity of “Environmental
Protection by Raising Cultivation and Improving Water Ecosystem”
(ETEDUR £ REIR SR RFE) in Zhutuo Town, Chongging, in which
approximately 90,000 fry of grass carp, bighead carp and silver carp
were channeled to help raise the diversity of fishes in the Yangtze
River and improve its water quality and waterway ecosystem, for
facilitating the sustainable development of fishing resources. The
activity caught positive attention from the community and posed

positive effect to setting ecological and environmental awareness.

Support for the Under-privileged

Lee & Man Paper has provided generous support for the victims and
also solicited donations through our employees every time an
earthquake or other natural disaster occurred and led to serious
casualties. Donations received were sent to charitable organisations
for the quick relief of victims and rebuilding of their homes. Disasters
which we organised donation functions included the earthquakes
that occurred in Wenchuan in Sichuan Province, Yushu in Qinghai
Province and Yaan also in Sichuan Province.

Going forward, the Group will continue to support charitable deeds
and fully discharge our corporate social responsibilities and create a
brighter future.

RIERE
AEEERRFRE > BHEREABROR

REE > TEXREBA - AREZ2EBER
SEHRIMBEMRERRERE ES - K
BMES L ABRBEHDIERE
PR RIT KB ENZ KM - B KE
KM AERRIRIE - REREERATFHFER
R WS ELEERATRIEEAE
B ARRIRRIESED TREEER -

BFEXE

BYEENE - REERLERERBET
BEA NSRBI - REETNER
KEBLRMABETER - F/FES
RHERREABRED AR ARTRES
B E2RE- - BEAKESTLEES
BRXERBOIIIINBEE - 586
B IEZES -

RE - REEKERETF A
ThEEREGEME  AlEXF -

E2NE

64 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2018 Annual Report



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EERENE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 48, CPPCC National
Committee, SBS JP, Chairman of the Company is in charge of
corporate planning and investment projects. Dr. Lee has over 25
years of operational experience in paper manufacturing and is
experienced in professional formula of paper making and product
development. Dr. Lee was conferred the Honorary Degree of Doctor
of Laws in 2014 and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science
from the University of British Columbia in Canada. Dr. Lee was
awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002" and
received an award for 2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young
Persons Selection Awardees”. Since December 2013, Dr. Lee was
appointed as the member of Standing Committee, All-China
Federation of Returned Overseas. In 2015, Dr. Lee was appointed as
member of Council of City University of Hong Kong. He is currently
appointed as President of Centum Charitas Foundation and Hong
Kong Federation of Hainan Community Organisations Limited
respectively. He is also the Chairman of Raymond Lee Charitable
Foundation since 2017. Dr. Lee is currently an Independent Non-
executive Director of the listed company, Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited. Dr. Lee is the brother of Mr. Lee Man Bun, an
Executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and is the brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive
Director of the Company.

Mr. Lee Man Bun, aged 38, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province, MH JP, Chief Executive Officer
of the Group, is responsible for production management, sales, daily
operation, quality improvement, repair and maintenance of
production machines and factory staff management etc.. He holds a
Bachelor’s Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is the Member of
Commission on Poverty (Youth Education, Employment and Training
Task Force) and the Advisory Committee of The Enhancing Self-
Reliance Through District Partnership Programme. He is awarded the
“Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2015” and is the Founding
Chairman of Hong Kong New Youth Energy Think Tank. He was the
Committee Member of Social Welfare Advisory Committee from
December 2011 to November 2017. Currently, he is the Chairman of
Tsuen Wan Central Area Committee from April 2018 and a member
of The Independent Police Complaints Council from January 2019.
He is the younger brother of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, the
Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company and is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Li King Wai Ross, an Executive Director of the
Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuep)

Mr. Li King Wai Ross, aged 43, an Executive Director of the
Company, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper, logistics planning and optimisation, as well as external affairs
for the Group. He holds a Master’s Degree in Science in Electrical
Engineering from Stanford University in USA and a Bachelor’s Degree
in Applied Science in Computer Engineering from University of British
Columbia in Canada. He has over 17 years of experience in
production management, operations and technological research and
development. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond
and Mr. Lee Man Bun, both of whom are Executive Directors of the
Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 79, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation), the Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. He devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his
18-year presidency at the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) Degree
from the University of Hong Kong, A Doctor of Philosophy Degree
and a Higher Doctor of Science Degree from the University of
London. He was a Postdoctoral Fellow at the California Institute of
Technology and University of Southern California. He also held the
Honorary Degree of Doctor of Humanities from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2009. He was appointed a Non-official
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989, received the OBE in 1991, the Gold
Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002, “Leader of the Year Awards 2008
(Education)”. In addition, Professor Poon was appointed as a member
of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(1998-2013). He is also an Independent Non-executive Director of
Henderson Land Development Company Limited, The Hong Kong
and China Gas Limited and Chevalier International Holdings Limited.
All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock

Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 76, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He is also an Independent Non-executive
Director of the listed company, Lee & Man Chemical Company
Limited.

Mr. Peter A. Davies, aged 76, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 48 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.

Mr. Chau Shing Yim David, aged 55, an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, has over 20 years of experience
in corporate finance and was formerly a partner of one of the big
four accounting firms in Greater China, holding the position as their
Head of Merger and Acquisition and Corporate Advisory. Mr. Chau is
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and
Wales ("ICAEW"), and was granted the Corporate Finance
Qualification of ICAEW. He is also a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and was an ex-
committee member of the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. Mr. Chau is
a member as well as director of the Hong Kong Securities Institute
and the Chairman of Corporate Outreach Committee. Mr. Chau is a
member of Hospital Governing Committee of Pamela Youde
Nethersole Eastern Hospital (“PYNEH") and the Trustee of the PYNEH
Charitable Trust. He is also a member of Jinan Municipal Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultation Conference.

Mr. Chau is currently an independent non-executive director of
Branding China Group Limited, China Evergrande Group, Evergrande
Health Industry Group Limited, HengTen Networks Group Limited,
IDG Energy Investment Group Limited and Man Wah Holdings
Limited. All the aforesaid companies are listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange. Mr. Chau was also an independent non-executive
director of Richly Field China Development Limited from February
2012 to September 2018 and Asia Grocery Distribution Limited from
March 2017 to August 2018. All the aforesaid companies are listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EENREREEERN (8)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 52, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company, is
responsible for the internal supervision, management of the Group'’s
financial matters and investor relationship. Mr. Cheung is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 30 years of experience in the field of
auditing, accounting and financial management. He is an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Aoyuan Property Group
Limited and DCB Holdings Limited, which are listed on the Main
Board and the GEM Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
respectively. He joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr. Yan Jean Goo, aged 53, is the Deputy General Manager of
Chongging Lee & Man Tissue, is responsible for the overall operation
& management of tissue business of the Group. He holds a Bachelor’s
Degree in Economics from the University of Xiamen and has over 31
years of experience in production and operation management. He
joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr. Yip Heong Kan, aged 48, is the Deputy General Manager of
the Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and energy saving projects. He holds a Master’'s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 25 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EIREREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Ng Hok She Harry, aged 43, is the Head of Quality Assurance,
responsible for the packaging paper and tissue paper production
quality of the Group. Mr. Ng holds a Bachelor’s Degree and a
Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering from McMaster University
in Canada. He has over 17 years of experience in engineering safety

aspects management. He joined the Group in October 2011.

Mr. Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 44, is the Head of Information
Technology of the Group responsible for the Information Technology
Strategic Planning and Execution. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Applied Science & Engineering from University of Toronto in Canada
and has over 19 years of experience in IT supervision and 11 years of
senior management experience from different multinational

companies. He joined the Group in October 2011.

Mr. Chan Chi Ho, aged 50, is the Senior Production Manager of the
Group, responsible for industrial paper production management of
the Group. Mr. Chan has over 31 years of experience in overseeing
production matters in the paper manufacturing business. Mr. Chan
was former production manager of Jiangsu plant and rejoined the
Group in February 2009.

Mr. Chung Wai Fu, aged 54, is the Administration Manager of
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper, responsible for Hau Giang plant operation
and management. Mr. Chung holds a Bachelor Degree of Production
and Logistics Management and a Master Degree of Business
Administration in Human Resources Management from the University
of Southern Queensland. He has over 25 years of management
experience working in both multinational and local listed companies
in China. Mr. Chung joined the Group in November 2008.

Ms. Li Yuen Ling, aged 57, is the Senior Finance Manager of the
Group, is responsible for the Group’s finance activities, as well as
maintaining banking relationship for the Group. She joined the Lee &
Man group in 1984 and has over 34 years of experience in

accounting and finance for manufacturing operations.

SREEE &)

HBEEE 435 AEERERES
R BEPEMARBEEERES - B
ENMERERSHHERERN TIENEL
B B2 - FHRABBI7TEFIRER
ZHHEMNEELR - BR2011F10H 10
AREH -

ZHEFRRE 4458 - AEBE AR
K BEEMBERER  BEHENE
REMERNBERANSEIEELEM - %
BRI9OFERECEEMBRERRKINF
e R ERLR - HR2011TFE10AMA
RER o

RERAE S0 AEERREEL
B BEIXRAEERE BRiLEHEAS
3T FEREE R TIREE - HEER
EETEHBREEELE  R2009F2 88
IRIMAREER -

ERESLE - 5458 - M E XGEMRITBUE
B BERIEHAMEBEEERER - &
FERAHERTHAZEENYREES
TEMRANERITIRERBTSAM - #
EE2SFERBBEP B AL - AR
B o EEARER2008F 11 AMAREE -

FHB L ST ARESHMBEE
B AEAKEMBEBRERERS
B ERIBITHIRAR o N 19845 0 A
NEBEY HEBIMFREXB 2 G MY

BGERER AR 2018 F3R 69



PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conmivuep)

Mr. Chu Kwok Lung, aged 56, is the Administration Manager of
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Guangdong Lee & Man Paper and has over 34
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Mr. Chan Kong Sang, aged 59, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 36 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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OTHER INFORMATION

H 2 &

ULTIMATE SUPPLIERS AND BUYING AGENTS

Besides purchasing directly from the suppliers, the Group also
engages certain independent buying agents to source waste paper
from their ultimate suppliers mainly supermarkets, paper packing
companies and recycling plants. The Group’s buying agents in the
United States and Europe, namely Ralison International Inc., Mark
Lyndon International B.V. and Mark Lyndon Paper Enterprises (UK)
Limited, are ultimately owned by Mr. Albert Chiu Tung-Choi, a
distant relative of the Company’s controlling shareholders, Dr. Lee
Wan Keung Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man
Bun. Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun are also
executive directors of the Company. These buying agents are not
“connected persons” of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules.
They receive a commission for sourcing the raw materials of waste
paper and they did not trade and are contractually obliged not to
take a position on or otherwise maintain an inventory of waste paper
themselves. Their primary role is to coordinate the logistics in order
to have the waste paper delivered to the Group, including on-site
inspections and customs clearance, and thereby reduces the
regulatory risk for the Group. The total prices paid for the waste
paper (including the price of waste paper paid to ultimate suppliers
and commission paid to the buying agents) were made on an arm'’s
length basis. The Group sourced 19% and 30% of its total raw
materials through these buying agents for the year ended 31
December 2018 and 2017 respectively. The commission paid to these
buying agents amounted to HK$81.9 million and HK$88.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 respectively.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which
owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any

interest in the share capital of the five largest suppliers of the Group.

RAMEEREREBEAE

BRTRMEREZERBZI  NEETE
PETHERKERIE  REFO&EHE
F(E2RBATS AmeEAT RO
WTI5)RBRER - REBELPEERR
% & ¥ Ralison International Inc. ~ Mark
Lyndon International B.V. X Mark Lyndon
Paper Enterprises (UK) Limited B8 78 A &)
TRBREFERITLT FNEFLIREFX
MEE(FEXEBELRFCREETRAE
NREMITER)NERBERM T EKEE
B RIEETARE - ZEFERBEAREWIER
RABAEAL] - WEBBERBELKRM
BREBRAE  BRFUTETRS - UK
B EBABESUNAM A ARERER
SHERTFEE - RENBEAGBRMH
MR BREAKEXEAEEH(BEEN
RENEM) - KR E AR E R EE R
R EXNHAERER(BREAREH
EE X M EAER RN TRERERN
M) DEAFRANETE - BE2018F K&
2017512 A3MBIEFE - REEFBEK
BREXBOERMEEESFIA19% KR
30% - XN TFRERBEREZMAENEBE
2018 2017512 A31HILFEH RIA
81.9A8 BTN 3IAHATT °

BEECAES  RENBEA LN EAH
BEARARBEETHRAS% A LB ERRRA
SEAAHEREOBRAT EEEER -

BGERER AR 2018 F3R 71



DIRECTORS' REPORT

EEERE

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries and a joint venture are set out in

notes 42 and 21 respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 91.

An interim dividend of HK20 cents per share amounting to
HK$883,951,000 in aggregate was paid to the shareholders during
the year. The directors of the Company now recommend the
payment of a final dividend of HK15 cents per share for the year
ended 31 December 2018 to the shareholders on the register of
members on 16 May 2019, amounting to approximately HK$658
million in aggregate, subject to the approval of the shareholders at

the forthcoming annual general meeting.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$3,094,848,000 (2017:
HK$2,692,988,000), representing the aggregation of the share
premium, the contributed surplus and the retained profits and net of

the share repurchase reserve.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 7 of the annual

report.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$1,978 million (2017: HK$3,483
million) for the purpose of expanding its business. An amount of
HK$52,926,000 (2017: HK$179,300,000) was transferred from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties for
generating rental income. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note
17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A review of the business of the Company and a discussion and
analysis of the Group's performance during the year and the material
factors underlying its results and financial position are provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and Analysis,
respectively, set out on pages 8 to 9 and pages 10 to 13 of this
Annual Report. The outlook of the Company’s business is discussed

throughout this Annual Report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Company as required to be disclosed pursuant to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) and are in
addition to the matters referred to in the Chairman’s Statement and
Management Discussion and Analysis.

1. Economic climate and individual market
performance

The impact of economic conditions of China would affect sales
and results of the Group. The Group continues to implement
its strategies to develop and strengthen penetration of the
relevant markets. The management of the Group will continue
to make efforts to strictly control costs and manage the usage
of capital fund in order to maintain the Group’s competitiveness

in the paper industry.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

2.

74

Loss of key individuals or the inability to attract
and retain talent

Lack of appropriately skilled and experienced resource could
result in a delay in achieving the Group’s strategic goals. The
risk of the loss of key personnel is mitigated by regular reviews
of recruitment and retention practices, remuneration packages
and succession planning within the management team.

Customers’ credit risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk by the Group which will
cause a financial loss due to failure to discharge an obligation
by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
The Group only extends credit to customers based on careful
evaluation of the customers’ financial conditions and credit
history. Credit sales of products are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of debt at the end of the reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised for
irrecoverable amounts.

Details of the customers’ credit risk are set out in note 35(ii) to
the consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and
ensures compliance with the relevant loan covenants.

Details of the liquidity risk are set out in note 35(ii) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (conmivueD)

TERRETAREEE)

5. Currency risk 5. EB¥EKE
The Group has foreign currency transactions and foreign AEEBRBINER G RINEEE -
currency borrowings, which expose the Group to foreign NBAREEAZIINETERR - K
currency risk. The Group manages and monitors foreign SEEBRERINERR - UBR
exchange exposures to ensure appropriate measures are R RBMMHKBGEER® - A&
implemented on a timely and effective manner. The Group has B D@ SR LEEIINERAE DI
entered into certain foreign currency forward contracts to PEAK A B LB
mitigate the risks as deemed appropriate.
Details of the currency risk are set out in note 35(ii)(a) to the EERBABHINNGETBRE
consolidated financial statements. BFEE35(ii)(a) °

6. Interest rate risk 6. FIEEM

The Group is mainly exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to floating-rate bank balances and bank borrowings
and fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank

AEFBZHELSRENREBRTIER
FERBITHEBIBITEEARER
ROTEEZARBENERR - 12

BEAENXER IHEAFTER
ERYEHBBANKZE -

borrowings. The management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure
should the need arise.

Details of the interest rate risk are set out in note 35(i)b) to FEERRFBHIN DG M FHRE
the consolidated financial statements. BF5E35(i)(b) °
GROUP’S ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND AEBENREBRERRKRE
PERFORMANCE
Other than financial performance, the Group believes that a high B BXRBIN - AEBERESREZLE

BEEHREYRIFEERME SR
BETRAAEEAEN HEZORYE
REZ - ARBBNRREARAEBLE
RARBI R AT EAIRE LB 2
ARERERELER -

standard of corporate social responsibility is essential for building up
a good corporate and social relationship and motivating staff and
creating a sustainable return to the Group. We are committed to
contributing to the sustainability of the environment and community
in which we conduct business and where our stakeholders live.

ARBZEBRRBERERRABHIINAF
WEIEEFCAAZRE  HERER
WE e

Particulars of the Company’s environmental policies and performance
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 30 to 64 of this Annual Report.
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STAKEHOLDERS" ENGAGEMENT

We obtain and understand the views of our stakeholders regularly.
This communication provides valuable feedback for our business and
assists us to understand stakeholders’ needs and assess the best way
to leverage our resources and expertise to contribute to future
business and community development.

Across the supply chain, we have taken steps through the year to
ensure that we operate responsibly and in the interests of our
customers, workforce, suppliers and other stakeholders.

An account of the Company’s relationships with employees is
included in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 10
to 13.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial

statements.

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares through The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Stock Exchange”), details of which are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. The directors considered that the
repurchases would increase the earnings per share of the Company.
None of the Company’s subsidiaries repurchased, sold or redeemed

any of the Company’s shares during the year.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, sas e (Chairman)
Mr. Lee Man Bun, mH Jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Li King Wai Ross

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, G8s Jp

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr. Peter A. Davies
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lee
Man Bun and Mr. Peter A. Davies retire and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election.

Each of Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Mr. Li
King Wai Ross has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 1 April
2017, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by

either party by three months’ prior written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive director and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his

retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance
for the benefit of the directors of the Company is in force.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS
UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules, the following disclosure is included in respect of the
Company’s loan agreements, which contains covenants requiring
performance obligations of the controlling shareholders of the

Company as at the date of this Annual Report.

The Group has certain loan facility agreements where it would
constitute an event of default if any one or all of Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick, Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr. Lee Man Bun (together
the “Controlling Shareholders”), the Controlling Shareholders of the
Company, ceases to legally and beneficially own, directly or indirectly,
in aggregate at least 51% of the entire issued share capital of and
equity interest in the Company or do not, or cease to, exercise
management control over the Company. Upon the occurrence of any
of the above events, the outstanding liability under the loan facilities

will become immediately due and payable.
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DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests of the directors and the chief
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

EERTBTBAERRANE
BRETHEENEZER AR

R2018F12A31H  EENREBITHA
BREEZHEATEARARR REEE
Eafkt - HEARMDRESF  #EX
RARBEFARPEGRAN(TESFRBPE
B 1) % 3521677 B 2 B M Frac 8 2 1
@Wm HEANMEARAMBRE LEWEITAE

FETEFRHHRETRIC M PT
BRI T
"R

RAFEFR0.0258 T2 & B

Percentage of

the issued

share capital of

Number of  the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares {5&RQATERIT
EEpE 54 EERHE REBD L
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner 1,358,991,040 30.96%
FXEEL BEHBEAA
Mr. Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner 1,262,932,960 28.78%
FXH L EmEAA
Mr. Li King Wai Ross Held by spouse 4,564,865 0.10%
FRBrEE mEcEBEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 100,000 0.002%
ERNHIR EmEAA

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors or chief executives or
their associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its

associated corporations as at 31 December 2018.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 December
2018, other than directors and chief executives, the following
shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant interests in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

BEROIEZ 22 H

ARE -~ EEBRAR - ELANE QA
X [F) Z B B & B F AT iy F A 2
IR HE - MEARREFTAEBA
ARRF AR EIEA BB Z i B S
(BIEEERE) MExS -

FTERR

REBEARAIRE S MG GRDIFE3361%A
HFEZIERRECMALE - 122018
F12A318 » THBRR(EERERITR
ABBRINEHNERRBRERARAR
BITRATER 2B -

"R

RRABER0.0258 T2 EidAR

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued ordinary share capital of

shares held the Company
Name of shareholder Capacity BEERT MEARSERIT
MRER It £ 54 HBERHE RAB DL
Ms. Ho Tsz Wan Held by spouse (note i) 1,262,932,960 28.78%
(CINIS: ko mECERA (FaED
Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner 507,342,000 11.56%
FEREL BERFEAA
Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note ii) 507,342,000 11.56%

FEBRBLL mBECERA (KT

notes:
(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Ho Tsz Wan is deemed to be interested on the 1,262,932,960
ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Mr. Lee Man Bun.

(i) Under the SFO, Ms. Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested on the
507,342,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 December 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Particulars of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 29 of this
Annual Report.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into by the
Group in the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal
commercial terms, or on terms no less favourable than terms
available to or from independent third parties, in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such transactions that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company
as a whole; and within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the
Stock Exchange.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance, to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the

year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers and the aggregate sales attributable to the
Group's five largest customers were both less than 30% of the

Group's total purchases and total sales respectively.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital
of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2018.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance, medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the Company’s directors has

taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations of
HK$2,390,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Man Chun Raymond
CHAIRMAN
Hong Kong

11 March 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 M % A

Deloitte

TO THE MEMBERS OF
LEE & MAN PAPER MANUFACTURING LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 232,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on this matter.

Key audit matter

EEETEE

RREFERTHEBRBEATHEE AL
RBRUAPGAVBRERNEARRER
MEHE ELEHREENTENERES
MBEHRRREABERBETRIERN - K17
TeHELEREHEBNER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HRETSEE FTMAEERRESER
Impairment loss on trade receivables
FEWE Z Rt 2 BE R

We identified the impairment losses on trade receivables as a key
audit matter due to its significance to the consolidated financial
statements and the significant degree of management judgment
involved in recognising impairment loss on trade receivables.
RITHANEKRE ZFEFREEERAREAFTHEENGS M
BHREAZEEMLEEBE2EHERKE S RINEBRENE
ERE -

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses
("ECL") on trade receivables which are subject to impairment upon
the adoption of HKFRS 9 in the current year. The measurement of
ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default which involves key estimates from management of the
Group. The assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information.

EAFERMWBBVBRELENFEINRN - EEEHXIRE
ZEKE SRR EHRCEEER((RBEEBE ] EREER
e BHREEFEBRAEARBENTRILE  MRBBX(AIMHMER
HRMEXRER)R ESEEREFZAFENSRZEAR
EVINEE - BAFI BRI R BRIB R AT A D ER B A BUR K ATIE
HERHELAE -

Our procedures in relation to assessing the
sufficiency of the impairment loss on trade
receivables estimated by management
included:
RITHAEER B G EKE ZRION
EEELE EHNTEERE

o Understanding how the impairment
loss of trade receivables has been
estimated by management and the
approval procedures for recognising
the impairment loss on trade
receivables;

o EBMEBENMMGIEWE SRR
BB 18 R R e E 5 BR SRR
EEBBEZEHRERF
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTER (conminuep)

Key audit matter

BAREETEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HARETSEE FITMAEERRESE
Impairment loss on trade receivables
FEWE 5 R 2 RE R

The carrying amount of trade receivables amounted to
approximately HK$3,059 million, net of loss allowance for ECL
amounting to approximately HK$85 million recognised as at 31
December 2018. Referring to note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group estimates the ECL by using provision matrix
which is based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration of forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
M2018F12A31H  BUEZEREHGERREHREES
1R A HA98,5008 B LR - BREEA HA30.59E T - 2
BV BmMEMTAmM - EEERE SEERAANED
EWERBATEEEHRKBEMENGFAMEEBE - Hal
NBETBEORAKE NG IRE -
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o Assessing the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the
Group's ECL model based on our
understanding on the Group'’s
customer portfolio and discussion
with management and the
independent qualified professional
valuer including:

e ERATH BEEENTFAAH
B REEBEREISERE
EhEM® - TE EEERE
EHEEEBRRA 2 TAERRRA
EEMERE

- the credit quality of the
customers, such as any
experience in default, delay in
payments, aging analysis and
historical settlement pattern;
and

- EPWNEEEE fIWEE
HFE - THEINR - BRiER DT
MBEAEEER &

- the provision rates, internal
credit ratings, historical default
rates and forward-looking
information.

- BEX . RNEEEFTA - BE
BEAOERBIEEER -

o Evaluating the independent qualified
professional valuer’'s competence,
capabilities and objectivity.

o HMEBUAERFEMGLEMZT
BE - BB REEM -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated

financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have

no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the

Group's financial reporting process.

Hib &R
BERAEFAHHMENAR - RMWEHR
(ERNORES

BRHNENFHRANZIER
RAMBHRERMAITHZBE RS

RITHESMBREROEBERL TREEM
BE AT EZEEMER B REM
AR EFLER -
THEREMBERROES - KA1TH
EARMEBEMER  HUBRES - BE
Hith ER BB EES VB RRALITESR
ATRRTRTBABRFEEREBENE
UFFESRERFARER - ERAIT
ERITH I - NRAKITR %Eﬁﬂéﬂﬁ
EERBERRIM - RITHREREZ °
FERE - NMTOEBEMRSE -

li:ll:l

EENEEERAENRGREHE
BRBEAENSE

ERREFAAERBEEBGHAEMNR

BB s R R EFE R BRDIR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

BEE R ET RS
MEE

AITHER  RYGRAMBHREAEREDS
TEERRRFFRERMEBNE AR
RAESEIERE - YHEABEATE

MIZ BB S - AR i E W BS FBIRE R
EERRBEMIEMIELMARE - A1TH
TRARENAT - HERMEMALAE
EREERER - GEBREZSKTHR
7 BTRERERREBETERETH
Eit EX-BEAHERRAFERBEH
3 o SEERERM AT LA BREF S BE AR SRR - 40
REEEHEMEBRELERAEZE
RAEMBRRERE KRBV BERERAED

IR

M EORTE - BB B A0 #E R BRI AT AR 1
BEX-
ERBEBEEAETENOBIES

AITERTEEXANY R T EXERRE
[ o RITI% -

o R RBIFNET{ FB A R EF ok £ AR 1 8 B
Zv?éﬁﬂ%#&%ﬁﬁéﬁﬁaéﬂﬁmﬁ’ﬂ
Bk - RERMITEEFAEY
ELERE - URERTEMEEZ D
HREF IEABEMERAER -
BB R BE - RE &
TER - ERRML - OEER A
2l £ A ARGEFRERTFM
BH M EKERRADRER SRR

REERAERMERMERERR
A @ b o

o THRHEREMOANIMIES - AR
n+@%m%n+$ir 155#‘]13'5
Y EEEANMEHOEREER
BR-
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

B2 RS (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

BB E RS M BRI
WEE#)

FEEEMRAEFABEENRE N
REH ST A MERRENS
e

HESHABBLKESHERNS
EMELER o  REBAMENNE
BE  HTREGFEHFELEBER
EEMERTHEEN  Emages
BY ERENRELERNIESE
BREE WMRAMTRATFEEKR
THEEME  AEVEAZERKRS
FRECEAEIEZEVBHRERR
WEEEE  MBEEKETZE - Al
RTEEERIBERBESR - K17
Wi meERNZERIHRE B LEATE
BRETRE - A - KRRBEK
BERAAEEH BESETRBERL
% o
TERAMBEREROBEI®RS
X EEBIRD  BEEE - UK
HEVERERG AT RIMEEAR
SHMEIHE o

B EEEANERBIEHEDN
MEEEERERE - EEMNER
BE O NBHEAMBERRER
BR -ATTRE BESEEFNNT
[ EBMHT -  ATTREFMELR
EERREL -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine that matter that was of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and is therefore the key audit matter. We describe this matter
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ip Chiu Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

11 March 2019

BB E RS M BRI
WEE#)

AiTE BERABREEARARAR BT
BEFENETEE  KHEZH EXF
FHERE  BREAITERE T HE HAED
2 T K ERFG

AiTER BERARAREBARAABRRE
B BAATENAARBIIENEEE
RERER  WERMFBBEAES R
WRAREFEARTBL ENMBEBERME
=8 - WREERANERT - HENH
M

el BERRABEEARARBENSER
FoATHREBERAAREE P HRER
MBARAER  AMBEXBERENS
A o RITEZBEREFHAU EIE - K
IERERT AN RRAPEM SR HE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

melEmREMEEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z2018%F 12431 H IFF/E

2018

NOTES HK$'000

BisE FTExT

Revenue WA 5 32,208,082
Cost of sales S5 & P AR (24,699,596)

Gross profit ES 7,508,486

Other income RN 7 1,015,109

Impairment losses on trade receivables, — FEUE 5 ERFUREE 1B

net of reversal (FOBf B 8) 8 (FAELD))

Other gains and losses Hiles R EE 9 90,039
Distribution and selling expenses DEKRIEEE R (580,571)
General and administrative expenses A& MTHRER (1,518,181)
Finance costs B 75 Ak 2R 10 (319,612)

Profit before tax B 75 B 2 A 6,127,332
Income tax expense FEMST " (1,247,112)

Profit for the year FEERN 12 4,880,220

Other comprehensive (expense) income H b 2E (X H ) W

Item that may be reclassified

HZAJGEEF D HE

(910,719)

3,969,501

subsequently to profit or loss: BmZEE -
Exchange differences arising on BMERINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations ME H = EE

Total comprehensive income FEHE>EWE
for the year

Profit for the year attributable to: UTATEREEERF
Owners of the Company RRFHEEA
Non-controlling interest iR R

4,880,206
14

4,880,220

Total comprehensive income attributable to:  JA T~ AT RE(F B2 E U

3,969,410
91

3,969,501

Owners of the Company VN/NSIET YN
Non-controlling interest RS
Earnings per share Bl&aF

HK cents
AL

16 109.92

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]

2017
HK$'000
THET
25,836,884
(18,324,030)

7,512,854
791,671

3,160
(72,581
(435,004

(1,291,614

)
)
)
(185,311)

6,323,175
(1,282,883)

5,040,292

1,551,737
6,592,029

5,040,292

5,040,292

6,592,029

6,592,029

HK cents
il

111.47

91



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At 31 December 2018 #2018F 12 H31H

NOTES
BaE

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BER&E 17
Prepaid lease payments AT E IR 18
Investment properties BEMHE 19
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, EBEWE - BE NM&RE M

plant and equipment and land use rights b {F AT E] & 20
Interest in a joint venture GEbEER 21
Loan to a joint venture BEDEER 21
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22
Prepaid lease payments BB ERE 18
Loan to a joint venture BETEER 21
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 Kk H AR K 23
Bills receivables discounted with recourse  FffiB 24 ~ FE UL Z 15 AL IR 24
Amounts due from related companies JEWe BE & N R IR 25
Derivative financial instruments TESRITA 26
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRRE 27
CURRENT LIABILITIES nREBAEE
Trade and other payables e E 5 K B At BR K 28
Advances drawn on bills receivables B R R EIE

discounted with recourse iCANE:S 24
Amounts due to related companies FETRAE N RIFIE 25
Derivative financial instruments MmESRMIA 26
Tax payable FET IR
Contract liabilities EHEE 29
Bank borrowings RITIEE 30
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAEE

LIABILITIES
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2018
HK$’000
TERT

27,443,999
937,107
592,003

425,313

98,343

29,496,765

4,886,346
21,647
55,792

5,956,979

338,354
9,003

2,011,942

13,280,063

3,670,936

338,354
11,678
3,543
275,494
96,107
5,825,466

10,221,578

3,058,485

32,555,250

2017
HK$'000
TAT

27,458,855
936,881
581,602

152,178

97,453

29,226,969

4,954,319
21,310
36,890

6,775,828

21,709
4,127
2,248,641

14,062,824

4,672,298

14,742

326,923

6,025,745

11,039,708

3,023,116

32,250,085



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At 31 December 2018 #2018F 12 H31H

2018 2017
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
MosE FET T

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EFREBARE
Bank borrowings wITEE 30 7,965,029 9,051,959
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIAEE 31 1,444,370 1,282,008
9,409,399 10,333,967
23,145,851 21,916,118

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARGFE
Share capital R& K 33 109,723 112,635
Reserves HE 23,033,372 21,803,483

Equity attributable to owners ZANYNIE Z SN

of the Company FEliGER 23,143,095 21,916,118
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR M 2 2,756 —

23,145,851 21,916,118

The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 232 were  $91EF 2 EBMH NG BHREER
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11 20194311 AKE=# £ R EET

March 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: T WHTIEERERES
LEE MAN CHUN RAYMOND Z {8 LEE MAN BUN Z= 3058
CHAIRMAN & DIRECTOR %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERRBEE

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z2018%F 12431 H IFF/E

Capital Share Non-
Share Share  Translation ~ contribution legal  Special Other repurchase  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve reseve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  profits  Subtotal interests  equity
Bx  ROEE EXRE  LERBE RELEE  RIRE  HERE  BERE  EEEA Nt OFEREE  BEEER
HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
Thr TR A Thn TR TR TEr  TEn  TEn TR TER TEx
(notel)  (oted) (oteii)  (noteiv)
(hah)  Oms) (s ()
At 1 January 2017 R017E1 318 13642 3409183 (930239) 12552 97 (2999 (120600  (42,122) 14274911 16,822,965 — 16,822,965
Profit fo the year EERF - - - - - - - — 5040292 5040292 — 504029
Bchange differencesarising ~—~ ENEREL
on translation of foreign LERER
operations - — 1551731 — — — — - — 1551737 — 1551737
Total comprehensive income ~~ FRE2ENE
for the year - — 1551737 - - — - — 504029 6,592,029 — 659,009
Shares repurchased and cancelled TR fit 8 (1,00 (275332) - - - - - Qm — @) - @m)
Dividends recognised TEARIRE
as distrbutions (note 15) (K1) — (1,264659) - - - - - - — (1,264659) — (1,264659)
At 31 December 2017 RO17E128318 112635 1869192 621498 12552 9 (2999 (12,060 — 19315203 21916,118 — 21916118
Profitfor the year EREA - - - - - - - — 4880206 43880206 14 4880220
Exchange differences BERNEHES
arising on translaton of LERER
foreign operations — —  (910,79) — — — — - - (910,79) 77 (910,719
Total comprehensive income A2 ENE
for the year - - (910,79) - - - - — 4880206 399410 91 3969501
Shares repurchased and cancelled (7B E it (291)  (946,181) - - - - - - - (99,093) - (949093)
Share repurchased and yetto -~ IRABER ik
be cancelled (note ) ) - - - - - - - (17.30) - (17230) - (173)
Dividends recognised BEATRRE
as distrbutions note 19) (5z215) - 915y - - - - - — BB3%I (1776104 — (176104
Capital contrbuton by FRERLE
non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - - 2,665 2,665
At 31 December 2018 R0ISENANIE 109723 30858 (289298) 12552 97 (2999 (12060 (17236) 23311458 23,143,095 2,75 23,145,851
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

ma

Em2EHx (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018%F 12431 H IFF/E

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

The capital contribution reserve arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in prior
years to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s then ultimate holding
company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

The other reserve arose from the acquisition of equity interests in subsidiaries
from their non-controlling shareholders in prior years.

During the period from 20 December 2018 to 28 December 2018, 2,638,000
ordinary shares of the company were repurchased at an aggregate cost of
HK$17,236,000. Subsequently, the repurchased shares were cancelled on 29
January 2019, and accordingly, the Company’s share capital and share premium
were reduced by HK$66,000 and HK$17,170,000 respectively.

M EE -
)

(iii)

(iv)

HEFBEDRFHHAAEEEHRLERA
A-R2EMBRRHENMBARMG -

IRIER P RE B0 RS - AR B 5O T RO Y
BREARDERMEREDIRE  BEETD
NERMAM25%OEHE/ZTARE  HE
RECEWNBARRAN —ERIE - ZERHE
ETEAIRTERE -

Rl R RIEA R EN2003F9 8 REARK
EARGHHEBERARNRAREARELARR
WEERIAMBITHORMDEEREE -

H A (5 48 B 1 () BT B 1 B 2 JE AR AR
U B LN R A R IR S A A

R20184F 12 A208 F20184 12 A28 B #f
BB AAQ A EEAR2,638,000/8 + A& A
17,236,000/ 7T - BEIRMHEEEN2019F1 A
20 B RS - Bt - ARARBRARRKRDEED
BlE 466,000/ 7T % 17,170,000/ 7T ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETMER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z2018%F 12431 H IFF/E

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Interest income
Net gain from fair value changes
of derivative financial instruments
Impairment losses on trade receivables,
net of reversal

REXK

B35 Al 2 F

"R

LUR DN

IrEE R i
HEWE - BMEMEEZ
&8

B A
TEEMIARAARE
ZE)5 s

& Y & 5 B Rl (B &S 1R
(FABR @)

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Decrease (increase) in inventories

Decrease (increase) in trade and
other receivables

Decrease (increase) in amounts due from
related companies

(Decrease) increase in trade and
other payables

(Decrease) increase in amounts due to
related companies

Proceeds from (payment to) and settlement
of derivative financial instruments

BEETEHAN
RERSRE
FERA(Em)
JEWE 5 K

H A RR OB A (1B )
JE U B 1~ 7]
IR (K hn)
e E S R

H Bk Opl ) 58 00
FESRRE R A
FRIROpL ) 18 0
BETESRIAMS (M)
IR

Cash generated from operations

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax
("EIT") paid

Withholding tax paid

Interest paid

REXBEENRS
B P BEREMREN
(TEEMEHR])
EENSEEiE
ERFE

NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

REXBFEREFR
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2018
HK$'000
TRT

6,127,332

319,612
138,745

10,777
(20,584)

(2,638)

67,938

6,641,182
1,071,814

516,480

12,706

(650,349)

(3,064)

10,308

7,599,077
(921,362)

(153,820)
(389,125)

6,134,770

2017
HK$'000
THET

6,323,175

185,311
125,464

7,082
(11,957)

(9,960)

(3,160)

6,615,955
(844,362)

(1,503,680)

(5,053)

807,039

15,528

(5,203)

5,080,224
(757,327)

(297,578)

4,025,319



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #{Z2018%F 12431 H IFF/E

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Deposit paid for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment and land use rights

Loan to a joint venture

Addition to investment properties

Purchase of prepaid lease payments

Proceeds on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Interest received

Placement of margin deposits

Receipt on disposal of prepaid lease
payments

Withdrawal of margin deposits

REED

BEME  BFENRRE
BEVE  BERRER
THEREMNET S
BELEERN
MIBREME
BEBRNMEEEA
HEWME - BE M
REAE IR

B UH B
FRREESFR

HE RN B E IR KA

RERE S 7K

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETEARSFHE
ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES mEEE

Repayment of bank borrowings EBRBITEE

Dividends paid B E

Payment on repurchase of shares 8 131 B 19 15 3k

New bank borrowings raised MEERITEE

Capital contribution by IR RN E
non-controlling interest

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM RIEEEN(FTA) R &
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ReF8E

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReRBESEEBWORD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥ hn A

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT EYESRBESZEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ERSE > &

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FERESR
AT THE END OF THE YEAR, ReZEEY

represented by bank balances and cash —RITERER®

2018
HK$'000
THRT

(1,864,390)

(427,012)
(22,205)
(4,355)
(691)

39,044
20,584

(2,259,025)

(17,318,680)

(1.776,104)

(966,329)
16,031,471

2,665

(4,026,977)

(151,232)

2,248,641
(85,467)

2,011,942

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]

2017
HK$'000
THT
(3,108,116)
(56,594
(37,406

(21,741

)
)
)
(5,369)

72,547
11,957
(1,488)

7,097
2,966

(3,136,147)

(16,728,969)
(1,264,659)
(234,217)
18,257,195

29,350

918,522

1,274,197
55,922

2,248,641
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GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2013 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company was Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Dr. Lee Wan Keung
Patrick. In June 2018, Gold Best transferred all shares of the
Company to Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun
and Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick for no consideration.
Thereafter, Gold Best ceased to be the ultimate holding
company of the Company. Thereafter, Dr. Lee Man Chun
Raymond, Mr. Lee Man Bun and Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick
are the substantial shareholders of the Company. Details of this
transfer are set out in the announcement of the Company
dated 12 June 2018. The address of the registered office and
the principal place of business of the Company is disclosed in

the Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint venture

are set out in notes 42 and 21, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions

and Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28  As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions for
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in

these consolidated financial statements.

FE R #TR] R ARME R B R B 5%
RELZA(BBMBREE
a1 1)

R 5F B2 50 ) A AV AT R AR (S
ABRBYBREEL
AEEARAFEEREAATAHE
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B2 a] RREFTEAMBRE
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F95E
ERUBREED REFPANNKAR
F1558 EE=ES)

BE(ERABRE MR
2EBZ8%) BENRE
—RER22%

BEMBREEN NBROAERRNRRS
EYLACHES) ZLERREE

BAMBRE LN RETEVHREER

F4S(BETAR) F4RRBE LK
—HERBEHNEK
REEBEIR SR
IR
BRI ENFE28 {ER20146E2016%
$(BETA) BRERUBRS
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS
11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018. Any difference
at the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits (or other components of equity, as appropriate)
and comparative information has not been restated.
Furthermore, in accordance with the transition provisions in
HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the Standard
retrospectively only to contracts that are not completed at 1
January 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative information
may not be comparable as comparative information was
prepared under HKAS 18 Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources which arise from contracts with customers:

o Sales of packaging paper

o Sales of pulp

o Sales of tissue paper

Information about the Group’s performance obligations and

the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15
are disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 15

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

2. R REBTEBYH

BRELZN( BB BREE
1))

2N F 5 R A RV T RT R AR S
ABRBYBREEDE)

ERMBWMEENEISRKGES
BHRIBIMA ()

IR FEF & BRI R & 2ERIE 155
ZREHE

THAEER2018F 1 B1B 254808
BRARPHERZSEMELNH
B oPLAXEHTENBEL TR

BEA -

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts under
previously HKFRS 15 at
reported at 1January
31 December 2018
2017 REER
B BBEE
R20175 ERE155
12A318 120185
281 Reclassification 1A18H
REE ENNE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FEL TET
Current liabilities REBRE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 R Bt BRK 4,672,298 (127,566) 4,544,732
Contract liabilities ANERE — 127,566 127,566
4,672,298 — 4,672,298

As at 1 January 2018, receipt in advance from customers of
HK$127,566,000 in respect of contracts relating to sales of
packaging paper, pulp and tissue paper previously included in

trade and other payables were reclassified to contract liabilities.

M2018F1A1H @ BEFAEBNE
SREMBEFRBHAIESELEMA - K
BREEHRNEHNNERE P B
127,566,000 8 LB EF D EEE
HEIE -
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for 1) the
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial
liabilities; 2) expected credit losses (“ECL") for financial assets;
and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date of
initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1
January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at
31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at 1 January
2018 are recognised in the opening retained profits and other
components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade receivables. Except
for those which had been determined as credit impaired under
HKAS 39, trade receivables have been assessed individually
with outstanding significant balances, the remaining balances
are grouped based on internal credit rating. The Group has
therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the trade
receivables on the same basis.

Except for those which had been determined as credit impaired
under HKAS 39, ECL for other financial assets at amortised
cost, including loan to a joint venture, other receivables, bank
balances and amounts due from related companies, are
assessed on 12-month ECL basis as there had been no

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

As at 1 January 2018, no additional credit loss allowance has
been recognised against retained profits as the amount

involved is insignificant.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

The interpretation specifies that the date of transaction is the
date on which the entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability arising from the payment or
receipt of advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance, the Group is required to determine the
date of transaction for each payment or receipt of advance
consideration.

On initial application, the Group applied the interpretation
prospectively to all foreign currency assets, expenses and
income in the scope of the interpretation initially recognised on

or after the beginning of the current year, i.e. 1 January 2018.

For foreign currency denominated advance considerations paid
by the Group in relation to purchases of inventories amounting
to HK$27,902,000, the Group recorded these advances by
applying the spot exchange rate on initial recognition between
the functional currency of the relevant group entity and the
foreign currency. Accordingly, the application of this
interpretation has had no significant impact on the amounts
reported and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment
Property

The amendments clarify that a transfer to, or from, investment
property necessitates an assessment of whether a property
meets, or has ceased to meet, the definition of investment
property, supported by evidence that a change in use has
occurred. The amendments further clarify that situations other
than the ones listed in HKAS 40 may evidence a change in use,
and that a change in use is possible for properties under
construction (i.e. a change in use is not limited to completed

properties).

At the date of initial application, the Group assessed the
classification of certain properties based on conditions existing
at that date. There is no impact to the classification at 1

January 2018.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

106

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective: AR
HKFRS 16 Leases' BEAUBREENZ 6% HE
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ BARBREENZTR  RRAL’
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax EE(ERMERERE  FEHRROTEEY
Treatments' ZEE)-2EFBT
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business* EEMBREEAENRE  EBMER
(B3T%)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative FEUBRLENESE  ATHERINEAFT
Compensation' (B31%)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERUEREEANZI0RR REFEEREHAED
and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or ERGHENF 285 $CRMARLES
Joint Venture? (B31%) 1A
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material® BREHENEIRR EANEE’

and HKAS 8

B g EFReH

(B31%)
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or BAGHENE 197 HELERE: N
Settlement' -HEY
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and BAGER£28% REZRASPENRE
Joint Ventures' (B5%) '
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs BRNBREED 2015F 220175057
2015-2017 Cycle' (B31%) BUBREEINEF

determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which the

acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but
not yet effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17
Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis
of whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In
addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to
be determined based on the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to
whether the transfer of the relevant asset should be accounted
as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes requirements relating to

subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed
for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have to be
recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-term leases
and leases of low value assets.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted
for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is
adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact
of lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease
payments as investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands
for owned use and those classified as investment properties
while other operating lease payments are presented as
operating cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into a
principal and an interest portion which will be presented as

financing and operating cash flows respectively by the Group.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to
lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$26,566,000 as disclosed
in note 36. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these

leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$3,897,000 and refundable rental deposits
received of HK$10,043,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition of
lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may be
adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are
considered as additional lease payments. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits paid would be considered as
additional lease payments and included in the carrying amount
of right-of-use assets. Adjustments to refundable rental
deposits received would be considered as advance lease

payments.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may result
changes in measurement, presentation and disclosure as

indicated above.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTinuED)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that an entity applies HKFRS 9,
including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests
in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method is
not applied that form part of the net investment in the
investee. Furthermore, in applying HKFRS 9 to long-term
interests, an entity does not take into account adjustments to
their carrying amount required by HKAS 28 (i.e. adjustments to
the carrying amount of long-term interests arising from the
allocation of losses of the investee or assessment of impairment
in accordance with HKAS 28).

Loan to a joint venture is considered as long-term interests
that, in substance form part of the Group’s net investments in
the relevant joint venture. However, the application is not
expected to have impact as the Group’s existing accounting
policies are consistent with the requirements clarified by the
amendments.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

The annual improvement packages amended the following four
standards.

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

The amendments clarify that an entity should recognise the
income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other
comprehensive income or equity according to where the entity
originally recognised the transactions that generated the
distributable profits. This is the case irrespective of whether
different tax rates apply to distributed and undistributed profits.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle (Continued)

HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an
entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation

rate on general borrowings.

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendments clarify that when an entity obtains control of
a business that is a joint operation, the entity applies the
requirements for a business combination achieved in stages,
including remeasuring its previously held interest in the joint
operation at fair value. The previously held interest to be
remeasured includes any unrecognised assets, liabilities and
goodwill relating to the joint operation.

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

The amendments clarify that when a party that participates in,
but does not have joint control of, a joint operation that is a
business obtains joint control of such a joint operation, the
entity does not remeasure its previously held interest in the
joint operation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristic of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories, or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)

(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purpose, fair value sboh - BB ERmmE - A EE

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the ERBANEFEGH AR ZIH

degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are ZEERBABBH A BEEESR
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value EZEEMHWOBERE  F2XE3

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: & T

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active e FIRBABBREBNGE
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity HEEEERTISMMEREEL
can access at the measurement date; BERSZHRE(REHRAE)

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices s F2BBWMABBRMEENE
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset EEEIREEABERZ#AH
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and B BREE-RANZHER

oN R

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or e EIBRWMAKBREEXBE

liability. B 7 B] B A ) A B o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.

Investment in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the joint venture. Changes in net assets of the joint
venture other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group's
interest in that joint venture (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment in a joint venture (Continued)

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee becomes a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in

the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that
the interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired.
When any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to
the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment

subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with
the joint venture are recognised in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the joint

venture that are not related to the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct
goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs; or

° the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

o the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required

before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract

are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

The Group recognises revenue under the following accounting

policies:

(i)  Revenue from sale of packaging paper, pulp and tissue
paper is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of goods;

(i)  Revenue from supply of steam and electricity is
recognised at a point in time upon transition steam and

electricity to users; and

(i)  Revenue from rendering of wharf cargo handing service is
recognised over time because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances, net of

discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have

been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods

are delivered and titles have passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is

recognised in the year in which the services are provided.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
operating leases is described in the accounting policy for

leasing below.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of relevant lease. Initial direct
cost incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments, including the cost of acquiring land
held under operating leases, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element as a finance or an
operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire property is accounted as an
operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration (including
any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element
and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as
an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of and on the
retranslation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor
likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in
the foreign operation), which are recognised initially in other
comprehensive income and reclassified from equity to profit or

loss on disposal or partial disposal of the Group’s interests.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit scheme are
recognised as an expense when the employees have rendered

services entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another
HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the
cost of an asset.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2018 Annual Report

FTESEEERA)

BERA

HEE RENLESEREE(H
—BEHRTAFERERREAH
HENBE)ERABZEERAY
MEZFEEZRA  HEXFE
EXBAFERERZKAHIHEE
Lk

P& E b & B AR AR E L BER
B R

3R K48 R AN

REEBRBIELATRESF I ([RESE
81 1) & Bl 5B 12 5 AR R A8 A ET 81 Y
NENEERERBEETZEH
REERARER -

THEEREA

HHREERNIZERERHERBE
BNz RITRBHN S EE
Re-MERHEERINERAE
A BRIER—BBMBREENR
EHEFARBANBEA-—HEEN
DG



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because of items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interest are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to

settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets,
other than construction in progress, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual

value, using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.

Impairment on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment on tangible assets (Continued)

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instruments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance with
HKFRS 15 since 1 January 2018. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the date
of initial application/initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in
fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive
income if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations
applies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-

taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or

significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
note 2) (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit

impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables, loan to a joint venture,
bills receivables discounted with recourse, amounts due from
related companies and bank balances.) The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.
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FE M mARMEE (F)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMITEE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with DA EERE (K T2 EERE

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued) JB B T R & ZERI 2 95 1 48 15 )

(%)

(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (i) (EEREKIBZEMN
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased RS B B EREEERR
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares EEBEFLINE  KEEKR
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument HEAHEBMIAEZTEERN
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default ZREERVIIGHER B BHE R
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of THEFXENZRARELR -
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group EEFAE  AEERKEE
considers both quantitative and qualitative information EERBEBNEEREMLE
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical B BEATgRIEASD
experience and forward-looking information that is TR E )T A5 .2 AT HE
available without undue cost or effort. MHER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESFTHEEX#®)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) CRMEEE

B EERE (WHT 2 A e &
BRI & E R FE 9B IR )

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(%)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERBEZEMNE)
In particular, the following information is taken into AEmME  UTARAFIHEER
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased e EELNAERENE
significantly: K

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor;

e SRMIEAZAHE(WAE)
SABEEFIRELD L5
JEEREE =L
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mERL  PlmEAF
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o RITHTBIRBE T
8 MBER BN TE
SERBEBABREZREE
BITEBEENEEN

s BEBRARZEXETEE LR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMITEE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with DA EERE (K T2 EERE
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued) JB B T R & ZERI 2 95 1 48 15 )
(%)
(i)  Significant increase in credit risk (Continued) (i) EERBEZEMNE)
e anactual or expected significant adverse change in o BEBHARER KE - %
the regulatory, economic, or technological RIIRIRE SR E M E
environment of the debtor that results in a AR G HER A B
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet EREEBITEBEEN
its debt obligations. EEDII
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Eiwm L E 2 ERoE - B
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased EHNFEBHBERI0OKR K
significantly since initial recognition when contractual SEBEEEERR B 5 E
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the RAREE LI - BRIEAREE
Group has reasonable and supportable information that EEBEREEENER SIEFE
demonstrates otherwise. B
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default; ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term; and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of

‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the

amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMITEE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with DA EERE (K T2 EERE

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued) JB B T R & ZERI 2 95 1 48 15 )

(%)

(i) Definition of default (i BROMER
For internal credit risk management, the Group considers RABEERRER - EAD
an event of default occurs when information developed FEER KRG ER BT
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that BEATKAREEZHIHHEE
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the A BEASE(LKREZE
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals AEBRBEEMNERR) K
held by the Group). SERRBBEENEN -
Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that NE R R e - BemE
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than EBHBIBIOKX  AEERE
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and BEEENEN  RIEXEH
supportable information to demonstrate that a more AEBEREEBRENBETRE
lagging default criterion is more appropriate. BAGEERGH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMITEE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with 2R EERE (K T2 EERE
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued) JE B T R & ZE R ZE 95 B 48 ) 15X )

(%)

(i  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) EERESREE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more E-HERZEENEHEES

events of default that have a detrimental impact on the ZeMEEMARKRERE

estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have ATFEE  sHEEANEE
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired BE - eHEERENZERS
includes observable data about the following events: FEATEH 2 ATEBRREE

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (a) BITASBRABFERE
borrower; B IS R

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due (b)y EXD - AINEADASGEEASE
event; %

(¢)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or () BRAZERA HEH
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s EENCINEGE kS
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower EHRE B TERA—
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not ERATEEERNE
otherwise consider; s
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)
(d) itis becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit

or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring

as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective

interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are

grouped on the following basis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivables and amounts due from customers are
each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related
parties are assessed for expected credit losses on an
individual basis);

. Past-due status;

. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit impaired, in which case interest income is

calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

FEESTTHEXR(#)

TRMIAE)

CREEE)

B EERE (WHT 2 A e &

BRI & E R FE 9B IR )

(%)

(v EHEEEENTENRER
(&)
BIEE T LA BB A
RE—ApEmAESRFBEL
REE R

HERAESREEEEEE
HE MEFEEEAE2 R
AEABI - EUBRT - F
BRI S BA E 2 B 90K
AEE -

AEERABERTALHE
HREER 8 &S RERREK
mEER - MEKE SR A
BRoN - HARRAR R TRBEE
B ARARTER

BGERAR AT 2018 £ 143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

144

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are classified into the following specified
categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVTPL"), held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale
("AFS") financial assets and loans and receivables. The
classification depends on the nature and purpose of the
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESFTHEEX#®)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) S@MIAE)

Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets PREEMNSERAEE (R

(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued) 2018F 1 A1 HEAEEHFEIHEE

RIZE 9% 5T) (&)

()  Financial assets at FVTPL (i) EBARBEFAEDZEREE
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the EeRAEDNNOBEEEER
financial asset is (i) held for trading or (ii) it is designated (IVEEWETERAEARBEIA
as at FVTPL. BxR emMEENSIBERRAR

S fEFF AR -

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if: TREEDERBRIFEE
fie :

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of o RABATDUEHEER
selling in the near term; or BH) sk

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of e RYIBEHAFHRAEER
identified financial instruments that the Group HRAEEME#HA eI
manages together and has a recent actual pattern Bz —8o W AGH
of short-term profit-taking; or HMABNNZIERR

oK

e itis a derivative that is not designated and effective o HRIWIFIETE KRB BEH

as a hedging instrument. TRAZTETE -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) SRMEEE)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets PHEEMNSERAEE (R
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued) 2018 1 51 HEAR BB IHEE
RIZE 95k mT) (&)
() Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued) (i) EBEAREBEFAEBRZEMEE
(%)
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for REEBEEZMAEE (K
trading (or contingent consideration that may be received BEEURKIEREB G —
by an acquirer as part of a business combination) may be o2k RRE) AN SR
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if: BEAIRVIEERRFIETE R
RAEFABZZEBMEE -
14 -
e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces o HIEETEMEIREERD
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that LBRgHBR T EER
would otherwise arise; or R Nk 19
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESFTHEEX#®)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIAE
Financial assets (Continued) CRMEEE)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

EHEEMSBRARTE (R

(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued) 20184 1 H 1 H [EF &8/ B &5 2

(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL (Continued)

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the
entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be
designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss is included in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item.
Fair value is determined in the manner described in note
35(iii).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

(ii)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including loan to a joint venture,
bills receivables discounted with recourse, amounts due
from related companies, trade and other receivables and
bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method, less any impairment.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9

on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for

indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is

objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that

occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the

estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For AFS equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline

in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered to

be

objective evidence of impairment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio past the average credit period of 45 to 90 days,
observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and reward of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEEHEE)
(CONTINUED)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMITEE)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cHEEREETAE)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAAEFA BB EE
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial EEBMEBENNEREEY KRS
liability is (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a ERIEIFREBRAHHRESE 2K
business combination to which HKFRS 3 applies; (ii) held for ARE : (NFBEEESR - (iEE
trading; or (iii) it is designated as at FVTPL. AIRBRAREFAER  BSEAR

BARERABZZESRAR

o

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if: CREEESBRFEHEER M

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of e RABABHNEEARNE
repurchasing it in the near term; or i B9

e on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified s RUNBRAREASAREEHKFA
financial instruments that the Group manages together EEMEHN e TANKE
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit- Ha—wo kEBREERNA
taking; or MHEAEERER 5

e itis a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial o HAUTEIHR KRIIFZTETL
guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging ARVBERGRANEERE
instrument. MERTH o
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FEFIHEE#E)

(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued) EMITEE)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued) cHEEREETAE)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued) AR EFAER 2 EE(E)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for REFEEZeRBEANEBLS

trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business HHWEE 2 ARBUIINZ 2R

combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial BE TRVBERRBEERRRD

recognition if: REFABERZEHEAE W

e such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a o EETEBEHNBEER DG
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would EYEROT—B(SZAEH
otherwise arise; or )5 sk

e the financial liability forms part of a group of financial e THABERKEESMEE
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed TRBBEARIARRE 2 —
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in o BIRIEBEAEE S E 2R
accordance with the Group’s documented risk management RERNIRERE » MIRZE
or investment strategy, and information about the EAIREABBEARNEREE
grouping is provided internally on that basis; or B REKRBEAABEEERN

fir 3

e it forms part of a contract containing one or more e HEK—HBEE —EBXZIE
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9/HKAS 39 permits the HETEITEMNEHN 2 —H
entire combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL. S REBMBREERE9

S BRI B REEREIN
EAMBEHENEERER
fEFF AR -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Upon application of HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are
designated as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value
of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit
risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to retained profits upon derecognition of the

financial liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

Prior to application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018, financial
liabilities designated at FVTPL are stated at fair value, with any
gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
includes any interest paid on the financial liability and is

included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when
derivative contracts are entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting

period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on internal credit
ratings as groupings of various debtors that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is based on the Group's historical
default rates taking into consideration of forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in
the forward-looking information are considered. In addition,
trade receivables with significant balances and credit impaired

are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables

are disclosed in notes 23 and 35(ii).
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 December 2018, a deferred tax asset in relation to
unused tax losses of approximately HK$137,000,000 (2017:
HK$125,000,000) was not recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred tax asset
mainly depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the expectation for future profit streams changes, a
recognition of deferred tax assets may arise, which would be
recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a

recognition takes place.

As at 31 December 2018, except for certain profits of the
group companies in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
and Socialist Republic of Vietnam (“Vietnam”) arising from
2017 and 2018, no further deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised on the undistributed profits of the group companies
in the PRC after 2008 as the Group plans to retain those profits
in the respective entities for their daily operations and future
developments. In case there is a change in such plan, additional
tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised in the profit or
loss for the period in which the management intends to declare
such profits in the foreseeable future or the Group’s future
development plan is amended, whichever is earlier. Details of

the above unrecognised liabilities are set out in note 31.
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5. REVENUE 5. WA
A. For the year ended 31 December 2018 A. BZE2018F12A31HLFE
(i)  Disaggregation of revenue from contracts (i) REBEPEHBWADHT

with customers

Packaging Tissue
Paper Pulp paper Total
BEHK VN LR &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TAR TAR ThR

Types of goods EmERl
Sales of packaging paper HEBEL

(including linerboard and (PR T

corrugating medium) REBGH) 27,156,142 — 27,156,142
Sales of pulp HERS = = 3,959
Sales of tissue paper HEREM — 5,047,981 5,047,981

27,156,142 5,047,981 32,208,082

Timing of revenue recognition W ATER 2 B
A point in time — R 27,156,142 5,047,081 32,208,082
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

5. REVENUE (conmivuep) 5. WA#)
A. For the year ended 31 December 2018 A. BZE2018F12A31HLFE
(Continued) (#&)
(i) Performance obligations for contracts with (i) BPAEHNBROER

customers
The Group sells packaging paper, pulp and tissue

paper directly to customers.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been
delivered to the specific location (delivery) as agreed
in the sales contracts. Following delivery, the
customer has full discretion over the manner of
distribution and price to sell the goods, has the
primary responsibility when on selling the goods
and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in
relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 45

to 90 days upon delivery.

B. For the year ended 31 December 2017

AEBERATPHER
R REMBEER -

EEVMEEXEHEAR
W€ M T 25 B ST
HIEEER  FREAR
A BEREWE BFE
AEREXRESHRERE
LEEY  BEHEEY
RAFAEEYRERIBELR
Efe o —RIEEHAMNE
1%45%90K

B. EZ2017F12831HLEE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from the year is as REBRFANZWAD T
follows: Nk
HK$'000
FHT
Revenue analysed by revenue from: BN IR 2 WA HT
Sales of packaging paper (including HE B
linerboard and corrugating medium) (B IEF T4 R ELAS AL ) 23,102,581
Sales of pulp 5 AR AR 15,593
Sales of tissue paper SHE B HER 2,718,710
25,836,884
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DEHEHR

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LT AREBEESMBEMEEANES

by operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 FEEDHEAERIZLLE RAR

Operating Segments, based on information reported to the EDEHRAREEN DT - WA

Company's executive directors, being the chief operating RNAIMITES I ELEREKE

decision maker (the “CODM"), for the purposes of resource (TFE2RERXENDNERERIE

allocation and assessment of segment performance, which MFEDBRAMEF2ER + &

focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group’s operating PRAIRZRNEDZ R - REER

and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments BB IEREER BT —KLE DI

are as follows: BT ZEERAMEDBEINMT

(i)  Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard, () BEA-FHE BHEFR
coated duplex board, white top linerboard and high o 2mMARE - BEFER
strength corrugating medium; K =58 FLAB 4K

(i) Pulp; and (i) KRR

(iiiy  Tissue paper. (ill) FAELH -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Segment revenues and results DEM AR X &
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LT AEREERARESHE D 2
by operating and reportable segments: REBWRAREEDT -
Year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31HLFE

Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total Eliminations Consolidated
BRE K BEE  oWEF E3 &®a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR T TR TR

REVENUE ON
External sales HoNEE 27,156,142 3,959 5,047,981 32,208,082 — 32,208,082
Inter-segment sales NE 2 FEEE — 1,189,078 — 1,189,078  (1,189,078) -
27,156,142 1,193,037 5,047,981 33,397,160  (1,189,078) 32,208,082
SEGMENT PROFIT IBEA 5,455,810 840,108 6,296,816 — 6,296,816

Net gain from fairvalue T4 ¢ &8I A
changes of derivative AREZE

finandial instruments Fias 2,638
Unallocated income AOBEZBA 250,802
Unallocated expenses KOBEZETH (103,312)
Finance costs B RA (319,612)

Profit before tax %%t Al & A 6,127,332
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueD) 6. DEPER(E)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEUWMAREE(E
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZE2017F128318LLFE
Packaging Tissue Segment
paper Pulp paper total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEM REE BER  AFAES H4H e

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAL TAL T TR TAT TAT

REVENUE /9N
External sales HINEE 23,102,581 15,593 2,718,710 25,836,884 — 25,836,884
Inter-segment sales DEEEE — 915,936 516 916,452 (916,452) —
23,102,581 931,529 2,719,226 26,753,336 (916,452) 25,836,884
SEGMENT PROFIT PHEF 6,039,601 3,126 515,002 6,557,729 — 6,557,729

Net gain from fairvalue  $T4 4 @I A
changes of derivative ARELE

financial instruments Ezs 9,960
Unallocated income AOBEZKA 84,071
Unallocated expenses A2 2 31 (143,274)
Finance costs BT FE K AR (185,311)
Profit before tax BRIR A1 &7 6,323,175
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the D2 G ET IR B3 AT
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. ZEAEEGHERE K DHAF
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment EEDEFTRENAT - i & B
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of RETESBHMITAARBEEEFW
derivative financial instruments, rental income, interest income, @mo HeHRA - FEWA - ERFE
net exchange gain (loss), finance costs and other unallocated Was (EE)  MBRAREMERD
administrative expenses. This is the measure reported to the BRITERER - WM EELEREK
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance EERBRDERKXBAMEME W
assessment. ZETEHE o
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. S EEETNRRITHISERE

o .
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conminueD) 6. DEEFR(#E)
THEERAE

AT RBEAIREDHBE D 2 AKHE
BERBEDN

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable segments:

Packaging Tissue

paper Pulp paper Consolidated
B A EEH me
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TERT TERT

As at 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A31H
Segment assets NEEE 31,024,497 2,031,539 7,708,849 40,764,885
Unallocated assets ANz EE 2,011,943
Consolidated total assets REREE 42,776,828
Segment liabilities DEEE 1,654,893 1,757,562
Unallocated liabilities AOBEZEE 17,873,415
Consolidated total liabilities ewaE 19,630,977

Packaging Tissue

paper Pulp paper  Consolidated
[ N K N
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET

As at 31 December 2017 R2017%12831H
Segment assets DEWEE 32,086,459 1,892,725 6,295,886 40,275,070
Unallocated assets Koz BE 3,014,723
Consolidated total assets AR EE 43,289,793
Segment liabilities HEEE 2,834,924 20,369 288,451 3,143,744
Unallocated liabilities KRBz BE 18,229,931
Consolidated total liabilities neraE 21,373,675
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) DTHMEEREEE)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDBRREERSHBEIBEE
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated R FBEEASETRED (K
to operating segments other than investment properties, B TESBIA - RITER
derivative financial instruments, bank balances and cash and kBekBarAREs A LEMAZ
other assets used jointly by reportable segments, and all HMEERIIN ARFEAESESE
liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than TRED>B(TESMITA - BN
derivative financial instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings, WMIEETEE REMEAEGBK
deferred tax liabilities and other liabilities for which reportable AmESMBHRAEN 2 EMEER
segments are jointly liable. Hh) e
Other segment information Hith 5 ZBE H

Packaging
paper paper Consolidated
BHEEK ¥ BEE o)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
At 31 December 2018 R2018512A31H
Amounts included in the TENPIERK
measure of segment profit DEEEBE
or loss or segment assets: LWT&%E:

Addition to non-current assets  3ERE)E E I N

(note) (M) 1,677,541 102,941 564,727 2,345,209
Depreciation of property, mE - BER

plant and equipment BETE 996,617 78,651 191,735 1,267,003
Loss on disposal of property,  HEWME - BE &

plant and equipment BB EE 10,731 44 10,777
Amortisation of prepaid B ERE

lease payments B3 17,359 21,692
Impairment loss recognised R 1B TR 2 ek

(reversed) in profit or loss B 5EFRE

on trade receivables ER(E#) 69,000 67,938
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 6. DEER#E)
Other segment information (Continued) Hith oy BBER(Z)
Packaging Tissue
paper Pulp paper  Consolidated
BEK R BHK Ne)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
At 31 December 2017 M2017€612A831H
Amounts included in the STENEBEK
measure of segment profit DHEERLE
or loss or segment assets: TS5 :

Addition to non-current assets  3ERE)E E I N

(note) (PH3E) 1,712,218 60,348 1,757,586 3,530,152
Depreciation of property, ESN =5
plant and equipment HEETTE 981,785 21,003 93,116 1,095,904
Loss on disposal of property,  HEME - BiRE &
plant and equipment Bt E-| 6,678 — 404 7,082
Amortisation of prepaid BAHEERE
lease payments b 17,306 58 1,740 19,104
Impairment loss recognised REZERZER
(reversed) in profit or loss E5RIRE
on trade receivables 518 ([E#) 1,835 — (4,995) (3,160)
Note: Amounts included additions to property, plant and equipment, prepaid Mish : @BEBREMLYE  BER&KE BN
lease payments and deposits paid for acquisition of property, plant and HERERBEYME - BFE RRET
equipment. HEa
No other amounts are regularly provided to the CODM but not MEAMSBIOIEHRRETEEL
included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment ERREMUMBEELETEDFE
assets. W DEEENSER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Revenue from major products REFTEEMHBA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its LNTAREEREFEZEERHEA
major products: AT

2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$"000
FEx TR

Packaging paper (including linerboard £ 2 4%

and corrugating medium) (BIRFEHR R RIF ) 27,156,142 23,102,581
Pulp AR 3,959 15,593
Tissue paper BEMR 5,047,981 2,718,710

32,208,082 25,836,884

Geographical information I & R

Over 96% (2017: 92%) of the Group's revenue were derived KEEZWAFEBIC% (20174 -
from external customers in the PRC. 92% ) KRB EIINBE ©
Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented REBFRBEEEN NDIREEM
based on the geographical location of the assets. EHL 231 -

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
The PRC other than Hong Kong FE - BB 27,132,105 27,080,950
Vietnam e 2,349,426 2,128,625
Hong Kong 5 15,234 17,394

29,496,765 29,226,969
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinUED) 6. DEPER(#)
Information about major customers FRIEREFZER
None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AEk FHIRERRNTEAEER
Group's total revenue for the current and prior reporting PEAEEBUAEIRI0% °
period.
7. OTHER INCOME 7. HAyg A
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Value added tax and other tax refund HETR R AR 632,990 479,460
Income from supply of steam and HEZRARBEABA
electricity 30,678 53,721
Income from wharf cargo handling EISIEEBIRA 19,446 54,100
Sales of materials and waste paper Mkl RE AR EE 65,130 43,518
Interest income from banks IRITFBUA 20,584 11,957
Others Hh 246,281 148,915

1,015,109 791,671
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON TRADE 8. MEWEZRFBEEE KR
RECEIVABLES, NET OF REVERSAL =] %)
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAT
Impairment losses (recognised) WA E (7R B #

reversed on:

— Trade receivables —EWE 5 RRK (67,938) 3,160
Details of impairment assessment for the year ended 31 HZE2018F12A31HIEFEZRE
December 2018 are set out in note 35(ii). BREES NG EE RN

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 9. HttKEZmKREE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBERT FATT
Net foreign exchange gain (loss) VHEH s (E18) 98,178 (75,459)
Net gain from fair value changes of PTESBMIEAR

derivative financial instruments B FE R 2,638 9,960
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - WERE&E

plant and equipment ) %= (10,777) (7,082)

90,039 (72,581)
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B 5 R AR

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET

10. FINANCE COSTS 10.
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEFE
Less: amounts capitalised to property, BE WE - BER
plant and equipment BB ERLEE

389,125 297,578

(69,513) (112,267)

319,612 185,311

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose from the
general borrowings and are calculated by applying a
capitalisation rate ranging from 2.43% to0 3.10% (2017: 2.34%

t0 2.94%) per annum to expenditures on qualifying assets.

FRAZERCEERRTIR —RIE
BEdhELY WUABKREEMRS
ZEBRLFERER243% E3.1%
(20174 : H2.34% £2.94% ) &t

st

E_ o
BB X
2018 2017

HK$°000 HK$°000
TRERT TR

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11.
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: RERAER 2GR
Current tax REATRIE

- The PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") — B ERER
([REMER])
— PRC withholding tax on dividend —DIRRBZ
distribution PRI TE IR

884,183 913,361

153,820 —

Under (over) provision in previous year EFRR(BEE)BE

—The PRC EIT — B EMEH
Deferred tax (note 31) EIERTE(KI5E31)
— Charge to profit or loss —FrAB&=E

1,038,003 913,361

732 (910)

208,377 370,432

Total income tax recognised in profit or loss A B2 AR 2 48 FI15 5

1,247,112 1,282,883
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

11.

170

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED)

The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

the PRC

The Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to corporate
income tax at the rate of 25% except that six (2017: five) of
these subsidiaries are entitled to preferential rate of 15% for

the Group’s financial year ended 31 December 2018.

Hong Kong

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved
upon implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
as insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuED) 1. MEBXH#E)

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a rate of 10%. They are entitled to a corporate
income tax exemption for four years from the first profit-
making year and a reduction of 50% for the following nine
years. No provision for Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has
been made for both years as the Vietnam subsidiaries entitled

tax exemption for both years.

Others

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

BT

R PP B 2~ AR 4% 55 58/99/M 5 VA
SRMA - B ER R HRNRPIHE
EHRORFIMER)  ATEREAE
STHEERAAMNFRRPIARL QR
HEEm e

4]

7 7 B B8 2 B 242 10 % B R U B
MEEMEHR HEABEEMEEL
BNFEEFNFERREEMEG
BN BERNES0% MR - AR
ff 8 A BR M EFESE A HE
% MYBOMEFERMEMED
ESHEE -

Ht

Hih BAE &R E L /B ERZ (@
RIREESRER ZHERHE -
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11.

172

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTiNUED) 1. MEBZE#)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit FAH R EIR &

before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income as follows:

Profit before tax R 56 AT & T
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25% JERME25%
(2017: 25%) (note) (20174 : 25%) (M &)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TR0 2 Y
for tax purpose Gk
Tax effect of income not taxable BARTHKAD
for tax purpose Gk
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERBEEBRNREEE
Effect of tax exemption granted to R R B A A
Macau and Vietnam subsidiaries BHREHTHTE
Effect of concessionary rates granted to R B B A B
the PRC subsidiaries EEIERHE E’J%;
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7 E fth 7% 4E (= &8 I B
operating in other jurisdictions NEINARAMENTE
Under (over) provision in previous years BAFENE(BE)BE
Tax charge for the year FRMBRX

Note: This represents the domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a

substantial portion of the Group’s operation is based.
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TERT
6,127,332

1,531,833

163,134

(25,314)
17,969

(101,366)

(308,148)

(31,728)
732

1,247,112
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.
ma

BakE
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2017

HK$'000

TAET

6,323,175

1,580,794

97,456

(6,652)
2,498

(60,267)

(364,100)

34,064
(910)

1,282,883
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018412H31H IF F/Z

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 12. FE&A

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FTAT

Profit for the year has been arrived at after FEZEFENG (5T A) ¢
charging (crediting):

Directors’ emoluments (note 13) EEME (FIFE13) 38,050 37,894
Staff salaries and other benefits, BTIHS LEMBAH -

excluding those of directors TRIEES 1,183,240 1,158,979
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREMF SR

schemes, excluding those of directors TBREFEES 82,120 58,545
Total employee benefit expense EERMAZ A% 1,303,410 1,255,418
Capitalised in inventories EFEAXR (CYEWED)) (722,162)

388,180 533,256

Auditors’ remuneration Z B RN Bl &

— Audit services — Z RS 7,866 7,826

— Non-audit services — JEZ B AR TS 1,082 863
Cost of inventories recognised as expense  FE R AR A& 24,699,596 18,324,030
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments TE AR E IR 21,692 19,104
Depreciation of property, mE - BER

plant and equipment REE 1,267,003 1,095,904
Depreciation of investment properties REMENE 22,314 13,467
Total depreciation and amortisation e R tH AR 1,311,009 1,128,475
Capitalised in inventories EFERE (1,172,264) (1,003,011)

138,745 125,464

Operating lease rentals in respect of T RIEFH

land and buildings wEHEMS 35,076 14,763
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018412H31H IF F/Z

12. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (conTinuED) 12. FEBRF &)
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Gross rental income from wEMEZ
investment properties HEaUlA (28,097) (21,828)
Less: Vo
— direct operating expenses incurred for —FRNEEHRSKARN
investment properties that generated WEMEZ
rental income during the year HEREERY 21
— direct operating expenses incurred for —FRIEEERSRAD
investment properties that did not REWMEZ
generate rental income during the year HEEERY 454
(21,163)
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

13. DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EENEFHITEMS
OFFICER’'S EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer's remuneration for the FRNEEREENTENHSBRIE
year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and HALTMARNRARGHHEEAT

Companies Ordinance, were as follows:

Other emoluments
Hinif <

Contributions

Salaries to retirement

and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees HER BRANEF Total
ok HA g R TEIHER Ch
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
2018 20184
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond FNEEL 16,500 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun e
(Chief Executive Officer) (BE#HTE) 14,988 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross FRERE 2,983 3,700
Non-executive director FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong BERIHER

Independent non-executive directors B HHITEE

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIRLE
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Davies7t &
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David BAER L E
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13. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 13. EENERAHATEMES (&)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTiNUED)

Other emoluments
Hidi &
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefit
benefits schemes
Fees Hek RIKER Total
ik HitEh AHEIB Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT FHx THT
2017 2017F
Executive directors HITEE
Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond EXEEL 16,500 — - 16,500
Mr. Lee Man Bun e Tt
(Chief Executive Officer) (BEHTE) 14,988 1,512 — 16,500
Mr. Li King Wai Ross PRBEE 2,983 717 — 3,700
Non-executive director FHITEE
Professor Poon Chung Kwong ERIHRKR — — — —

Independent non-executive directors B HHITEE

Mr. Wong Kai Tung Tony FRRAE 398 — - 398
Mr. Peter A. Davies Peter A. Daviest & 398 — — 398
Mr. Chau Shing Yim David Bt 398 — — 398
35,665 2,229 — 37,894
The executive directors’, non-executive directors’ and FMMITES ERTEERBEYL
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown FATEEF2HMEFTELS T MM
above were mainly for their services in connection with the AABARB RAEHEEEBE R
management of the affairs of the Company and the Group and ERARRIEENRB 2MS -

for their services as directors of the Company respectively.
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13. DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (conTinuED)

Dr. Lee Man Chun Raymond is also the Chairman of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the Chairman.

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any
emoluments during these periods.

14. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 14.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, three (2017: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note
13. The aggregate emoluments of the five highest paid
individuals, including directors, were as follows:

. EZREFITENS (@)

FXERELFAARRABEFE - £t
BEMEBEREERSTEMEMR
M ERF 2 B o

HZE2018F 2017912 A318 1k
FE AEEBVEINEEHME T
EEERFHEEMAIMALEER
BHRAREEMAELHE - ZFH
M EERZESNEMNS -

FfuBRESHME AL

rEEBZaEMEzAMAL  Ef
=H(2017F : =ML AR ARRESR
MEMSERMEI13HE - Afi&k
=SHeAB(BREES)ZETHE
W

He hHEAMET
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 3 K48 F 5+ 2 { 2%

Salaries and other benefits

The emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$16,000,001 to HK$16,500,000

1,500,001/ 7T %2,000,000/% 7T
2,000,001 7 %2,500,000/8 7T
2,500,001/ 7 %3,000,000/8 7T
3,500,00178 7£%4,000,00078 7T
16,000,001 7L E 16,500,000/ 7T

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FA
41,695 41,117
18 18
41,135

Bl& T F TR
2018 2017
No. of No. of
employee employee
BT AH BT A
— 1
1
1
2
5
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15.

16.

178

DIVIDENDS

15.

2

Dividends recognised as distribution: REDKZBRE
Final dividend of HK$0.20 in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2017
(2017: final dividend of HK$0.11 in
respect of the year ended
31 December 2016) per share 0.11%87T)
Interim dividend of HK$0.20 in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2018
(2017: interim dividend of HK$0.17
in respect of the year ended

31 December 2017) per share 0.17%87T)

HE2017F12831BIEEE
Z AR B ERR0. 2078 T
(20174 : H=20165F 128
BTHIEFE 2 RBREGR

HZE2018F12A31HIEFE
Z R B EAR0.20% T
(20174 : H=2017%F12A8
3THIEFE 2FEREGR

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TET
892,153 496,830
883,951 767,829
1,776,104 1,264,659

A final dividend of HK$0.15 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: final dividend of HK$0.20 per
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2017) has
been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the earnings per share is based on the profit
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$4,880,206,000 (2017: HK$5,040,292,000) and weighted
average number of 4,439,977,907 (2017: 4,521,700,282)
shares in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share in both years was presented as
there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during
both years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y13 - BERRZRE
Furniture,
fixturesand Motor
Computer equipment Leasehold vehicles Plantand  Construction
Buildings system & EE  improvements andyacht machinery inprogress Total
gr EMAE  KERRE  BENERE RERER  BERES HEIR At
HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL FhL TERL TET TER TERL TR FhL
cost RA&
At 1 January 2017 201761818 5178229 46,565 904,257 499,364 128,678 18,105,535 5,503,406 30,366,034
Exchange realignment ERERNAS 253,191 2,164 38,959 23313 3,493 893,835 144,482 1,359,437
Additions HE 83,098 1,235 6,741 697 546 139,422 3,251,260 3,482,999
Transfers B 1,223,658 2,514 92,282 4,589 14,356 2,805,041 (4,142,440) -
Transfer to investment BRERENE
properties (Note 19) (Fiz£19) (33373) — — — — — (145,927) (179,300)
Transfer to prepaid BRZEAEE
lease payments oIE — — — — — — (39,291) (39,291)
Disposals/written off e/ HE (38,704) (137) (1,739) (1433) (7.410) (15,213) (47,517) (112,153)
At 31 December 2017 2017F 128318 6,606,099 52,341 1,040,500 526,530 139,663 21,928,620 4,523,973 34,877,726
Exchange realignment EREHNAR (278,269) 2,413 (31,971) (21,885) (2,983) (572,437) (38,456) (948,414)
Additions HE 49,705 589 11,185 4723 2,97 286,504 1,622,646 1,978,323
Transfers By 603,277 9,481 21,949 24,679 8616 2,565,948 (3,233,950) -
Transfer toinvestment ~ EEZRENE
properties (Note 19) (H3E19) - - — — — - (52,926) (52,926)
Transfer to prepaid BREEARE
lease payments FES — — — — — — (5,799) (5,799)
Disposals/written off e/ HE - - (6,359) (2,078) (15,239) (55,780) - (79,456)
At 31 December 2018 2018124318 7,040,812 59,998 1,035,304 531,969 133,028 24,152,855 2,815,488 35,769,454
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2017 201781818 1,461,106 36,128 408,750 227,361 46,824 3,873,640 — 6,053,809
Exchange realignment EREHHEA 73,834 743 20,525 11,090 1,883 193,607 — 301,682
Provided for the year FREE 272,683 6,848 84,663 25,878 13,575 692,257 — 1,095,904
Eliminated on disposals/ & /HERE
written off Hi (15,643) — (1,339 (722) (6,167) (8,653) — (32,524)
At 31 December 2017 2017F12A318 1,791,980 43719 512,599 263,607 56,115 4,750,851 — 7,418,871
Exchange realignment 3 EHEA (81,031) (996) (19212) (11,375) (1,802) (216,368) - (330,784)
Provided for the year FRER 323,556 6,324 21,066 27,431 8,389 880,237 - 1,267,003
Eliminated on disposals/ % /#BEe
written off g - — (5.774) (2,069) (3,407) (18,385) — (29,635)
At 31 December 2018 2018%12A31H 2,034,505 49,047 508,679 277,594 59,295 5,396,335 — 8,325,455
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 December 2018 2018%12A318 5,006,307 10,951 526,625 254,375 73,733 18,756,520 2,815,488 27,443,999
At 31 December 2017 20174128318 4874119 8,622 527,901 262,923 83,548 17,177,769 4,523,973 27,458,855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

180

notes:

0]

(i)

(iif)

(iv)
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The above buildings of the Group represent buildings on land under
medium-term lease in the PRC.

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on land in the PRC with
respect to which the Group has not been granted formal title of
ownership. At 31 December 2018, the carrying value of such buildings
was HK$1,985,043,000 (2017: HK$1,356,794,000). In the opinion of
directors, the absence of formal title to these buildings does not impair
the value of the relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land use rights and
the probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of formal
title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title of these
buildings will be granted to the Group in due course.

As disclosed in notes 36 and 41, certain portions of the buildings have
been leased to a related party. These buildings were not reclassified as
investment properties as the leased portions are insignificant.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant and
equipment other than construction in progress over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using
the straight-line method, at the following rates per annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of

lease, or 20 to 50 years
Computer system 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Leasehold improvements 5% —15%
Motor vehicles and yacht 5% - 20%

Plant and machinery 3'3% - 20%

17. ¥ - BERKE &)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

btz AEERFHRTEPHEEL

Ho b2 BT o

SEEETEFERMARTEER
FRXEARZFPE L E - K2018
F12R8318 wEBFZEEE
% 1,985,043,000 & JT ( 2017 &
1,356,794,000/7T) - EER A KR
ZERBFIABERTTEEEEEM
EEFEE BAAEEEXNRBH
BEZEIMERAREZRERARRE
XEBENIEAmMEE LS =M
TEM EEFEEETARKRERE
BRFHZEFEFZEXEAE -

MKt EE36 R4 Pt - BFEFE T E
DEMF—HEAL - ARAELHM
TRE ZEBFUIRIEREED
%o

BREZIRIN W% - BEREREE
N EFAGT RS EER - REFAIREY
LA E A FHRITE A MUE B AR - R
T

gF AEREEE
5 20Z504F
EFEES 10%
R, EEEE REE 20%
HEMEEE 5%-15%
VR R 5%-20%
[ R eg 3'5%-20%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 18. FAENHERIE
The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold land AEEENFHEHEFRAREHRHHEE
held under medium-term leases located in: HTRZHEEI AR

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

The PRC s 908,880 906,207
Vietnam B 49,874 51,984

958,754 958,191
Analysed for reporting purposes as: AREREMIEZ D -
Non-current asset FERBDEE 937,107 936,881
Current asset RENE E 21,647 21,310
958,754 958,191
As at 31 December 2018, the carrying value of land use rights 2018F 12 A31H » £EKER
in respect of which the Group had not been granted formal TEXEEE 2 T HERECZERR
title of ownership was HK$66,172,000 (2017: HK$179,615,000). 8 & 66,172,000 7% 7t (2017 F
In the opinion of the directors, the absence of formal title to 179,615,000/ 7T) - EER AKX
these land use rights does not impair the value of the relevant hETHHFEREIXNEERELTE
properties to the Group as the Group has paid substantially the BEEEEEYMEXERE BAEAE
full purchase consideration of these land use rights and the BEEXNAT»BEZE LHMER
probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of BoRERARRENES R
formal title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title BR T 4 (B + b ) #E & = T B o
to these land use rights will be granted to the Group in due EENMHEETAKBREEGER
course. THRETMERREXEBRE -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 19. BEWZ
HK$'000
FAET

COST B A
At 1 January 2017 R2017F 1418 373,907
Transfer from property, plant and equipment B B % « BE L& E 179,300
Additions NE 21,741
Exchange realignment ENEFHEE 23,106
At 31 December 2017 M2017%F12A31H 598,054
Transfer from property, plant and equipment EEBEEAME  BERE 52,926
Additions NE 4,355
Exchange realignment [EREHEE (26,215)
At 31 December 2018 720184128318 629,120
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 January 2017 M2017F1A1H 2,498
Provided for the year FE R R 13,467
Exchange realignment ENEHHEE 487
At 31 December 2017 M2017%F12A31H 16,452
Provided for the year FREAE 22,314
Exchange realignment R EHAEE (1,649)
At 31 December 2018 20184 12H31H 37,117
CARRYING VALUE fREE
At 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A31H 592,003
At 31 December 2017 M2017%F12A31H 581,602

During the year ended 31 December 2018, certain property,

plant and equipment situated in PRC with carrying amounts of
HK$52,926,000 (2017: HK$179,300,000) was transferred to
investment properties as the management had changed the use

of the properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

19.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTinuED)

The fair value of the Group’s commercial properties at 31
December 2018 was HK$142,298,000 (31 December 2017:
HK$147,700,000). The fair value of the commercial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE S
MEME T EETEERAR (2017: EERFIEME T
BEFEAMRAR), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the market
comparable approach, with reference to recent market prices
for similar properties in similar locations and conditions, where

appropriate.

The fair value of the Group’s industrial properties at 31
December 2018 was HK$475,926,000 (31 December 2017:
HK$465,746,000). The fair value of the industrial properties
has been arrived at based on a valuation carried out by EE S
MEME T EETEBER AR (2017: EERFIEME T
BEFEAMRAT), an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected with the Group using the income
capitalisation approach by reference to the market rentals of all
lettable properties and capitalisation rate observed by the
valuer for the similar properties in the locality and adjusted
based on the valuer's knowledge of the factors specific to the

respective properties.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the

highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

19. BREWHE (%)

AEERNEEMENR2018F 12 A
3182 AR EA142,298,0007% 7T
(2017512 A318 : 147,700,000
BIT) o FEME AR EREER
CSEEBEZBUAEREEME
MEEMMNEHE THEEFES
PRAGF(2017F : EERFIEHE

THEEFEERAR)  EHHIHHT
BEAZ2ERREMENIULE &

AR (M58 PR ) 2 3T B T 35 (B AR 1F
ZfEESH -

AEERITEMENR2018F 12 A
31822 EA475,926,0007% T
(2017512 A31H8 : 465,746,000
BIT) c TEWMEZ AR BREBER
CEEERECBUAEREEMBE
MEEMMNEHE THWEEFGS
PRAGF(2017F : EERFIE HE
THEEFHEBRAR) - REE
SEWEREMEmMBILEDE
WmisHe REBEMB2EMMNE
MR W RBHEMEEENER
EERABRAFEL A ERRIELDNM
BRFE -

REEFHRENRZAAER - B
MEZEERBEEREREB A
;@ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018412H31H IF F/Z

19. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTINUED)

Details of the Group's investment properties and information

about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2018 and

2017 are as follows:

19. BREWHE (%)

M20184 %2017 128318 » K&
EEREVEFBRARBERRZ
BEERFEMWNT

Fair value Valuation Relationship of unobservable
Category hierarchy Fair value Carrying value Technique Key unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
<)) DRERR DE fREE HEAR TETTEREKE FABRREUA LB BE
2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TR T
Commercial ~ Level 3 142,298 147,700 141,116 146,927  Market comparable ~ Transaction prices for similar  An increase/decrease in the
properties 38} approach properties after accounting for market transaction prices for
mENE LB floor areas and floor level - similar properties would
Renminbi (“RMB") 65,000 per result in an increase/decrease
square meter in fair value and vice versa.
AENESHREARERE REVETERSEREN/
BZRHBR-FHKA HOERESIRDAEEM
RE(TAR%1)65,0007 JRY - RZIR
Industrial Level 3 475,926 465,746 450,887 434,675  Income capitalisation Capitalisation rate of 3% to 5% The fair values of the Group’s
properties  34% approach BRMEER3%E% industrial properties are
T¥9% Yoz % inversely related to

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.
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Monthly rent of RMB3.30 to
RMB12.00 per square meter
per month

GRAEEABTIAARY
3.30L£12.00T
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capitalisation rates which
were determined by
prevailing market
transactions, conditions and
expectations.

AEEIENERABEER
EERR LY - BARCRRIER
ARBATHRS AR
ke

In addition, increase in fair value
of industrial properties is also
attributable to the increase in
market rental during the year.

WS - TEMED R BN
NEERERTHE RS
m

FRALELAEBAKE T E34



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

19.

20.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (conTINUED) 19. REWHE (&)
2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
The Group's investment properties REBREYEDLE
comprise:
Investment properties located in: HEMELR -

The PRC s 592,003 581,602
The above investment properties are depreciated on a straight- TR EMEREGEERRET
line basis at the following rates per annum: E FEkpT
Buildings Over the shorter of the term BF HEREE -

of lease of 10 years, 1055 20E504F
or 20-50 years
DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 20. BEYE - BHERRXRER L

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment are disclosed
in note 37.

i AR &

eI RASE AT HEERE
mMEBENWE - BEREZERLTH
FTHEMNS BEWE BEX
BEEBEAERM 37 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018412H31H IF F/Z

21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21, EELERES
2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cost of an unlisted investment in REELEY
joint venture RNETREKAR —
Exchange realignment &R EHMAEE —
Share of profit and other JE 1 2 ) 2 E
comprehensive income 2HEKE —
Loan to a joint venture (note ii) AEPEERM )
— current — R E 55,792 36,890
- non-current —FERE 98,343 97,453

154,135 134,343
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

21. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (continuED) 21. EELERER(#)
notes: Bt
(i) Details of the Group’s joint venture and its subsidiary at the end of the (i) RRERRNEE 2L RERENE
reporting periods are as follows: NAFENAT ¢
Issued and
Name of joint venture Place of fully paid share capital/ Proportion of issued and fully
and its subsidiary Form of incorporation and  registered capital paid up capital held by the Group
RELER entity operations BRTRERRE/ FEEEEERTR Principal activity
EHEARER {7 RYREELE HER BERALA TEER
Directly Indirectly
Ei E# 3 3
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %
Joint venture:
RERE:
Southern Hill Company Limited Limited incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary shares — HKS$2 50 —  Investment holding
EL 2N BRAFRL 3 ERR-2ET REER
Its wholly-owned subsidiary:
H2ERENERR:
HERXMRERAR Limited incorporated ~ The PRC Registered capital - 50 Provision of port faciliies
(Ruichang Lee & Man ARAANL TE — US$12,000,000 REEARNE
Logistics Company Limited) HHER
~12,000,000%7C
(ii) The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed term of (ii) & B E A R% 49,376,000 7T (FHE R
repayment and provided to a joint venture in the form of a shareholder’s #955,792,0007% 7t ) Jh & & F F F F
loan and forms part of the net investment in the joint venture, except for 3.8%FH B RAMR2018F 12 A31HEN
an amount of RMB49,376,000 (equivalent to approximately Hh - ZERTDEER 2OREETER
HK$55,792,000) which carries interest at the fixed rate of 3.8% per FE - WARREREARHRERK RE
annum, and was repayable on 31 December 2018. Pursuant a subsequent EREFREN D c BREEENRH
supplemental agreement, the maturity date of the aforesaid interest FiHaE - RS SER B BEEER
bearing loan has been extended to 31 December 2020. Z2020%12H31H -
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

22. INVENTORIES 22. 7€

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Raw materials B 3,610,014 3,602,795
Finished goods 2K M 1,276,332 1,351,524

4,886,346 4,954,319

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. BWE 5 R HE MR

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Trade receivables U E Z BRI 3,143,965 3,130,522
Less: allowance for credit losses o EEEERE (84,973) (17,034)

3,058,992 3,113,488
Bills receivables TEINE 1,093,681 1,542,662

4,152,673 4,656,150

Prepayments and deposits for BE RAENRIE
purchase of raw materials kil & 551,886 845,540
Other deposits and prepayments HibzT® MFEf 08 193,939 152,023
Value-added tax receivables FE W 32 (8 5 1B 595,667 838,616
Other receivables JRE L L Ath BR 53R 462,814 283,499
5,956,979 6,775,828
As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018, trade receivables M2018F 12 A31H k201841 A
from contracts with customers amounted to 1H RERFAEYNENVRESE
HK$3,058,992,000 and HK$3,113,488,000, respectively. 9 Bl A& 3,058,992,000 78 T &

3,113,488,000/8 7T °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continueD)

notes:

(U]

(ii)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits. Credit sales are
made to customers with a satisfactory and trustworthy credit history.
Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed regularly. The Group
allows its customers an average credit period of 45 to 90 days. The
following is an aged analysis of trade and bills receivables presented
based on the invoice date.

23. ERESZ R HEMERK (2)

B EE
)

AEBEREREAFELA - SFEZ
BEEZEFPNEELEENRAETEEFEER
B EEHENGHLETERLTHRIFN
BEF  BEPEERBEEHMTURY - K
KRERTEFPNTHEERRISHE
90R - LT RIZERAMEINZ BKE
ZREBRRNRED

Aged: ARES -
Not exceeding 30 days B30 H
31-60 days 31-60H
61-90 days 61-90H
91-120 days 91-120H
Over 120 days 12084 k&

As at 31 December 2018, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$44,592,000 which are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the
past due balances, HK$17,667,000 has been past due 90 days or more
and is not considered as in default as the Group considered such balances
could be recovered based on repayment history, the financial conditions
and the current credit worthiness of each customers. Other than bills
received, the Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of HK$4,584,221,000 that are
neither past due nor impaired have good credit quality with reference to
the track record of these customers under internal assessment by the
Group.

As at 31 December 2018, the trade receivables of an aggregate carrying
amount of HK$733,280,000 (2017: HK$722,973,000) was secured by
customers’ property interests and machinery being held as collateral.

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s trade receivable
balances are debtors with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$71,929,000 which were past due at the reporting date but for which
the Group has not provided for impairment loss as the Group considered
such balances could be recovered based on the repayment history, the
financial conditions and the current credit worthiness of each customer, if
any. The directors consider all trade receivables (other than those for
which impairment losses have been recognised) at the end of the
reporting date are likely to be collectable under internal assessment by
the Group.

(if)

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]

2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHx FHIT
3,355,730 3,821,859
683,939 645,979
74,183 125,958
21,103 31,758
17,718 30,596
4,152,673 4,656,150
R2018F 12 318 » R&EEEIK

BOEREHRPREREEA &
44,592,000 7T 2 JEU B 5 BR 5 3R
EHARDEE - ERAEREDR
A#017,667,0007% 7T & % HA90 K 5k LA
ERAWEAEY  AAEERET—
BPZBRTERCHE  MBHEMRRRET
EEMR - RABSEHRA TLAUKE -
BE WIS - REE IR S %
BRI -

®W 2017 4 12 A 31 H B B
4,584,221,000/8 0 7 EWE 5 R Ty
WARBEHERERE  EAKERER
BRSEROANRTE  ZSEEPAE
RIFEE -

R2018F 12 A31H » FEEAH
733,280,000 7T (20174 : 722,973,000
BILIZERBSER  HEBPZWE
Tk R AR R A EAIER -

R20178F 128318 » REEEK
BEBEREHRTREEOMBEA R
71,929,000 JT &9 FE W E 5 BE B R
LHABEEH  MASERBRES
—BEZBEERTE BBMRRRE
TEERR(NE)  LEERE T
W E - MR E BB RS - IRIR
AEBELHOADTE  ESRBER
EHRFMARKE ZER(ZSEE®R
BB R AR M) FERT T AU E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (contivuep)  23. IBIRE B R H AR (&)

notes: (Continued) BT« (48)
(if) (Continued) (i) (%)
Ageing of trade receivables which were past due but not impaired BB KRR ENERE S RN R
2017
HK$'000
FET
Not exceeding 30 days T EBA30H 23,961
31-60 days 31-60H 12,666
61-90 days 61-90H 8,561
91-120 days 91-120H 5,506
Over 120 days 1208 A 21,235
71,929
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RERBREED
2017
HK$'000
FET
At 1 January ®1ATH 30,360
Impairment loss recognised on trade receivables eI E Z R FURBE K B HER 2,434
Reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables fE UL E 5 B TR (E 5 18 ] B (5,594)
Amounts written off as uncollectible Ak Bz ik & 58 (10,166)
At 31 December ®12A318 17,034
The above allowance for doubtful debts are for individually impaired trade i RIEAREE AR B #E1TIE RS
receivables which have either been placed under liquidation or are in TR LR 3B B B R B O FE LU E 5 BR AR ME
severe financial difficulties. VRN
(i) Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WINEHERETBNEEEIENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: WE S REMBREAT :
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
HK$ BT 73,729 113,185
uUs$ e 75,083 80,652
(iv) Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables for the (iv) B Z2018F12A31HILFE  EkE
year ended 31 December 2018 are set out in note 35(ii). 5 R EMIEE 2R EFEFBEHRH T

35(ii) ©
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

24. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, TREEEE
The following were the Group’s financial assets as at 31 T AREBER2018F12A318
December 2018 that were transferred to banks by discounting/ HEEREHEANE SEEET
endorsing these receivables on a full recourse basis. As the ROTZEMEE - HRASEEIL R
Group has not transferred the significant risks and rewards 5 I 55 FE W AR SR AR R 2 2B K3 @
relating to these receivables, it continues to recognise the full Ba Je Bl SREE e - EE 4R RERR IR UK
carrying amount of the receivables and has recognised the cash Rz 2 EAREE - I A 83T U
received on the transfer as a collateralised borrowing. These BReERLERER - kEem
financial assets are carried at amortised cost in the Group's BERAEB 2R MBRRARIA
consolidated statement of financial position. BRI BR -
As at 31 December 2018 BZE2018F12A31HLEE
Bills
receivables
discounted
to banks
with full
recourse
#R 17 Bt
BREZ
B R &
REIR
HK$’'000
FERT
Carrying amount of transferred assets EREENRESE 338,354
Carrying amount of transferred liabilities EEEENRESR (338,354)
Net position FREM MR
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 25. BEW({T)EBE R RIFKIE
COMPANIES
Amounts due from related companies disclosed pursuant to RIBEBRREGRDIE622G T AR
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap 622G are as o B AR RIBMNT ¢
follows:

Maximum amount
Balance at Balance at outstanding during

31 December 1 January ERRABREE

2018 2018

Name of related company Terms 2018 1220185
BELRER LA 12831048 1R1B&# 2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

THET FET TR TR

Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing Limited ~ Unsecured and

(“LMIML")(note) non-interest
BYBE£ERARN([ENEE]) bearing
(P5E) BEAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED

COMPANIES (conTinuED)

The amounts due from related companies represent trade
balance due from LMIML. The amounts are unsecured, interest-
free with credit period of 45 days and are aged less than 45
days.

Note: The company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King Wai
Ross, who is also a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li King Wai Ross is a director of the
Company.

The amounts due from related companies that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

25. BUW()BEERTIFRIB(#£)

FEW BB N R IR T EYE X E X
MESEH  RFEEIIEERR -
"B WHEEEHISAREHRIR
45H -

M : ZARARTEEREZRRB  TRAER
AXrERRFERB L LRHEEE
B o PRERERTARES -

WHNEAEEEREEEHE
B R R E R B FIAE ST ¢

Amounts due from related companies  J&E U @8 iE A 7308
- HK$ —&TT

The amounts due to related companies represent trade
balances due to Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (“LMC Group”). LMC Group is beneficially owned
and controlled by Mr. Lee Man Yan, an associate of Dr. Lee
Man Chun Raymond, and Mr. Lee Man Bun, the directors of
the Company. The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, with
average credit period of 30 days and are aged less than 30
days.

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTEx T
2,457
e BERAIRIA Y EMENAT

ERARREKBAR([EX{ET
EEINESEH - BXEIEE
BARRIEETEXEE+ REHR
EEZHBATZXBREEETHE
E&ﬁﬂ ZEHENEER &

P EE 308 R EREE 230
E| o
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e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

26. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 26. fTHEERMIE

31.12.2018 1.1.2018
HK$°000 HK$°000
FEx TR

4,127

Derivative financial assets TEEMEE
- net settlement —FERIW
Foreign currency forward contracts SNECGRERE 49
(note) (M%)
Derivative financial liabilities TELHMER
- net settlement - FERW
Foreign currency forward contracts INEGRERE 49
(note) (M%)

note:
Foreign currency forward contracts

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31
December 2018 are as follows:

Notional amount

M2eH

G
SEEmA

R2018F 12 A3TBREHINERPENZ
ERFMAT ¢

Currency conversion

BERER

4 contracts to buy EUR18,396,000 in total
47 & 4135 18,396,0008 T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at 31
December 2017 are as follows:

Notional amount

LN

EUR 1 to HK$9.1380-9.2866
18071 59.1380-9.2866/8 7T

R2017F12A3MBRTHEINERBENZE
ZHREFT

Currency conversion

BRER

7 contracts to buy EUR29,519,498 in total
7R E#FE29,519,498F T

The above contracts will mature within twelve months (2017: twelve months)
after the end of the reporting period.

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments were calculated using
discounted cash flow analysis based on the applicable forward foreign exchange
rates.
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 27. RITHEHRRE S
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and ROTERERBE2BEAEEFEDY
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three ReRRIHARIMEAKARNTE
months or less. HRITIER °
Bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies WHNEHAEBERBIGEEKAE
other than the functional currency of the relevant group RIRTTREBERBSHIN M T -

entities are set out below:

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHBT FAET

HK$ BT 25,350 24,189

us$ E 353,337 22,619

Euro (“EUR") & ([’T ) 25,869 88
28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 28. ENES REMERR

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHET FET

Trade and bills payables ENE S REEEMR 1,935,034 3,129,001

Construction fee payable JEN TR 616,327 665,117

Accruals EErER 745,179 346,378

Receipt in advance TEYRIAR = 127,566

Other payables HibERIE 374,396 404,236

3,670,936 4,672,298
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

=7 Eh e
28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTinueD) 28. BENEZ RHEMER#)
notes: BT
i) The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges from 30 to () BHHE 2 FTHRKEHH30E1200 1T
120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the trade and bills payables o TRARBERRRERAH 2R
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period. NBHRBBRRZERIN -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Aged: BREC
Not exceeding 30 days @308 776,731 1,227,564
31-60 days 31-60H 448,024 642,141
61-90 days 61-90H 396,863 537,183
91-120 days 91-120H PLYBVE] 690,208
Over 120 days 1208 A £ 25,843 31,905
1,935,034 3,129,001
(i) Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies other than (i) WIHAEREEERNEEEAENE
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: NESREMBEZNOT :
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHT
HK$ BT 466 —
EUR BT 230,832 288,205
us$ eV 1,300,535 2,037,063

196 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2018 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29. BHERE
31.12.2018 1.1.2018
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TET
Receipts in advance from customers REEP ZTBBHR 96,107 —
Contract liabilities represent receipts in advance from customers AHBBEETEERPHATKELY
for unsatisfied performance obligations and are recognised as EFzEKG  TEAREBRTKES
revenue when the Group performs its obligations under the MHNBHNETEHERAERA - &4
contracts. At contract inception, performance obligation is WA  BHOETEHE—FNRN
expected to be satisfied within one year. SERK °
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRIWRAAREZ ZIMAMER
recognised in the current year relates to carried-forward BEZVEBAENEBABREENREZ VB
contract liabilities and how much relates to performance BEHEE K ZBHOEFE -

obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

2018
HK$'000
FTET
Revenue recognised that was included in the BREEEHNAETY
contract liability balance at the beginning Eer 2 WA TER
of the year (128,260)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

30. BANK BORROWINGS 30. IRITIEE
The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, AEBCZHRITEE (2B AER
comprised: )8

2018 2017

HK$"000 HK$'000

FEx FAT

Bank loans RITER 13,395,908 13,703,459

Bank import loans RITEOER 394,587 1,374,245

13,790,495 15,077,704

The bank borrowings are repayable as follows: $R7T{& & 8B HRHMT

Within one year —FER 5,825,466 6,025,745
More than one year, but not exceeding BR—FELRME
two years 3,979,408 887,293
More than two years, but not exceeding BEMFELRAESF
five years 3,985,621 8,164,666
13,790,495 15,077,704
Less: Amount due within one year shown B YR AEREBER
under current liabilities —FRE| B FE (5,825,466) (6,025,745)

Amount due after one year —F & E|H AR 7,965,029 9,051,959

notes: Mz -

@i) All bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 carry variable (i) M2018%F 201712 A31 B 2B IR
interest rates ranging from Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR") TERERTE  FEEXATBRITAEE
plus 0.90% to HIBOR plus 1.40% (2017: ranging from HIBOR 0.90% to HE(TEBRTAZERS]) I0.90%
HIBOR 1.50% or London Interbanks Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 0.90% £1.40% (20174 : EERITEZERFE
to LIBOR plus 1.25%) per annum. hN0.90% %= 1.50% sk i 2 8 17 A ¥ 1

BMRBIRITRERZ])MN0.90%ZE
1.25% ° )
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018412H31H IF F/Z

4= It 1 =
30. BANK BORROWINGS (conTiNUED) 30. SRITIEE (&)
notes: (Continued) BT« (48)
0) (Continued) (i) (4&)
The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s bank AREBRTEE 2 EEFENETHE
borrowings are as follows: mE
2018 2017
Variable-rate borrowings FEBE 3.34% 2.46%
(ii) HK$5,206,987,000 (2017: HK$5,250,745,000) in bank borrowings of (i)  —F AW EHIR 1T & & 5,825,466,000
HK$5,825,466,000 (2017: HK$6,025,745,000) which are repayable % 7T (20174 : 6,025,745,000% 7T )
within one year contain repayable on demand clauses. E 0 5,206,987,000/8 7T (20174 -
5,250,745,000/8 7T ) & E ERER Z
1R e
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31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31 EEBIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TRETZCDHEREEHEAER
and movement thereon during the current and prior year: KEER EFEZ2EE -
Undistributed
earnings
Accelerated ofthe PRC
tax subsidiaries
depreciation B S
I B E ARZ Total
weE KRB EF &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FAET
At 1 January 2017 M2017F1H18 902,590 4,145 906,735
Charge to profit or loss FFAEZ 107,606 262,826 370,432
Exchange differences P 3 =8 4,841 — 4,841
At 31 December 2017 M2017%F12831H 1,015,037 266,971 1,282,008
Charge to profit or loss FFAEZE 107,263 101,114 208,377
Exchange differences MEH E (46,015) — (46,015)
At 31 December 2018 MR2018%F12A31H 1,076,285 368,085 1,444,370
notes: B &E
0) As at 31 December 2018, the Group had unused tax losses of (i) MW2018F 12 A318H + XEE K
approximately HK$137,000,000 (2017: HK$125,000,000) available for AENTAEBENARRBANZHESB
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in 18 %) /137,000,000 7T (2017 4 -
respect of such losses for both years due to unpredictability of future 125,000,000 7T ) ° MR EATER R
profit streams. As at 31 December 2018, tax losses of approximately REFRME - MEFELRREZEES
HK$37,000,000 (2017: HK$25,000,000) attributable to the PRC ERRAR/RLENIAEE - 12018512
subsidiaries and approximately HK$84,000,000 (2017: HK$84,000,000) A31H » BIEFE 37,000,000 7T
attributable to the Vietnam subsidiaries will expire at various dates up to (20174 : 25,000,000/ 7T ) %K & #
and including 2022 (2017: 2022). As at 31 December 2018, tax losses of Fft B A 7 & #784,000,0007% 7T (2017
approximately HK$16,000,000 (2017: HK$16,000,000) attributable to the 4 : 84,000,000/ C) R EEE M EA
Hong Kong subsidiaries may be carried forward indefinitely. Al BREZENBIE2022F (20174

20224 ) 2 Z B E B EARIH - %2018
F12A31H - #IEEE 416,000,000
#L (20174 : 16,000,000 7T ) 3 &
BHEMBAR - BRI ER M o
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32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 32. BIKBERIFHE
Defined contribution scheme REMKETE

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control
of trustees. The Group contributes monthly the lower of
HK$1,500 or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the
MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The only obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme is
to make the required contribution payable on the future years.

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are members
of the state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit

scheme is to make the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
HK$82,120,000 (2017: HK$58,545,000) represents
contributions payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the schemes. As at 31 December 2018,
contributions of HK$58,340 (2017: HK$21,000) due in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2018 had not been paid to the
plans. The amounts were paid subsequently to the end of the

reporting period.

REBEBBEAMBEERERR
VHAESEE - RE S E
WEEREAEENEESHATH -
LERBAGIABENES - A&
B 1,5008 ek B AFHKED
5% * UWBRIEEBE - AREDTE
T BEB ZHR—H -

A E Y WIS B —F (9
AT R R AR B R (43 -

TENEARREANEESZSEASD
BT 2 im0 B R B R R KR A
itEl - hEMEARAREES
METAEDL - FRKE NS H
FAERBEHNZA - REEHIRK
B BN -BEREFELETE

R -

MREZPHER 2L 182,120,000
7L (20174F © 58,545,000 70) &
AEBIRFERTE 2T EHZ
ZEtEl 2 BT o 2018412 A
318 » EE2018F12A318 1
FE B RN E H5858,340/8 T
(20174 : 21,000/87T) ° S E
EEMEBREESZ -
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33.

202

SHARE CAPITAL 33. A
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
EBERYE &5
Note HK$'000
k3 TER
Authorised: EIE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2017F1 818 »
at 1 January 2017, 31 December 2017 2017F12A318 Rk
and 31 December 2018 2018%12A31H
FR0.0258 TR L@k 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R2017F 1818
at 1 January 2017 Fik0.0258 L8 E @R 4,545,660,000 113,642
Shares repurchased and cancelled B BB Rt 88 (i) (40,256,000) (1,007)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each at 31 R2017F12A31H
December 2017 BRR0.025BTHEBR 4,505,404,000 112,635
Share repurchased and cancelled W An Bl R vt 88 (i) (116,496,000) (2,912)
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each 2018 12A318
at 31 December 2018 BRR0.025B TR LBk 4,388,908,000 109,723
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

L —
33. SHARE CAPITAL (conTinUED) 33. BA&(#)
Note: M &E
(i) The Company repurchased its own shares through the Stock Exchange as (i) RRABRBIMBEEF ZBMHIT :
follows:
2018
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each SRIMER expenses)
Month of F10.02578 T Highest Lowest S ENRE
repurchases BE AR 2EBR 53] RIE (EfEE)
HK$ HK$ HK$°000
BT BT FHET
January 2018 20185 1R 5,404,000 9.21 8.96 49,149
March 2018 201843 A 39,236,000 9.00 8.21 344,724
June 2018 201846 A 32,764,000 8.90 7.83 273,321
August 2018 201848 A 16,209,000 8.18 7.02 124,020
September 2018 20184 9A 4,163,000 7.19 7.07 29,901
October 2018 20184 10A4 14,059,000 7.14 (X 97,716
December 2018 2018412 A 7,299,000 6.57 6.34 47,498
119,134,000 966,329
2017 20175
Aggregate
No. of ordinary consideration
shares of Price paid per share paid (including
HK$0.025 each FREAHER expenses)
HH0.025% 7T Highest Lowest AHONRE
Month of repurchases EE A% 2 EmAR 45 K (BFEE)
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT FET
March 2017 201743 A 11,213,000 6.29 5.87 69,927
April 2017 20174 4H 2,792,000 5.90 5.86 16,525
May 2017 201745A 7,955,000 6.10 6.01 48,350
November 2017 2017411 A 7,480,000 8.84 8.57 65,789
December 2017 2017124 3,756,000 8.99 8.84 33,626
33,196,000 234,217
Out of 119,134,000 ordinary shares repurchased during 2018, REE2018F12A31 0 EFE
116,496,000 shares were cancelled during the year ended 31 December 119,134,000 & & B1 % JA f& & =
L RO AL - N,
2018 while the remaining 2,638,000 ordinary shares were cancelled in 116,496,000 A% 17 B 70 4 P4 7 86
January 2019, i # T 22,638,000 % & i A% BE 1% /£

201941 A ks o
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34. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

35.

204

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include the bank borrowings, and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(i) Categories of financial instruments

34. EXRREEIRE

35.

AEBERHEEANERAEEDN
ERUFELEEY  WEBKE
BEHEERL I RERTE ARRH
REOE - AEENEBBRRERS
HEEF—H-

AEENERAGEBRRBER  EF
BRETEEARARAEDRFA
AEEEZ(BREBTRARZIA
) -

ARBEETHRTENERE - 1F
BEEH Y EEEEELK
AAREZBREABRANAR - 1R
BREENER  FA5REBEBIRNM
BB~ BEATHEN IR R R [ A DA K &
THEIBEQNREFHEERENRN
TR o

TRIA

(i) =T EER

2018 2017
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets tRMEE
Fair value through profit or loss — BAREFABE—
derivative financial instruments MTEEMIE — 4,127
Financial assets at amortised cost REHKANSREE 7,128,921 —
Loans and receivables (including cash & 2 K & Ug BR 7%
and cash equivalents) (BIEEEMRESEED) 7,344,342
Financial liabilities Ea- =R
Fair value through profit or loss — BRANERAEZE —
derivative financial instruments MTEEmIE 3,543 —
Amortised cost b X )N 17,066,283 19,290,800
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conmivuep) 35. IR #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan to a
joint venture, trade and other receivables, bills receivables
discounted with recourse, amounts due from (to) related
companies, derivative financial instruments, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, advances
drawn on bills receivable discounted with recourse and
bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and commodity price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and

effective manner.

Market risk

(a)  Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitors other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of
hedging instruments when the need arises.

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]

AEENTZERTABREA
BEEER EBUREZREM
R MEREZBEFEER
B () BRERRRIA
TEERTA - RITHEHR LA
T BNESREMERR K
BREZEBEEE MR EIR
TEE - 2RI ANFBERE
BT  EZEemMTA
EEmAREETSAR(E
Rk - FEREREERER
RE) - EERBRERSBESD
R\ f o G0 fe] 4% A0 5% 55 AL B B IR
REIN TN - EEEEER
ERZERR - NEREEH
R BR P E E AR B -

mi5E B

(a) E¥mEE
AEBGFEINERS %
7N 5 (8] 78 52 NS T R A
S| ATHER - BT
FRAKSNE R KR - ANEEB
BEFERINERZ S TSI
MERHER - ERERT
PEERE A INE R - I
EENVEHERY T
Ao
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 35. €T A #)
(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) MG (&)
(@) Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant REBRIHRE B I FELAE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding HMEEERNEEEE
intercompany balances and derivative financial CEEERBEEREKSE
instruments, that are denominated in currencies BE(RIARAERRITE
other than the functional currency of the relevant TR I AR MWEREE
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows: s
Monetary assets (note): B EE(ME)
2018 2017
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK$ BTT 100,647 139,831
uss$ ETT 428,420 103,271
EUR B 25,869 88
Monetary liabilities (note): EBaFEFE)
2018 2017
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HK$ AT 466 51
us$ ETT 1,301,297 2,037,063
EUR B 233,878 288,205
note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the MieE: Pl BEABERBEER
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ BB EE BET B
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of TRABTETEE A
which the exchange exposure is not significant. B TTEE TN - E L

WEEAELRE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 35. €T A (&)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) MR (&)
(@) Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in AN - AINEEEHE 2 ED
foreign currencies are as follows: NEEREHRINT -

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEx FHET
Assets BE
us$ ET 445,639 715,824
HK$ BT 221,007 438,514
RMB AR 335,593 349,412
EUR B 67,148 58,166
Liabilities =R
uss$ ET 777,962 715,824
HK$ BT 654,449 589,884
RMB AR B 1,391,529 1,391,529
EUR BX T 67,148 58,166
Sensitivity analysis BRRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of AEBEZEEBILHB
EUR against HK$, and HK$ and US$ against RMB. T MBTRETHAR

BoORBEE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 35. IR #)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(@) Currency risk (Continued) (a) E®REpR(E)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRRE DT (&)
The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to T3R5 AN 5 [ 7 N A

a 5% (2017: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2017: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and adjusts their translation at the year
end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. On
this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit and equity where the functional
currency of the relevant group entities strengthens

against the foreign currencies by 5%, and vice

FREBEIERT - HESE
EER e LHE
HEEINE EFA R TRE5%
(20175 : 5% ) KB
J& 5% (20174 : 5%)
BHANRNEEEEABRE
AN L B eF R R A K
Bk - AEEERING
ERMEIEEEBIED
BT - HMRESTRE
FEUAINEFHEHRENE
¥IEE (BENIINEEE
ZABABAEKR) TR
FRAZRHEBRE  URg
HNESTE RENS% BB - f£
HEET EHBEEEE
B EE HINEAE
5% B & F) & %

versa. #wmnm o RZ IR e

(Decrease) increase Increase
in post-tax profit in equity
BEBRCHLD)E fEIE

2018 2017 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

FTERx TAET TERT TR

HK$ BT (3.212)

(19,953) 18,197

us$ ETT 67,601 100,936 10,992 23
RMB AREE 2,360 1,413 44,085 43,508
EUR BT 10,183 14,240 45
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(a)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

All foreign currency forward contracts in note 26
are to hedge the rise of EUR against HK$(2017: the
rise of EUR against HK$).

The following tables detail the Group'’s sensitivity to
a 5% (2017: 5%) strengthening or weakening on
the foreign currencies and all other variables were
held constant.

Strengthening
by 5% leading
to increase in
post-tax profit
RES%EH
BEBFEM
HK$'000
THT

8,267

EUR BT

35. TR IR (%)

(ii)

Weakening

by 5% leading
to decrease in
post-tax profit
BES%EH
REBRED
HK$'000
TET

8,267

EGERER AR 2018 F£3R

BREREERNREE
(%)

SRR (&)
EEmE (&)
BRRE DT (&)
MAMFE26 2 T B INE
REIG K T E BT B
T EF 20175 « BT R

(a)

BITET) -

BEC T RN VNS
6 R B2 B5% (20174 -
5% ) #) BB E - 3B
e bR BRI TE -

Weakening

Strengthening by 5%
by 5% leading leading to
to increase in decrease in
post-tax profit post-tax profit
FES%EH B2 {E5% S
BigBMEM  HEAMED
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET TET
13,834 13,834
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(ii) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) miZEE (&)
(b) Interest rate risk (b) FIE &R

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2018 Annual Report

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. However, the Group
considers that the bank balances are within short
maturity period, and the fluctuation in interest rate
and the cash flow interest rate risk arising from

bank balances are insignificant.

The Group's fair value and cash flow interest risks
mainly relate to fixed and variable rates borrowings
respectively. The Group has not entered into any
interest rate hedging contracts, but considers that
the interest rate of bank borrowings is relatively
stable and so no interest rate swap was used to
hedge the exposure to interest rate risk in current
year. The management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant

interest rate exposure should the need arise.

REERITHERIIES -
HRIBITHISN RS
RITHEBAR RS RER
K o AT - AEER
RRIRITHER IR AR
Bl - BYEIRITAERSIRE
MERBH LB REN X
R RE -

AEBEZRARERRER
ENREREZDRIEE
BMIREEAM - A&
Elli: S RvARR OS2 ped
B4 ERBRITEEN
FMERIBEIBTE - IAER
FEARA AN i B
FMERER - EEEEER
XEBiEEREARRS
EEHE BN R

ﬁ o
Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the

T BURE DT RIER
HEHRIFTETAENF
RERET ° BLFBIRTT
fBEE  ERFEENIEMH
BRI EEH - ST TIR
RERBEHRRENEE

amount of liability outstanding at the end of the RE2FEHRKRKENMR
reporting period was outstanding for the whole B o ) = I 05k 450
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in AR AHAMEZZEREA

interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

B [ ¥ 1) =< 2 x5 2R AR A
FRELX  REEER
MRS IER BEE BT
ftr e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 35. @M I AE)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) HEREBEEEIRBEEK

policies (Continued) (&)

Market risk (Continued) mizER (&)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued) (b) FIEmEpz (&)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRED (&)
For bank borrowings at variable-rate of Bt A& 80 13,790,495,000
HK$13,790,495,000 (2017: HK$15,077,704,000), B oL (2017 %
if interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/ 15,077,704,000 & JT )
lower and all other variables were held constant, ZEBIRITEEMS ¢
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 fis # & EFH T %50
December 2018 after taking into account the AR -MABEME
capitalisation of borrowing costs using the BETE  KXEBEZE
capitalisation rate ranging from 2.43% to 3.10% 20184 12 H31 H IE %
(2017: 2.34% to 2.94%) would decrease/increase EHR & AF LT RN
by HK$44,495,000 (2017: decrease/increase by BRI ER243%F
HK$43,857,000). 3.10% (20174 : 2.34%

£294% ) E AR
LEEKRAER  BR
A/ 18 144,495,000 7%
JL(20174F  {A /H#hn
43,857,000/87T) °

(c) Commodity price risk (c) AmEERERE
At 31 December 2017, the Group was exposed to M2017F12H31H » &
commodity price risk through agricultural SEFBRERMMPES
commodity future contracts. There was no REZEmEBERRR - B
commodity price risk at 31 December 2018 as the REEERBHESHNERN
agricultural commodity future contracts were B ZE2018F 1243181k
settled during the year ended 31 December 2018. FEANGEE - thR2018

FIN2ANBITERRE
R

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT

The Group is exposed to the fluctuation of RIREBR  NEBET
commodity price risk of agricultural commodity %ﬁﬁ:ﬁﬁ‘b/\%’]ZFﬁuu
future contracts at the end of reporting period. If BRESHRR - BRE
the commodity price risk of agricultural commodity AmBEEOZmER
future contracts had been 5% higher/lower, the EASTHS% - AEE
Group's post-tax profit for the year would increase/ R2017FE 2 g B A
decrease by HK$629,000 in 2017. #%3E on, k4> 629,000%8

5T e
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(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model under
application of HKFRS 9 (2017: incurred loss model) on
trade balances individually or based on provision matrix.
In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s

credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial
instruments is limited because the counterparties are

banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is

considered minimal.

35. T B (#)

(ii)
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BREREERNREE
(%)

EERB KR ERT
MR2018F12A31H » A& H
EEF ST REBITETMEH
MBEBEENRREERRKE
FEMBARAREINZED
BREMEENEREEE -

AEEREGEERR  AKHE
EEEEZE-HABEER
ERSE FEEFEHUREM
Bl ARIEEASE
TRRENERETTE » UESN - AR
BERRAEEMBERE LR
FIORRBEHREEFHERRN
(20174 : EBAEBEE) Y
JE U E 5 fR 3K 8 Bl b 3k R TR A
B EITRERG - Bt - &
ERRAKEZEERARERX
KD e

MR P T REEFRRYF
ZRIT - BMRBEERITES
MTAZEERRAER -

AEENEYREZERBIEKR
BEP  BEZETERME
@i o Hit  NEEEFEE
R AR



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 35. IR #)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) MBEREERNREE
policies (Continued) (#&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) S ER R &R ET (&)
In addition to the credit risk on trade debts, the Group is BT féf SEBEHENEERR
also exposed to concentration on credit risk on its loan to G KEEREGEDCEERE
a joint venture. Because the Group’s involvement in the FEEHEERR - ARAK
management of joint venture, the Group is in a position E2ESEPENER K&

l%)&’iﬁ*i HUYBERRNUE

to monitor their financial performance and would take

timely actions to safeguard its assets and/or to minimise W AT ER R B 1T B AR EE §
its losses. Accordingly, management believes that the ER/SOBREEE - Bt
Group’s exposure to the credit risk associated with loan 12 [E A 1*21»‘%@&%7‘”\@/\

EXEFESIENEERRBE -

to joint venture is low.

A& E 2 AEEE R R A5
HEBATER

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal Trade receivables/ Other financial
credit rating Description contract assets assets/other items
NEEET R BE ERESHEN/AHEE EueREE/HtER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL- 12-month ECL
izl and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired REABREEBE
HBFRENARBEETALRRNEE RKRIBHEERE-
FEERE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but — Lifetime ECL- 12-month ECL
EHER usually settle after due date not credit-impaired NEARBEERR
BRAREHBAEFERERSER RARBEERE-
25k FESRE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL - not credit-impaired
g credit isk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired RORREEBE-#EERE
information developed internally or BARHEEEE-
external resources ¥EERE
RBNTEEERINTERERE N
ERNREERBEZEM
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired
BB credit-impaired credit-impaired REEHEERE-FERE
RRBELAEENEERE RERSEERE-
EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtoris  Amount is written off Amount is written off
e in severe financial difficulty and the FIBMER FEMER

Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

B %Tﬁtﬂﬁ%/\ﬁﬁﬂﬂi@m@%ﬁﬁ
AEEYEERLERDRY

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 35. €T A #)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) (#&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBNBER & (&)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRAFMAZTEREEEIEN
Group's trade and other receivables, loan to a joint HZAEBERE S MKEMEE
venture, bills receivables discounted with recourse and R AELEER WBRE
amounts due from related parties which are subject to ZERWNEBRRRERREER
ECL assessment: ARENEERR
Financial assets at amortised costs KRR 2 B B E
12-month
or
External Internal lifetime ECL Gross carrying
Notes credit rating credit rating 12@ Akt & amount
2018 B 5 SNEBIE B R AR NEEERTAR TEHIEEEE BERH SR
HK$'000
T
Trade receivables 23 N/A (Note 2) Lifetime ECL 3,126,931
FEWE 5 ARk T i A (PF&E2) (provision matrix)
KEBHEE
EiE(EaER)
Loss Credit-impaired 17,034
&8 EERE
3,143,965
Amounts due from 25 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 9,003
related companies i (BFsET) 128 AR E E 18
FEW Bl E N AR
Bank balances 27 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 2,003,561
RITREER KRk TEA 1218 A= B &S
Bills receivables 23 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 1,093,681
FEUR IR 15 2 B TiE A 1218 A B Ei = BB 18
Bills receivables discounted 24 Low risk N/A 12-month ECL 338,354
with recourse KR TiE A 1218 Aa Rl B 18
B R 3
()
Loan to a joint venture 21 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 154,135
AEBEER TEA (Kizx1) 1218 A B Hi = B &8
Other receivables 23 N/A (Note 1) 12-month ECL 462,814
JFE S L th R X TE A (KzE1) 1218 Aa A= B 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 35. @Rt T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) ()
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERBNBER & (&)
Financial assets at amortised costs (Continued) AR 2 & E
(#)
Notes: [TEE
1. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group 1 I E s A R R ST B 1A
uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has RSB AR 2 T A R0
increased significantly since initial recognition. EARNSEERRBREE -
Not past due
/No fixed
repayment
terms
JEBEEmEE
BRIER
HK$'000
FHET
Bill receivables e 1,093,681
Amounts due from related companies FE U BB N R FRIA 9,003
Loan to a joint venture BEREER 154,135
Other receivables JREE LS EL b R 50 462,814
2. For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified 2. REKESER  AEEERE
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime B IR EERIE IR EI T
ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding balance or EAR FEBEEBRETLE
credit-impaired, the Group determines the expected credit losses BEE KREBAKRMEHRSE
on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal BER A2 ERERRIN - NEEE
credit rating. I EIE B R A EAER RN EE

ERAN EEEEERE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)
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(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the
utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as significant
source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2018, the Group
has available unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$15,134,144,000 (2017: HK$9,908,498,000). Details

of bank borrowings are set out in note 30.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

35. T B (#)

(ii)

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2018 Annual Report

BREREERNREE
(%)

MEE SRR
SERRBESARME @ A
SEERLRFEAEREAS
AEEEERMESD - AR
BRSRENDFEZRER
ReEBEYKE BEEEBESR
RITEEZBRALBRETE
e

REBEBRBRBTEEREE
MBE S KR - R20184F 12
A318 » XEBEKREFH 2 RT
B8 E#/515,134,144,000
B r(20174 :9,908,498,000
Bir) - RITEEFBHNMH
30

TR FF AR BR A 1 TE IR BRI
AEBSHEBENBR TSR
A - mETESRAEM
T TRIIBEBEAEBEEER
EFHHMEHzeMABERNT
REEMEEL - AEME -
B 75 FE SRR B R 2 SRIT 18
E GERCRERRZA -
THRTEDEETEHERE
e HMIENTESREBEBEZD
HERERTHWERB B
B TREBEMNEERRESE
eRE EREREL FIE
MEFBHE - RITBEFER
BMERARNFEHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 35. IR #)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an

understanding of the timing of the cash flows of

(%)

MEBES R (&

O TRFLAKETES
BMITRZREBMEDN - ZRTY
REBERFEEENTETAN
AFBRAHNFREMNEINR ©
fief FEASH FRIB N E > RIFT AR BE
RIATI2 RN B EHRBTH
Ty &5 AR PR TROBI R R &
T AEBRESQIHMER
BUEeRmIAENRDED
- AEERERREHNINHAE
DBTHOTETARSRZER
MERRR -

derivatives.
Liquidity tables RBEZEK
Weighted Repayable Carrying
average  ondemand Total amount at
effective  orless than 1-3 3 months 1-5 undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year years cash flows 2018
20185
1 ¥l EERER KITH 12A31H
MEFHE  RORUER 1238 3fEAE1E 1258 BREREAH ZERHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAK TET TER TER TERT TET TER
31 December 2018 2018%12H31A
Non-derivative financial T4 £ REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables  fE1 Z 5 R B X 1,767,455 844,886 313,416 2,925,757 2,925,757
Advance drawn onbills BB R ER
receivables discounted BERTBMR
with recourse 338,354 338,354 338,354
Amounts due torelated  FEFBJE 2 Bl FUR
companies 11,677 11,677 11,677
Bank borrowings RTEE
- variable-rate -%8 5,213,694 199,715 427,071 8,506,982 14,347,462 13,790,495

7,331,180

1,044,601

740,487

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]

8,506,982

17,623,250

17,066,283
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 35. @Rt T A (#)
(i) Financial risk management objectives and (i) BERBEEEOIRBER
policies (Continued) ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER(E
Liquidity tables (Continued) THENE DK ()

Weighted Repayable Carrying
average on demand Total amount at
effective or less than 3 months undiscounted 31 December

interest rate 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows 2017
2017%
ERFE  ERRER RITHR 128318
mEFHE P R1ER 123088  3EAZ1E 125 REREAH ZEHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ER1 FHT FET FHET FhT FHET FET
31 December 2017 2017%12A318
Non-derivative financial {74 ¢REE
liabilities
Trade and other payables BN Z 5 L E b8 — 2,310,061 1,166,180 722,113 — 4,198,354 4,198,354
Amounts due torelated  FEFBJE 2 B FUR
companies — 14,742 — — — 14,742 14,742
Bank borrowings RTEE
- variable-rate -%8 246 5,756,669 — 278,301 9,586,169 15,621,139 15,077,704
8,081,472 1,166,180 1,000,414 9,586,169 19,834,235 19,290,800
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(ii) Financial risk management objectives and

35. T B (#)

(i) BERREEBNREE

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity tables (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “repayable on demand or less than 1
month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31 December 2018 and 2017, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank loans
amounted to HK$5,206,441,000 and HK$5,250,745,000
respectively. Taking into account the Group’s financial
position, the directors do not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe that
such bank loans will be repaid after the reporting date in
accordance with the following scheduled repayment

dates set out in the loan agreements:

Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause

(%)

MENE & Rk (&
HEE2K(E)

B 75 FE ZE KB R IE R 2 R
TEER M EBASW
FATEZRKERSK DR
8 A1z EE - R20185F &k
2017 % 12 A318 » &R
TERZIATEARSLED
B %A 5,206,441,000 & 7T &
5,250,745,000% 7T ° Z & F
REBZHMBMRR  EEHHE
B RITPAKRATEITEBNS
o BRAEEMRER &
EHE - RFROTEBEEERE
MEBBHcERBEERBEM
HMEERBHEERAT

based on scheduled repayments: EIRH BT E 8 5
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1year cash flows amount
BRA=x AR
METHH SR8 B 1Z23f8A fEAZE1F HEREAF SR E
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Rl TER TER TER TER TER
As at 31 December 2018 #2018512A31H 334 4,905,124 284,593 27,517 5,217,234 5,206,441
As at 31 December 2017 R2017%12A8318 2.46 4,451,710 730,661 83,518 5,265,889 5,250,745

BERAR AR 2018 F3R]
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fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 35. @ TR #)
(iii) Fair value (iii) 2 RE
Fair value measurements recognised in the R BRARERZ AR EET
statement of financial position =
This note provides information about how the Group AT REAEERFEES T
determines fair values of various financial assets and AemEERSRBEAAE
financial liabilities. ZER o
Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial rEBRLESREERSRE
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each BERSEHREBRBRIEZEQA LB
reporting period. The following table gives information B TRIEHINAEEZES
about how the fair values of these financial assets and MEERESBBEARENE
financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the BLCEMBAFAFRARMERZ
valuation technique(s) and inputs used). RIE) -
Fair value as at
Financial assets/ 31 December 2018  Fair value Valuation techniques
Financial liabilities 7A2018% 128318 hierarchy and key inputs
SREE SREE ZARE AREHE HAEFIRETEXE
Foreign currency forward contracts Liabilities — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
classified as derivative financial HK$3,543,000 FE2 are estimated based on the
instruments in the consolidated & & — applicable forward foreign
statement of financial position 3,543,000/ ¢ exchange rates
INECRBRE RN AR S BT AR A RERFIRBF R MEDER
=oBERTEEMIA BRAMNERBEERE
Fairvalue as at
Financial assets/ 31 December 2017  Fairvalue Valuation techniques
Financial liabilities 2017 12H31H hierarchy and key inputs
CHMEE/eRMERE ZARME AERR FEFAREEZEKE
Foreign currency forward Assets — Level 2 Future discounted cash flows
contracts classified as derivative ~ HK$4,127,000 E2M are estimated based on the
financial instruments in the BE— applicable forward foreign
consolidated statement of 4,127,000 7T exchange rates
financial position ARFTBRFSREDER
INES IR IS QAR B TS IRR ERIINESEHEEGE
EKOBARVTESRIA
The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial EERANGEAHBHERESR
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost BELSHBELRBERAZ
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to HEEEMREEARE -

their fair values.
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B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018%F 12431 H 1L F/Z

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 35. @ TR #)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) %8 AIHTREEER
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHREBUBHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERERARE
agreements
The disclosures set out in the tables below include TRFEBRENAINITEFE
financial assets and financial liabilities that are subject to HEZHIEUMREE N 2%
an enforceable master netting arrangement or similar MEEREBEAEE TR
agreement that covers similar financial instruments, ZfFUemIA  THERDS
irrespective of whether they are offset in the Group's ERAEEGE W BMRRRY
consolidated statement of financial position. i o
Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master FHIE TRTAFEAER
netting arrangements and similar agreements ERFEOUBZEE N2 emEE
As at 31 December 2018 720185 12H31H

Gross amount  Net amounts
of recognised of financial
financial assets
liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated  consolidated  in the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
finandial finandial TERGEHBERRR
Gross amounts position position HEvEReE

of recognised REE R&& Cash collateral
financial assets  BIBAtRR  HHRRAR Financial received Net
BEREH HHzOER 252  instruments BlES amount
Description BE EEAE <SRAGAE <CREETE (TELRIA gl it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn T#En Tin TiEn TiEn TiEn

Bank balances RITEH 519,047 — 519,047 — — 519,047
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fRE B AR M ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 & Z2018F 1231 HIFF/Z

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuED) 35. T R (&)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) %8 AIHTREEER
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERESREEE)
agreements (Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable FEHE - IRITEFELEER
master netting arrangements and similar agreements ERBEUHZET 22MAR
As at 31 December 2018 "2018512H31H

Net amounts

Gross amount of financial

of recognised liabilities

financial assets presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off

consolidated  consolidated  in the consolidated statement

statementof  statement of of financial position
Gross amounts financial financial SERGARERAR
of recognised position position i REEE
financial RE& R&E& Cash collateral
liabilities ~ BIAHRZ  HHERRE Financial pledged
BRALH HEZERRZ 252 instruments B4  Netamount
Description BZ B4R CSREELE CSHARFE {TEeRIA R B8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TiEx TiEx TAR TAR TAR
Derivative financia firemas
liabilities
~ Foreign currency —~NEREAY
forward contracts
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 35. @M I AE)

(iv) Financial assets and financial liabilities (iv) S8 IHTEFELEE
subject to offsetting, enforceable master ZHRELHRET 2/
netting agreements and similar EERERAEE
agreements (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017 M2017%12831H
Net amounts
Gross amounts of financial
of recognised assets
financial liabilities presented
set off in the inthe  Related amounts not set off
consolidated consolidated i the consolidated statement
statementof  statement of of financial position
(Gross amount financial financial PERNFARBRRE
of recognised position position HE RBLE
financial i oYy A Cash collateral
assets  BIEMAR BERAR Finandial received Net
BREASH HE/EED 2R7  instruments BYEE amount
Description kS EERE SHBERE SREAEFE (TEERIEA gt 38
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL ThIL THL THEL
Bank balances BTt 407 — 407 - - 407

Derivative financial assets 74 BEE
- Foreign currency —HEEREY
forward contracts 4127 - 4127 — — 4127
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36.

224

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,

which fall due as follows:

36. EMELY

SEEREBA

RmERR - NEBERET A HH
ML REFREBEON A RAE
W& ERSOT

Within one year —FRA
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERAFA
Over five years iR F

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for staff quarters and certain of its office properties. For
staff quarters and office properties, leases are negotiated for

terms ranged from 1 year to 10 years with fixed rentals.

The Group as lessor

During the year ended 31 December 2018, rental income in
respect of industrial properties, office spaces, certain shops and
staff quarters and plant and machinery in the PRC was
HK$62,350,000 (2017: HK$26,359,000), net of negligible
outgoings. Leases are within one to ten years.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2018 Annual Report

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FEx TAT

15,827 12,758

7,987 8,545

2,752 3,907

26,566 25,210
REMERAEAKERBRIES

DERTFHRAEZYWEEMNHESL -
BETHEENNATYELREREE
H—F2+F HRESTE -

SEAERHBEA
REZE2018F12A31HIEFE -
BRTFENIXME MAZE &

FTEHEMNMEITERBRE XS
MESWA(CNBRETREE 2R
% ) 462,350,000 T (2017 4F
26,359,000 L) - MR —=F
+ER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2018 £ Z2018%F 12 H31HIFF/E

36. OPERATING LEASES (conminuep) 36. REMN#E)
The Group as lessor (Continued) SEEREHBEAE)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted ERBREHKR  AEBEHBELE
with tenants for the following future minimum lease payments: AN BRREESR
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Within one year —FR 54,549 40,209
In the second to fifth year inclusive FE_ZERFN 217,468 166,808
After five years BimAF 190,531 192,534
462,548 399,551
37. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 37. BAKILE
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Capital expenditures contracted for but 3t 2 5] #1{B R R 45 A BTG R&R
not provided in the consolidated FEEEETIEE
financial statements in respect of MEARFHL :
acquisition of:
— property, plant and equipment — ¥ - WENMERE 2,358,009 1,704,364
—land use rights — T {F AR 241,021 32,612

2,599,030 1,736,976
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38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 38. REREETBELENERE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TREFMIEAEEHBEETHE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash EMBEED  BREBASkIIFRS
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for 2y mEITHEENABEILIER
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified EREXAKRBERER D BAEAR
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash SECEERENERAREGD
flows from financing activities. FrigzREneE -
Bank Dividend
borrowings payable Total
RITEE EARE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT FERT
At 1 January 2018 2018F1H1H 15,077,704 — 15,077,704
Financing cash flows MERESRE (1,287,209) (1,776,104) (3,063,313)

Declaration of dividend TR B — 1,776,104 1,776,104

At 31 December 2018 201812 A31H 13,790,495 13,790,495
39. NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 39. kBRERF

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's acquisition HE2018F12A31BLEFE + K

of property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments SEBEVE BEIKREANLE

were settled through transfer of deposits paid in the prior years MHEERE - 5 57/293,210,00078

to the extent of HK$93,210,000 (2017: HK$61,145,000) and 7L (20174 : 61,145,0008 7T) M

HK$54,649,000 (2017: nil) respectively. 54,649,000/ 7T (20174 : #&)  J5

REFENDNATSEE -
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40. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. A1 BB FR R E B
THE COMPANY

ARABFR20185F K 2017512 A 31
Bz MBRRR BT -

A summarised statement of financial position of the Company
as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FABTT
Non-current asset FRBEE

Investments in subsidiaries NG E =) 637,977 637,977

Current assets RBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG s 12,315,476 9,972,863
Other receivables JrE LT L A BR 3R 10 —
Bank balances IRITHE R 2,567 204
12,318,053 9,973,067

Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables A1 L A BR 3R 4,759 4,821
Amount due to a subsidiary FE AT B B 2 RI5RIR 9,746,700 7,800,600
9,751,459 7,805,421
Net current assets REBEESE 2,566,594 2,167,646
3,204,571 2,805,623
Share capital N 109,723 112,635
Reserves == 3,094,848 2,692,988
Total equity BREZS 3,204,571 2,805,623
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40. INFORMATION OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. AR BARRER (&)
THE COMPANY (conTivuED)

Note: BT
(i) Movements in reserves (i) HEEH
Share
Share Contributed repurchase Retained Total
premium surplus reserve profits reserve
Bt 4 (B B KROBDEHE BEAN B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2017 M2017F1A18 3,409,183 634,977 (42,122) 244,470 4,246,508
Shares repurchased and A& {5 B8 [2] }2 5 8%
cancelled (275,332) — 42,122 — (233,210)
Profit for the year FERF — — — (55,651) (55,651)
Dividends recognised ERRBDIKRZRE
as distributions (1,264,659) — — — (1,264,659)
At 31 December 2017 M201712A31H 1,869,192 634,977 — 188,819 2,692,988
Shares repurchased and %19 B8 [2] }% 5% 8%
cancelled (946,181) — (17,236) — (963,417)
Profit for the year FEAFN — — — 3,141,381 3,141,381
Dividends recognised BRRDIKZRE
as distributions (892,153) — (883,951) (1,776,104)
At 31 December 2018 MR2018F12A31H 30,858 634,977 (17,236) 2,446,249 3,094,848
The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference KNGz EHRGTIANTEB2003
between the aggregate net tangible assets of the subsidiaries acquired by FoRvEBEAMKE HBARY
the Company pursuant to a group reorganisation in September 2003 and BREESBEEBEANG GRZWEMm
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition. BT RAEEY =5 -
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41. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY 41. MHEREEATIKE
DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with FN - AEEEEBRAT(ETAL
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be INREIB R AR £ 4R R AR 1E A R
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant AT)VHETERRS - FREZFA
transactions with these parties during the year are as follows: THITHEAZR AT
(i) Related and connected party transactions (i) tEERBEEALIRS
2018 2017
Name of party Nature of transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALER XHHE TET THL
LMIML (as defined in note 25) Finished goods sold by the Group
BYE%(ESRNFE25) EEHERK R 84,079 133,560
Income from supply of steamand
electricity
REZIRENZWA 2,575
Raw materials purchased
by the Group
SERERHY 2,874
Lee & Man Paper Products Company Limited ~ Licence fee expensesincurred
(note) by the Group
BXHmBRAR () SEFAREX N 1,924
LMC Group (as defined in note 25) Income from supply of steam
B ITSE(ERRME25) and electricity
REZIRENZBA 74,600 72,464
Raw materials purchased by the Group
SERERHY 108,375 56,401
Rentalincomein respect of office spaces
MAEBEHRA 1,928 1,734
Steamand electricity fee paid by
the Group
EECNRRNEERBE 72,030 47,745
Rental fee paid by the Group
EECNES 2,509 2,076
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41. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY
DISCLOSURES (conminuep)

230

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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Related and connected party transactions
(Continued)

note:

The Company is indirectly wholly owned by the spouse of Mr. Li King Wai
Ross, who is also a daughter of Dr. Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li King Wai Ross is a director of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group entered into
agreements with Winfibre B.V., Winfibre (U.K.) Company Limited and
Winfibre (U.S.) Incorporated (collectively known as the “Buying Agents”)
which are ultimately controlled by Mr. Ng Yu Hung, a step brother of Dr.
Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Pursuant to these agreements, the Buying Agents will act as the buying
agents of the Group for sourcing recovered paper in the United States,
the United Kingdom and Europe with effect from 1 January 2019 to 31
December 2021.

Related and connected party balances

Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with related
parties who are also the connected parties are set out in
the consolidated statement of financial position and note
25.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The remunerations of the directors and other members of
key management during the year were as follows:

41. EBERBEEALTEE &)

()

(ii)

(iii)

Short-term benefits

2 & R

Post-employment benefits RRAE A

HEAREEALRS (&)

B -

FZRBRFRERELRBEARAR
AXERRFEBRBLZARZREKEE
R FEBRERADRES -

PEZE2018F12A31BIEFER - AEEH
Winfibre B.V., Winfibre (U.K.) Company
Limited & Winfibre (U.S.) Incorporated
(Bl SRR DI - IRIBRE
BAQAREZRFEFER G 2E RS
B FBEEREEG - REZZHE -
REREBETAEESZ2019F1 71
HE2021F 12831 B HAMAGEER - &
B R BOM ER BB BE AR 2 SREERIE o

HERBEEA L &R

AEBEEBBALRKITGSH
BALTZREEEHRFBER
A MBARR R K25 -

FTEEEEKEFHMH

EENHEMBTIEEREKRER

FARZMELT
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx THET
41,695 41,117
18 18
41,713 41,135
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 Z Z2018412H31H IF F/Z

42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZRTREEMBARFE
OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December AAFTIERBATIHN2018E K
2018 and 2017 ar follows: N
and are as foflows 20174E 12 A31BM BT -
Nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/
and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary HREY/RY/ CRARURRAEE/ held by the Company Principal activities
HEARER BRREELY EER ERAMEERELA ITER
Directly Indirectly
E# k3
2017
Able Advance International Limited British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary shares - US$4 - Investment holding
EBRLAE (M) ERR-43T REZR
Lee & Man Industries Company Limited  British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary share - US$1 100% Investment holding
EERRES () tak-1%n RERK
Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares - HK$2 100% Investment holding
HEBRAA i ERR-28T REZR
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Offshore) ~ Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of raw
Trading Limited ol #F9%100,0007 materials
e (RFRRALRE) 5 RERH
BRAR
Wang Kei (Macao Commercial Offshore) ~ Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of raw
Trading Limited &M J&F9%100,0007T materials
RE (RFEREERE) 29 RERH
BRAR
(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Factory Co. Ltd) R (ki) 15$156,480,000 trading of paper
REEEARARAT A% - 156,480,000% T RELERRS
(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) 8 (i) 15$680,000,000 trading of paper
RRELERERAA &% -680,000,000% RELERRS
(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Company Limited) & & (Ff&Fii) US$393,000,000 trading of paper
TEHEERARAA A% -393,000,000% RELERRS
(Chongaing Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) w8 (i) 15$322,430,000 trading of paper
EFEERERAA M EA-322,430,000% RELERRS
(Chongging Lee & Man Pulp The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) w8 (i) 15§172,830,000 trading of pulp
EFEVHRRRAA HEA-172,830,000% HREERRS
(Jiangi Lee & Man Paper The PRC (note ii) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) w8 (i) 15$100,000,000 trading of paper
TREERERAR A% -100,000,000% RELERRS
(Chongging Lee & Man Tissue The PRC (note i) Registered capital - 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited) w8 (i) 5§425,000,000 trading of tissue
ERRNALRANEERARA & A -425,000,000% 7 products
BESEREERE D
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited jid=] - US$300,000,000 trading of paper
#1424 -300,000,000E T FAEEREH
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42.

232

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

notes:
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong.

(ii) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the
PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affect the results or
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the year, or at any time during the year.
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42. XPBEEMB L AFSEE)

G
() HEATEEBEE -

(i) %ERTARERERLZIIEREDR

FRINLBEERRIBERELRE
BRENEERBENAN DA E
NAE - BEERA JHEMHBER
A FIFEEAMEBRITE

RERRFARAETMER  SHEL
A ETAAREENETES
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